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us in the market. We struck a strategic alliance agreement with GHX in August that is really 
exciting for us. It’s the first time healthcare buyers and suppliers have really gotten on the same side 
of the table to work at taking healthcare costs out. The alliance gives us access to the great supplier 
relationships that GHX has and they, of course, get the great buyer relationships that we have with 
our hospitals. 

 
12. Novation, LLC realizes Because of Medical Supply’s Demand Letter That Its Relationship 
With Neoforma and Its Long Term Anticompetitive Contract Are Illegal Antitrust prohibited 
Conduct Without Redeeming Value and Announces It Will Review Neoforma’s Value Creation 
 
377.  Because of this impending legal action, Novation LLC has realized it has created no competition 

or efficiency enhancing value to the business of its two founders VHA Inc. and University HealthSystem 

Consortium. Novation subsequently notified Neoforma that it will review the value created by the 

electronic marketplace: 

“Independent Consultants Engaged to Assess Neoforma’s Offering to Novation 
 
San Jose, CA - January 26, 2005 - I n connection with Neoforma, Inc.’s (NASDAQ: NEOF) 
decision to evaluate strategic alternatives, Neoforma, a leading provider of supply chain 

management solutions for the healthcare industry, and Novation, LLC, Neoforma’s principal 
customer, each have engaged independent consultants to assess the technology, information, 
services and pricing provided by Neoforma to Novation and its owners, VHA Inc. and University 
HealthSystem Consortium (UHC), and their member hospitals under an exclusive outsourcing 
agreement. Neoforma announced on January 11, 2005 that it had retained Merrill Lynch & Co. as its 
financial advisor to assist the Company in evaluating strategic alternatives, including a possible sale 
or merger of the Company, to achieve greater stockholder value. VHA and UHC own 42.4% and 
10.5%, respectively, of Neoforma’s outstanding common stock. 
 

The current 10-year exclusive outsourcing agreement, which was originally entered into in March 
2000, was most recently amended in August 2003 as a result of negotiations between the parties to 
the contract. Under the terms of that amendment, the quarterly maximum payment from Novation to 
Neoforma was established at $15.25 million, or $61.0 million per year, beginning in 2004. Since 
that time, Neoforma has documented significant value delivered by its offering to VHA and UHC 
hospitals. In 2004, approximately 280 VHA and UHC hospitals, representing a subset of 
Neoforma’s customer base, documented approximately $100 million in value by using Neoforma’s 
solutions to drive supply chain improvements within their organizations. Based on the value of its 

offering to Novation and to VHA and UHC hospitals, Neoforma believes that it is a valuable 
contributor to Novation, VHA and UHC maintaining their competitive position in the industry and 
to their hospitals’ efforts to improve supply chain efficiency. 
 
Neoforma believes that the current quarterly maximum payment from Novation is reasonable. 
Novation has advised the Company, however, that its assessment could result in a formal request to 
reduce the quarterly maximum payment. 
 
Each of the consultants independently will assess the current technology, information, services and 

pricing that Neoforma develops and delivers under the outsourcing agreement. At this time, none of 
the parties to the outsourcing agreement have requested that the formal benchmarking process 
allowed under the terms of the agreement be undertaken; however, no assurances can be given that 
this process will not be requested by any of the parties at a later date. While the actual results of 
these assessments, which are expected to be completed within 45 days, or of any formal 
benchmarking process cannot be determined at this time, either process could have an impact on the 
structure and financial terms of the outsourcing agreement. 
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About Neoforma 
 Neoforma is a leading supply chain management solutions provider for the healthcare industry. 
Through a unique combination of technology, information and services, Neoforma provides 
innovative solutions to over 1,500 hospitals and suppliers, supporting more than $10 billion in 
annualized transaction volume. By bringing together contract information and order data, 

Neoforma’s integrated solution set delivers a comprehensive view of an organization’s supply chain, 
driving significant cost savings and better decision-making for both hospitals and suppliers. “ 

 
378. A February 18, 2005 article in the Los Angeles Times exposed Novation, LLC and its subsidiary 

Cardinal’s (the descendent of Owen Health that stole Medical Supply’s intellectual property in 1995) 

extreme opposite conduct of what could legitimize a joint venture between the former competitors VHA 

and UHC. 

379. Los Angeles Times columnist Michael Hiltzik on Thursday profiled the experience of John 

Glaspy, professor of medicine at the University of California-Los Angeles Medical Center and medical 

director of UCLA's Bowyer Oncology Center, who attempted to reduce his university's $13 million annual 

bill for chemotherapy drugs. According to Hiltzik, the issue raises questions about whether the University 

of California system received the "best value from a contract" with purchasing groups Cardinal Health and 

Novation, and it "shed[s] a glimmer of light on a deal whose key terms ... are secret."  

380. Changes to Medicare reimbursement rates for oncology medications adversely affected the 

budgets for the four community cancer clinics Glaspy runs, prompting him to seek information about the 

contract with Cardinal and Novation, which "presumably leveraged the vast buying power of the five UC 

medical centers to obtain enormous discounts," Hiltzik writes. According to Hiltzik, Glaspy made a "few 

phone calls" and discovered he could "beat the Cardinal/Novation price" on oncology medications by about 

$800,000 annually.  

381. However, UC officials "told him to back off," and his discovery set off "months of conflict 

between UC headquarters and UCLA, where campus purchasing agents were sufficiently intrigued to 

wonder whether they could do better without Cardinal/Novation," Hiltzik writes. UC officials did not allow 

UCLA officials to see the contract terms but did tell the school that removing the oncology medications 

from the contract "would threaten discounts for the whole [UC] system," according to Hiltzik. 

382. Eventually, UC allowed the clinics to purchase their own chemotherapy medications, matching 

savings found by Glaspy. Hiltzik writes that despite the resolution, the "question remains: Has the 

University of California been overpaying for all its chemo drugs for the last four years? ... And what about 
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the other pharmacy purchases at the five UC medical centers, which total about $200 million a year?" 

Michael Hiltzik “A Valuable Drug Discovery at UC” LA Times, February 18, 2005  

383. Novation is a limited-liability corporation formed in 1998 by VHA Inc. and University 

HealthSystem Consortium and was the subject of Senate antitrust hearings in 2002, 2003 and 2004. 2,200 

healthcare providers that are part of the Novation distribution system. 

384. The Senate Judiciary antitrust subcommittee encouraged the two dominant GPOs, Premier and 

Novation, the largest GPO to voluntarily implement codes of conduct to stop their antitrust prohibited 

conduct of bundling, charging large administrative fees, sole- sourcing goods and demanding a high 

percentage of purchases before rebates kick in. 

385. Several hospitals testified in the first hearings that they saved money when they withdrew from the 

purchasing groups, while medical suppliers have sued Novation over freezing them out of the market. 

386. On August 24th, 2004, The Connecticut Attorney General Richard Blumenthal stated; "Novation 

has a position of very definite market dominance and potentially has misused that power to bundle products 

and force hospitals to buy supplies that perhaps they would not have done." Mary E. O’Leary,” Yale New 

Haven Executive has Ties to Company in Probe,” New Haven Register 08/24/2004. 

387. Novation uses its dominance in the market to favor certain medical suppliers and stop competition 

by smaller manufacturers.  

388. Manufacturers and suppliers make rebates and payments to Novation as industrial bribes and 

kickbacks that influence Novation’s decision to carry their products. 

389. Novation has actively solicited and obtained rebates, bribes, kickbacks and equity in healthcare 

technology companies in exchange for distributing the products of manufacturers and suppliers. 

390. Novation has required and obtained rebates, bribes, kickbacks and equity in healthcare technology 

companies before allowing products to be purchased by its member hospitals.  

391. Novation and related companies including Neoforma, Inc. use ties and affiliations with hospital 

executives that receive payments and incentives personally for making decisions regarding their hospital’s 

participation in Novation’s system. The hospital executives are on “both sides of the sale transaction 

involving Novation and their hospital.” 
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392. Novation switched its practice of awarding anticompetitive contracts to the market leader when a 

subsidiary of Tyco was able to pay kickbacks and bribes greater than Ethicon, the current market leader in 

sutures. Tyco has been the subject of accounting fraud and securities investigations and CNN reported on 

February 8th, 2005 Tyco is being investigated in the UN Arms for food scandal where illegal kickbacks 

and bribes were utilized in the sale of Iraq’s oil during the UN embargo. 

393. On December 20, 2004, U.S. Surgical, a business unit of Tyco Healthcare, was awarded suture 

contracts by Novation. The long-term exclusive contracts run from April 1, 2005 through March 31, 2008. 

The contracts announcement stated VHA and UHC have the potential to purchase as much as $900 million 

in the eight product categories that make up Novation’s complete wound closure and endomechanical 

offering. 

394. The competing company Ethicon has approximately 90 percent of the suture market and bundles 

better discounts on sutures to its endomechanical product line. This time US Surgical (a division of Tyco) 

won both awards.  

395. Novation provided a suture conversion calculator to validate for its members that they would save 

20 – 25% using the new US Surgical contract. A hospital member of Novation used the aforementioned 

suture conversion calculator and found that their actual prices for sutures on the new contract are going to 

be 36% higher the previous contract, yet the hospital was told by Novation that they will realize the above 

stated savings (20-25% savings).  

396. Novation fraudulently deceived its member hospitals into believing the new US Surgical suture 

contract would save them 20-25 percent. Instead of delivering savings, Novation and Tyco increased the 

list or book price for the sutures. The hospitals were given a fraudulent means to calculate their “savings” 

the suture conversion calculator that showed savings in the range of 20-25%. However, when the prices for 

Ethicon products, the sutures that had been used by the hospital were run through the same calculator, the 

hospital realized the new US Surgical contract prices were actually 36% higher.  

13. Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque, VHA, Novation LLC, Bob Zollars And Neoforma 
decide to continue to rely on Piper Jaffray, US Bancorp, US Bank, Andrew Cesere And Jerry 
Grundhoffer’s corrupt scheme to influence the court 
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397. Only counsel for Neoforma, Inc., responded to Medical Supply’s demand letter and the response 

merely a plea to delay action until the attorney could reach everyone after the Christmas holidays. The 

follow up response never came. 

398. No Defendant repudiated its participation in the monopoly or made any overt declaration of 

withdraw from the conspiracy except for the announced divestitures stated above. 

14. Robert J. Baker, UHC, Curt Nonomaque, VHA, Novation LLC, Bob Zollars And 
Neoforma’s Utilization of Ongoing Sham Petitioning By Shughart, Thomson & Kilroy, Piper Jaffray, 
US Bancorp, US Bank, Andrew Cesere And Jerry Grundhoffer To Deprive Medical Supply of 
Counsel 
 
399. On November 20, 2003, The former managing partner and Shughart Thomson & Kilroy 

shareholder acting as magistrate in Kansas District Court action Bolden v. City of Topeka, et al, Case No. 

02-CV-2635, where the African American plaintiff was being represented by Medical Supply’s counsel 

repeatedly told the plaintiff that he should sue his attorney for malpractice. The magistrate also stated 

Bolden would be better off representing himself. Bolden testified he was thankful to have his counsel, three 

previous ones had abandoned him after being intimidated and retaliated against by the City. Bolden’s 

previous counsel still has not been located. Affidavits were furnished that many witnesses and process 

servers had been retaliated against, threatened with criminal prosecution if they testified in federal court 

and harassed. The magistrate also denied Bolden discovery in the action. 

400. The transcript of the hearing which was also taped reveals that the magistrate was obsessed with 

legal malpractice insurance as a result of his firm’s mishandling of Medical Supply’s action against the US 

Bancorp defendants and Unknown Healthcare Supplier, amply documented in the record, and the aborted 

disclosures of the firm’s malpractice liability insurance as the party in interest and guarantor of US 

Bancorp’s certain antitrust losses.  

401. During the Bolden v. City of Topeka, et al pretrial conference the former Shughart Thomson & 

Kilroy managing partner and shareholder acting as magistrate expressed his disturbance over “stealth 

lawsuits” where parties don’t even know they are subject to them. While wholly inapplicable to Bolden’s 

case where the City was liable for the officials regardless of whether they remained in the case, the subject 

of the deliberate pretext used to attack Medical Supply’s counsel for his representation of Bolden, the 

magistrate is clearly troubled over the failure of his firm to consider its responsibilities to the identified 

coconspirators in Medical Supply v. US Bancorp, et al. 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume XVIII  6779



 80 

402. The attack on Medical Supply’s counsel was overtly pretextual. The civil rights liability of the city 

for the conduct of its officers in their official capacity is based on law the magistrate well knew and in an 

unrelated pretrial order conference the following day accepted the voluntary stipulation of parties that all 

officials be voluntarily dismissed. The magistrate also stated that there was unlikely any difference in 

damages in a footnote to his report and recommendation. 

403. The magistrate reiterated his criticism of Medical Supply’s counsel in the Bolden v. City of 

Topeka, et al pretrial order conference report and recommendation, stating Bolden should consider 

representing himself if Medical Supply’s counsel is the only attorney he can get. On December 3, 2003, the 

magistrate’s report and recommendation was submitted as an attachment and the basis for an ethics 

complaint filed by the assistant city attorney Sherri Price against Medical Supply’s counsel for his 

representation of Bolden. The Kansas Office of the Disciplinary Administrator investigated the complaint 

by having dinner with the magistrate. The magistrate used to be work for the office prior to starting at 

Shughart Thomson & Kilroy and continued to serve on various Kansas state ethics committees while a 

managing partner for at Shughart Thomson & Kilroy. Bolden was never contacted during the investigation 

and during the prosecution appeared only as a witness for Medical Supply’s counsel. 

404. The defendants US Bancorp, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, Piper Jaffray 

Companies and Andrew S. Duff coordinated their defense of Medical Supply’s action for injunctive and 

declaratory relief with the coconspirators Jeffrey R. Immelt, GE, GHX, GE Healthcare, GE Capital and GE 

Transportation who inconceivably attached the Medical Supply complaint and order to their 12(b)6 motion 

to dismiss in Medical Supply’s separate action against Jeffrey R. Immelt, GE, GHX, GE Capital and GE 

Transportation. The former eighteen year Shughart Thomson & Kilroy shareholder acting as magistrate on 

the GE case denied Medical Supply discovery and the court did not even permit discovery when the 

dismissal attachments necessitated conversion of the GE motion to one for summary judgment. 

405. On January 29, 2004, March 4, 2004, April 2, 2004 US Bancorp’s counsel, Nicholas A.J. Vlietstra 

and Piper Jaffray’s counsel Reed coordinated their appeal (10th C.C.A. 03-3342) with the GE defense. The 

GE defendants included the action against the US Bancorp defendants and Unknown Healthcare Provider 

as a related appellate case in (10th C.C.A. 04-3075) and used the US Bancorp order as a basis for a cross 
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appeal (10th C.C.A. 04-3102) challenging the failure of the trial court to grant sanctions against Medical 

Supply. 

406. The coconspirators UHC, Robert J. Baker, VHA, Inc., Curt Nonomaque, Novation LLC, 

Neoforma, Inc. and Robert J. Zollars did however renew their conscious commitment to a common scheme 

designed to achieve an unlawful objective of keeping Medical Supply out of the market for hospital 

supplies by reviewing the case against US Bancorp and consulting with representatives for US Bancorp, 

US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff. The cartel 

decided to rely on the continuing efforts to illegally influence the Kansas District Court and Tenth Circuit 

Court of Appeals to uphold the trial court’s erroneous ruling. The cartel also renewed their efforts to have 

Medical Supply’s sole counsel disbarred, knowing that an extensive search for counsel by Medical Supply 

had resulted in 100% of the contacted firms being conflicted out of opposing US Bancorp and actually 

effected a frenzy of disbarment attempts against Medical Supply’s counsel in the period from December 

14, 2004 to February 3rd, 2005, all originating from the cartel’s agents Shughart Thomson and Kilroy’s 

past and current share holders. 

407. The Shughart Thomson & Kilroy counsel, Andrew DeMarea failed to file a reply brief in the 

interlocutory appeal for the US Bancorp appellees. The Tenth Circuit court clerk called him two days later 

to remind him and urged him to file for an extension one day beyond the date the brief was due and seven 

days beyond the deadline for a motion for extension of time under 10th Cir. R. 27.4(F).  

408. Andrew DeMarea also refused to turn in a parties case management conference report on the form 

required by local rule in the Kansas District Court. He repeatedly assured the magistrate during the first 

case management conference that the Medical Supply case would be dismissed. 

409. Mark Olthoff, an attorney for Shughart Thomson & Kilroy in their Kansas City, MO office 

appeared to write all pleadings and briefs for the defendants until the second appeal where he appears to 

have been replaced by Susan C. Hascall of the Kansas City, MO office who was a Tenth Circuit Court of 

Appeals law clerk through 2000. 

410. Mark Olthoff’s trial pleadings repeatedly misstated and misrepresented Medical Supply’s 

Amended Complaint and pleadings to the court, even after it had been repeatedly drawn to the court’s 

attention that Mr. Olthoff was exploiting the court’s reliance on the experience of Shughart Thomson & 
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Kilroy and was neglecting to read or consider Medical Supply’s pleadings. In its order, the court even 

admonished Medical Supply’s for failing to research law and facts that the record evidences had been 

researched. The negligence was entirely that of Mr. Olthoff and the court’s or a result of the court’s 

misplaced reliance on Mr. Olthoff. 

411. The Medical Supply action against US Bancorp was dismissed but not on arguments or authorities 

presented by Shughart Thomson & Kilroy’s dismissal memorandum. The first findings of law and fact 

made by the court in the case were sua sponte and both were clearly erroneous. 

412. The court did not respond to Medical Supply’s arguments for reconsideration or correct its factual 

errors. It is believed that the Shughart Thomson & Kilroy former managing partner obtained the magistrate 

assignment to Medical Supply’s case against General Electric because of his relationship to Shughart 

Thomson & Kilroy and it provided an opportunity to address the same fact pattern as the earlier case 

because GE breached its contract with Medical Supply once the electronic marketplace GHX created by 

GE and its hospital supplier competitors discovered Medical Supply was attempting again to enter the 

market for hospital supplies.  

413. On January 14th, 2005, Andrew DeMarea was directed to file an ethics complaint against Medical 

Supply. Like the “complaint” filed by Sherri Price, no allegations of misconduct appear in DeMarea’s 

complaint, it merely incorporates by reference attached Medical Supply filings in the District Court and the 

Tenth Circuit and the appellate panel’s sanction of Medical Supply’s counsel for a “frivolous appeal.” The 

“complaint” also contained Medical Supply’s motion for en banc review of the sanctions. The sanction 

order itself admitted the trial court and the hearing panels were mistaken in stating there was no private 

right of action contained in the USA PATRIOT Act. 

414. The former Shughart Thomson & Kilroy managing partner used his position as magistrate 

assigned to the Medical Supply action against General Electric to deny Medical Supply discovery. A 

decision he also made in the Bolden case. On January 20, 2005 the magistrate testified under oath in the 

disciplinary prosecution of Medical Supply’s counsel that he had only denied discovery in a few cases. He 

stated he was unaware of any other case he was assigned where the respondent was an attorney. He visibly 

winced when he was then questioned if he was a magistrate in Medical Supply v. General Electric et al. 

where the respondent was the sole counsel for the plaintiff.  
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415. On January 19th, 2005, the state disciplinary tribunal heard arguments that the magistrate was the 

complaining witness in fact for the complaint made by the assistant city attorney against Medical Supply’s 

counsel. Sherri Price made no independent allegations or observations of misconduct against the 

respondent and merely incorporated by reference Magistrate O’Hara’s report and recommendation from 

Bolden’s pretrial conference. The disciplinary tribunal ordered the magistrate to drive to Topeka and testify 

under oath.  

416. The former Shughart Thomson & Kilroy managing partner acting as magistrate added to his 

attacks against Medical Supply’s counsel with further statements impugning the respondent’s competence. . 

The magistrate testified that Bolden’s counsel was the worst attorney he had seen in 20 years. The 

magistrate alleged that Medical Supply’s counsel did not have the skill or knowledge of the law a first year 

law student would possess. 

417. The former Shughart Thomson & Kilroy managing partner acting as magistrate made a point of 

addressing facts that weakened the Kansas Disciplinary Administrator’s case from the previous two days 

and made these assertions unsolicited from the questioning of the Disciplinary Administrator and 

demonstrated a pre appearance coaching or consultation with the Disciplinary Administrator, especially on 

the point about Medical Supply’s competence being less than that of a first year law student. The 

magistrate could not have known that Medical Supply’s counsel had testified the previous day that many 

states permit law students to represent clients in civil rights actions because of the shortage of counsel 

willing to undertake this difficult and unlucrative work.  

418. The former Shughart Thomson & Milroy managing partner acting as magistrate impugned the 

professional ability of Medical Supply’s counsel in an order where he was neither a party or attorney, The 

magistrate stated unequivocally that Medical Supply’s counsel was incompetent. During testimony under 

oath on January 20th, 2005, the magistrate stated he could not recall ever stating in an order where the 

respondent was not an attorney that the respondent was incompetent. 

15. The Impending Threat Of Monopolization of the Market For Hospital Supplies In E-
Commerce  

 
419. Industry insiders and investment message boards are communicating that it is likely Neoforma, 

Inc, with its 1,500 hospitals $4.1 billion in gross transaction volume and $6.8 billion in supply chain data 

will be acquired by GHX, LLC this year.  
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420. The purpose of the merger is to restrain trade in the e-commerce market for hospital supplies and 

increase the market power of both companies, which is 80% to the entire control of the single company 

GHX. A second purpose of the merger is to conceal the loss of funds belonging to Novation’s member 

hospitals in the Neoforma venture. 

421. Neoforma, Inc. and GHX, LLC have already integrated their electronic marketplaces, sharing data 

to control prices by preserving the Novation and Premier imposed fees and contracts on manufacturers for 

internet sales of hospital supplies and pooling electronic marketplace infrastructures to eliminate 

competition between the two marketplaces and have done so since 2001. 

422. GHX connects over 2,200 hospitals to more than 140 suppliers, creating the largest trading 

exchange in healthcare. The company proclaims; “GHX is the leader in the healthcare trading exchange 

segment. “On average, GHX processed more than 12,000 purchase orders and $23 million in volume daily 

at the end of 2004. 

SUMMARY OF CLAIMS 

423. Medical Supply Chain, Inc., in its antitrust litigation opposing trade restraint in the electronic 

market for hospital supplies. Medical Supply has experienced substantial antitrust injury from the actions of 

Novation, a joint venture created by UHC and VHA, Inc. in support of the electronic marketplace entity 

Neoforma, Inc. which is believed to be an instrumentality of UHC and VHA, Inc. which were both in an 

alliance to eliminate competition among member competitors in a scheme to inflate prices similar to the 

alliance of Shell and Texaco to create two joint ventures, Equilon Enterprises LLC and Motiva Enterprises 

condemned for per se Sherman I prohibited conduct in Dagher v Saudi Refining Inc, 369 F.3d 1108, 1114 

(9th Cir. 2004). 

424. Medical Supply Chain, Inc. has been excluded from the hospital supply market with agreements 

between UHA and VHA’s Novation in combination with their electronic marketplace Neoforma, Inc. US 

Bancorp NA, and The Piper Jaffray Companies exchanged directors with Novation and participated in 

exclusive agreements with Novation and Neoforma to keep hospitals using technology products from 

companies US Bancorp NA and Piper Jaffray had an interest in. The purpose of these agreements was to 

injure the hospital supply consumers with artificially inflated prices. 
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425. Because of these illegal anticompetitive agreements with Novation and Neoforma, Inc., Piper 

Jaffray and then US Bancorp refused to deal with Medical Supply Chain, Inc. US Bancorp broke a contract 

with Medical Supply Chain, Inc. to provide escrow accounts needed to capitalize Medical Supply’s entry 

into the hospital supply marketplace, using the pretext of the USA PATRIOT Act. US Bancorp and Piper 

Jaffray simultaneously stole Medical Supply’s intellectual property, which has since been openly used by 

Novation and Neoforma. US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray have continued to extort property from Medical 

Supply Chain on behalf of the hospital supply cartel by obstructing entry to the market for hospital supplies 

through the threat of malicious USA PATRIOT Act reports.  

426. Medical Supply attempted to obtain preliminary injunctive relief against US Bancorp, The Piper 

Jaffray Companies and an Unknown Healthcare Supplier to prevent them from using the USA PATRIOT 

Act as a sham petition designed to prevent Medical Supply from entering the market and to stop the theft of 

its intellectual property. To date, Medical Supply has not been successful.  

427. In June of 2004, Novation/ Neoforma, Inc. again stopped Medical Supply from entering the 

market for hospital supplies using exclusive dealing agreements with General Electric and GE’s electronic 

marketplace cartel GHX, LLC. These agreements caused GE to break a written contract to purchase a 

commercial real estate lease from Medical Supply. The contract included Medical Supply’s requirement to 

use the proceeds to capitalize Medical Supply’s entry to market since it was under the extortion of US 

Bancorp threatened and malicious USA PATRIOT Act reporting. Medical Supply is currently attempting to 

resolve its contract with GE and obtain injunctive relief and treble damages under Sherman I and II. 

428. On December 14, 2004 Medical Supply served notice on UHC, Robert J. Baker, VHA, Inc., Curt 

Nonomaque, Novation LLC, Neoforma, Inc. and Robert J. Zollars that Medical Supply had not succeeded 

in obtaining prospective injunctive relief against the US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray defendants to prevent 

antitrust injuries from being obstructed from entering the market for hospital supplies or the theft of 

Medical Supply’s intellectual property. The notice informed the UHC, Robert J. Baker, VHA, Inc., Curt 

Nonomaque, Novation LLC, Neoforma, Inc. and Robert J. Zollars that if they did not provide a 

substantiated response denying their responsibility for the hospital supply cartel’s actions against Medical 

Supply, they would be held jointly and severally liable: 

“If you dispute that any of these actions were taken against Medical Supply, or that your company is 
liable as an antitrust coconspirator, please promptly provide a substantiated basis for Medical 
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Supply’s reliance on the same to me at the address provided below. Since your company has not 
refuted the publicized events and relationships described herein, a constructive use of the time 
remaining between now and our anticipated filing of February 1, 2005 might be to reach an 
agreement on the platform and electronic format the millions of recorded transactions, hospital 
supply contracts, kickbacks and equity shares that will be exchanged through discovery as we 

collectively document the injuries to America’s hospitals and our company from your concerted 
refusals to deal and group boycotts.” 

 
429. Only counsel for Neoforma responded and the purpose of the communication was to have Medical 

Supply await their answer till after the holidays, an answer that never came. 

430. The coconspirators UHC, Robert J. Baker, VHA, Inc., Curt Nonomaque, Novation LLC, 

Neoforma, Inc. and Robert J. Zollars did however renew their conscious commitment to a common scheme 

designed to achieve an unlawful objective of keeping Medical Supply out of the market for hospital 

supplies by reviewing the case against US Bancorp and consulting with representatives for US Bancorp, 

US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff. The cartel 

decided to rely on the continuing efforts to illegally influence the Kansas District Court and Tenth Circuit 

Court of Appeals to uphold the trial court’s erroneous ruling. The cartel also renewed their efforts to have 

Medical Supply’s sole counsel disbarred, knowing that an extensive search for counsel by Medical Supply 

had resulted in 100% of the contacted firms being conflicted out of opposing US Bancorp and actually 

effected a frenzy of disbarment attempts against Medical Supply’s counsel in the period from December 

14, 2004 to February 3rd, 2005, all originating from the cartel’s agents Shughart Thomson and Kilroy’s past 

and current share holders. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 
 

431. Medical Supply seeks the following relief based on continuing anticompetitive conduct by the 

defendants in an ongoing unlawful enterprise to overcharge Medicare, Medicaid, Champus and private 

insurance companies with artificially inflated claims and to control the capitalization of healthcare 

technology companies and supply chain management companies to prevent web based competition from 

lowering the prices for hospital supplies. 

432. The defendants Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital 

Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, 

US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff 

targeted Medical Supply Chain as a potential competitor that would bypass their monopolized distribution 
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system for hospital supplies and cause price competition and destroy the anticompetitive advantage held by 

healthcare technology and supply chain management companies controlled by the defendants in obtaining 

capitalization. 

433. The defendant Novation LLC is the largest Hospital Group Purchasing Organization selling over 

30 billion dollars in hospital supplies a year and controlling the purchasing in 2000 hospitals nationwide. 

434. The defendants possess market power having the power to exclude competitors from 2000 of the 

nation’s hospitals, which Novation controls under long term purchasing contracts. The defendants possess 

market power in the ability to charge manufacturers and suppliers fees to have their products sold to 

Novation’s members and additional fees to manufacturers and suppliers for allowing their products to be 

sold though the web where member hospitals are required to purchase products through Neoforma, Inc. The 

defendants possess market power in having exclusive access to Piper Jaffray’s investor research coverage 

and annual healthcare conferences, elements essential to effectively obtain capitalization through an initial 

public offering. The defendants possess market power in having exclusive access to the commercial 

banking facilities of US Bancorp NA. 

 
COUNT I 

DAMAGES FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY 
IN RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 

(15 U.S.C. §§ 1,15) 
 

435. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 434. 
 
436. 15 U.S.C. § 1 provides that “Every … combination in the form of trust or otherwise, or 
 
 conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce among the several States… is hereby declared to be illegal.” 

 
437. Beginning at least as early as 1998, and continuing until the present date, Defendants entered into 

a combinations and or conspiracies in unreasonable restraint of trade or commerce among the several States 

of the United States, in the markets for hospital supplies, hospital supplies sold in e-commerce and the 

capitalization of healthcare technology and supply chain management companies. 

438. These combinations and or conspiracies took the form of Group Boycott, Allocation of Customers, 

Horizontal Price Restraint, Vertical Price Restraint and Tying Agreements, and their respective annual 

shows. Said Group Boycott, Allocation of Customers, Horizontal Price Restraint, Vertical Price Restraint 

and Tying Agreements were instigated and conducted by Defendants Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., 
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Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium 

and Robert J. Baker who had and have market power over, i.e. a controlling percentage of market share of, 

the sale of hospital supplies, and the sale of hospital supplies sold in e-commerce; and by Defendants US 

Bancorp, NA, US Bank , Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew 

S. Duff who had and have market power over, i.e. a controlling percentage of market share of, the 

capitalization of healthcare technology and supply management companies including healthcare venture 

funds, private placement and public offering underwriting, commercial banking, trust facilities and market 

research analyst coverage necessary for Medical Supply to obtain external capital and necessary for 

Medical Supply to self capitalize its entry into the hospital supply market and the market for hospital 

supplies in e-commerce. Said Group Boycott, Allocation of Customers, Horizontal Price Restraint, Vertical 

Price Restraint and Tying Agreements had the purpose and effect of severely impairing the ability of 

Medical Supply to sell hospital supplies to hospitals conventionally or through e-commerce and to obtain 

capital it had self raised to enter the market for hospital supplies in the several States of the United States; 

and was further intended to eliminate or greatly reduce the availability of hospital supplies through e-

commerce regardless of hospital demand in the several States of United States, and impose a burdensome 

fees on manufacturers and suppliers for selling hospital supplies through web based electronic marketplaces 

to hospitals and health systems in the several States of the United States. 

439. The defendants Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital 

Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker are and were 

direct competitors of Medical Supply in the sale of hospital supplies and the sale of hospital supplies in e-

commerce. 

440. The defendants Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital 

Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker have and have 

had significant interests in the market for capitalization of healthcare technology and supply chain 

management companies. 

441. The defendants US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper 

Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff competed and compete directly with Medical Supply in the market 

for capitalization of healthcare technology and supply chain management companies because Medical 
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Supply was forced by the defendants conspiracies and combinations to self capitalize its entry into market 

with unique trust accounts from it had solicited from its sales representative candidates.  

442. The defendants US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper 

Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff have and have had significant interests in the market for hospital 

supplies and hospital supplies sold in e-commerce where US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. 

Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff have concentrated 70% of 

their investment and have marketed IPO shares based on exclusive dealing contracts obtained for their 

client companies with Novation, LLC. , Neoforma, Inc., Volunteer Hospital Association and University 

Healthsystem Consortium. 

443. The defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy as a latecomer in October 2002 to the conspiracies 

and combinations had a significant interest in the markets for hospital supplies and hospital supplies sold in 

e-commerce and the capitalization of healthcare technology companies and supply chain management 

companies where they were agents for US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, 

The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff. Shughart Thomson & Kilroy was coerced or voluntarily 

took unlawful actions to protect and assist the defendants in monopolization and monopoly of the markets 

for hospital supplies and hospital supplies sold in e-commerce and the capitalization of healthcare 

technology companies and supply chain management companies. 

444. The Defendants committed the following per se violations of section 1 of the Sherman Antitrust 

Act: 

Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars,  
Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium,  

Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere,  
The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff’s Group Boycott Under Sherman 1  

 
445. (1) Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt 

Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. 

Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff had agreements to restrain 

trade in the market for hospital supplies, and agreements to restrain trade in the market for healthcare 

technology company capitalization. 

446. a. The defendants Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital 

Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, 
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US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff created 

and enforced agreements to restrain trade in the market for hospital supplies, and agreements to restrain 

trade in the market for healthcare technology company capitalization with a unity of purpose and a 

common design and understanding, having a meeting of minds in unlawful plans to limit competition and 

thereby increase the defendants profitability from overcharging Medicare, Medicaid, Champus and private 

insurance companies for healthcare costs based on artificially inflated hospital supply costs. The defendants 

created and enforced unlawful plans to prevent healthcare technology and supply chain management 

companies from being capitalized and from marketing products and services to healthcare companies 

without the defendants’ participation, approval and profit. 

447. b. The defendants The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff refused to offer Medical 

Supply investment banking services or to respond to Medical Supply’s correspondence pursuant to 

agreements with Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt 

Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker to restrain trade in the market for 

hospital supplies, and agreements to restrain trade in the market for healthcare technology company 

capitalization. 

448. c. The defendants US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer and Andrew Cesere, broke 

their contract to provide quarterly escrow account deposits of $350,000.00 Medical Supply had relied upon 

to capitalize its entry into the market for hospital supplies pursuant to agreements with Novation, LLC, 

Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University 

Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker to restrain trade in the market for hospital supplies, and 

agreements to restrain trade in the market for healthcare technology company capitalization. 

449. (2) Medical Supply was injured as a direct and proximate result of Novation, LLC, Neoforma,Inc, 

Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, 

Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray 

Companies and Andrew S. Duff’s agreements to restrain trade in the market for hospital supplies, and 

agreements to restrain trade in the market for healthcare technology company capitalization. 

450. (3) Medical Supply’s damages from Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer 

Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert J. Baker, US 
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Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew 

S. Duff’s agreements to restrain trade in the market for hospital supplies, and agreements to restrain trade in 

the market for healthcare technology company capitalization are capable of ascertainment and not 

speculative. 

Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars,  
Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium,  

Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere,  
The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff’s Allocation of Customers Under Sherman 1  

 

451. (1) Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt 

Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. 

Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff had agreements to allocate 

customers in the market for hospital supplies, and agreements to allocate customers in the market for 

healthcare technology company capitalization. 

452. a. The defendants Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital 

Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, 

US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff created 

and enforced agreements to allocate customers in the market for hospital supplies, and agreements to 

allocate customers in the market for healthcare technology company capitalization with a unity of purpose 

and a common design and understanding, having a meeting of minds in unlawful plans to limit competition 

by allocating customers and thereby increase the defendants profitability from overcharging Medicare, 

Medicaid, Champus and private insurance companies for healthcare costs based on artificially inflated 

hospital supply costs. The defendants created and enforced unlawful plans to allocate customers in long 

term anticompetitive contracts between healthcare technology and supply chain management companies 

and group purchasing organizations to guarantee companies marketing products and services to healthcare 

companies with the defendants’ participation, approval and profit were being capitalized and that 

competitors were being excluded from capitalization.  

453. b. The defendants The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff refused to offer Medical 

Supply investment banking services or to respond to Medical Supply’s correspondence pursuant to 

agreements with Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt 

Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker to allocate customers among the 
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group purchasing organizations to healthcare technology company and supply chain management 

companies in which the defendants’ cartel had a participatory interest. 

454. c. The defendants US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer and Andrew Cesere, broke 

their contract to provide quarterly escrow account deposits of $350,000.00 Medical Supply had relied upon 

to capitalize its entry into the market for hospital supplies pursuant to agreements with Novation, LLC, 

Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University 

Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker to pursuant to agreements with Novation, LLC, Neoforma, 

Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem 

Consortium and Robert J. Baker to allocate customers among the group purchasing organizations to 

healthcare technology company and supply chain management companies in which the defendants’ cartel 

had a participatory interest. 

Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars,  
Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium,  

Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere,  
The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff’s Horizontal Price Restraint Under Sherman 1  

 
455. The competing hospital cooperative purchasing organizations Volunteer Hospital Association and 

University Healthsystem Consortium formed the joint venture Novation, LLC for the illegal purpose of 

eliminating competition between the two cooperatives, leveraging their market power established with long 

term anticompetitive and exclusive dealing contracts to restrain trade in a larger percentage of the US 

hospital market. The Defendants used the combinations and conspiracies to set prices for every member 

hospital in Novation and Neoforma’s markets. 

Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars,  
Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium,  

Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere,  
The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff’s Vertical Price Restraint Under Sherman 1  

 
456. The competing hospital cooperative purchasing organizations Volunteer Hospital Association and 

University Healthsystem Consortium formed the joint venture Novation, LLC for the illegal purpose of 

eliminating competition between the two cooperatives, leveraging their market power established with long 

term anticompetitive contracts to restrain trade in a larger percentage of the US hospital market. The new 

company managed all of the distribution for both competitors, set prices, artificially inflating the costs of 

all products sold to both hospital member groups and pooled the profits from the sale of hospital supplies.  
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457. The competing hospital cooperative purchasing organizations Volunteer Hospital Association and 

University Healthsystem Consortium eliminated competition by marketing products under the Novation, 

LLC private brand. 

458. The competing hospital cooperative purchasing organizations Volunteer Hospital Association and 

University Healthsystem Consortium also retained rebates belonging to both groups of member hospitals 

and pooled them in a web based electronic marketplace company- Neoforma, Inc. which the defendants 

Novation, LLC, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, 

Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray 

Companies and Andrew S. Duff gained control of, suppressed and used to forestall competition from an 

independent web based electronic marketplace for hospital supplies utilizing Medical Supply’s business 

model.  

Maintaining Minimum Prices 

459. (1) Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt 

Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. 

Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff had agreements to 

maintain minimum prices in the market for hospital supplies, and agreements to maintain minimum prices 

in the market for healthcare technology company and supply chain management company capitalization. 

460. a. The defendants Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital 

Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, 

US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff created 

and enforced agreements to maintain minimum prices in the market for hospital supplies, and agreements 

to allocate maintain minimum prices in the market for healthcare technology company capitalization with a 

unity of purpose and a common design and understanding, having a meeting of minds in unlawful plans to 

limit competition by maintain minimum prices and thereby increase the defendants profitability from 

overcharging Medicare, Medicaid, Champus and private insurance companies for healthcare costs based on 

artificially inflated hospital supply costs. The defendants created and enforced unlawful plans to maintain 

minimum prices in long term anticompetitive contracts between healthcare technology and supply chain 

management companies and group purchasing organizations to guarantee companies marketing products 
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and services to healthcare companies with the defendants’ participation, approval and profit were being 

capitalized and that competitors who would not maintain minimum prices were being excluded from 

capitalization. 

461. b. The defendants The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff refused to offer Medical 

Supply investment banking services or to respond to Medical Supply’s correspondence pursuant to 

agreements with Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt 

Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker to maintain minimum prices among 

the group purchasing organizations to healthcare technology company and supply chain management 

companies in which the defendants’ cartel had a participatory interest and exclude companies that would 

not maintain minimum prices. 

462. c. The defendants US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer and Andrew Cesere, broke 

their contract to provide quarterly escrow account deposits of $350,000.00 Medical Supply had relied upon 

to capitalize its entry into the market for hospital supplies pursuant to agreements with Novation, LLC, 

Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University 

Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker to pursuant to agreements with Novation, LLC, Neoforma, 

Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem 

Consortium and Robert J. Baker to allocate customers among the group purchasing organizations to 

healthcare technology company and supply chain management companies in which the defendants’ cartel 

had a participatory interest and exclude companies that would not maintain minimum prices. 

463. d. The defendants’ anticompetitive conduct to maintain prices included using the US Bancorp, 

NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff 

underwritten company Omnicell’s software and later Neoforma, Inc.’s to monitor pricing and fulfillment of 

products sold throughout the distribution channels of Novation, LLC, Volunteer Hospital Association and 

University Healthsystem Consortium to enforce the defendant’s scheme to artificially inflate prices of 

hospital supplies. 

464. e. Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt 

Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker utilized an electronic reporting 
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arrangement facilitated by Neoforma, Inc. to foster parallel pricing with the competitor GPO Premier and 

throughout the competing electronic marketplace GHX, LLC to fix prices of hospital supplies. 

465. f. (1) Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt 

Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker has contracted, combined, and 

conspired (2) with a separate economic entity supplier and manufacturers (3) to set the price at which the 

products are resold (4) in an independent commercial transaction with a subsequent hospital purchasers. 

Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars,  
Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium,  

Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere,  
The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff’s Tying Agreements Under Sherman 1  

 
466. The competing hospital cooperative purchasing organizations Volunteer Hospital Association and 

University Healthsystem Consortium formed the joint venture Novation, LLC for the illegal purpose of 

eliminating competition between the two cooperatives, leveraging their market power established with long 

term anticompetitive and exclusive dealing contracts to restrain trade in a larger percentage of the US 

hospital market. The Defendants used the combinations and conspiracies to tie products and lines of 

products so that hospitals were unable to chose between vendors. 

467. The Defendants tied membership in their electronic marketplace, Neoforma, Inc. with their 

competitor Premier’s electronic marketplace GHX, LLC so that every hospital that enrolled in GHX, LLC 

was required to also enroll in Neoforma so that the Defendants could exclude electronic marketplaces 

outside of the combination and conspiracy. 

15 U.S.C. § 15 provides that 

“… any person who shall be injured in his business or property by reason of anything 
forbidden in the antitrust laws may sue therefore… without respect to the amount in 
controversy, and shall recover threefold the damages by him sustained, and the cost of suit, 
including a reasonable attorney’s fee.” 
 

468. As a direct result of Defendants’ unlawful activity, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to 

suffer substantial injuries and damages to their businesses and property. 

469. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of approximately 

$500,000,000.00, multiplied by three for total damages of approximately $1,500,000,000.00, for the denial 

of the escrow accounts and approximately $500,000,000.00, multiplied by three for total damages of 

approximately $1,500,000,000.00, for the denial of the second capitalization attempt through the sale of the 
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lease to GE Transportation. The plaintiff is entitled to recover total Sherman 1 damages of 

$3,000,000,000.00 and the cost of suit including a reasonable attorney’s fee. 

COUNT II 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY 

IN RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 
(15 U.S.C. §§ 1,26) 

 
470. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 469. 

471. 15 U.S.C. § 26 provides that “Any person, firm, corporation, or association shall be entitled to sue 

for and have injunctive relief… against threatened loss or damage by a violation of the antitrust laws… 

[and] the cost of suit, including a reasonable attorney’s fee.” 

472. Unless enjoined from doing so, Defendants will continue to violate 15 U.S.C. § 1. 

473. Plaintiff is also entitled to recover their cost of suit, including a reasonable attorney’s fee. 

COUNT III 
DAMAGES FOR MONOPOLIZATION 

(15 U.S.C. §§ 2,15) 
 

474. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 473. 

475. 15 U.S.C. § 2 provides that “Every person who shall monopolize, or attempt to monopolize, or 

combine or conspire with any other person or persons, to monopolize any part of the trade of commerce 

among the several States… shall be deemed guilty” of an offense against the antitrust laws of the United 

State. 

476. Defendants collectively have at all times material to this complaint maintained, attempted to 

achieve and maintain, or combined or conspired to achieve and maintain, a monopoly over the sale of 

hospital supplies, the sale of hospital supplies in e-commerce, and over the capitalization of healthcare 

technology companies and supply chain management companies in the several Stated of the United States; 

and have used, attempted to use, or combined and conspired to use, their monopoly power to affect 

competition in the sale of hospital supplies, the sale of hospital supplies in e-commerce, and over the 

capitalization of healthcare technology companies and supply chain management companies sale of the 

same in the several States of the United States in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 2. 

477. As a direct result of Defendants’ unlawful activities, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue suffer 

substantial injuries and damages to their businesses and property. 
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478. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of approximately 

$500,000,000.00, multiplied by three for total damages of approximately $1,500,000,000.00, and the cost 

of suit including a reasonable attorney’s fee. 

Threat of USA PATRIOT Act Suspicious Activity Reporting 

479. The Defendants repeatedly used the USA Patriot Act to deny services of US Bank and US 

Bancorp to Medical Supply, causing the loss of Medical Supply property. The Defendants, despite their 

regulated status as financial institutions and corporate officers of financial institutions responsible for 

providing a professional service; denied Medical Supply, a known domestic corporation in good standing 

with its Secretary of State and State Department of Revenue an escrow account service on the basis of 

increased reporting requirements for new accounts under the USA PATRIOT Act even though The US 

Treasury Department had previously announced it was delaying the date account opening requirements 

become issued and effective and Us Bancorp was under no reporting requirements for Medical Supply’s 

escrow accounts. 

480. The Defendants continue to endanger the plaintiff Medical Supply and its associates with 

wrongful denial of services and facilities of US Bancorp where Medical Supply has its accounts or at other 

national and state banks where Medical Supply may be denied services based on erroneous or bad faith 

reporting by the Defendants.  

481. The Defendants continue to endanger the plaintiff Medical Supply its associates and customers 

with wrongful denial of services and facilities of national and state banks where Medical Supply may be 

denied services based on the Defendants unprofessional and bad faith denial of escrow accounts based on 

the USA PATRIOT Act. The Defendants action prevents Medical Supply from escaping the denial of 

escrow accounts history and banking references in all new financial arrangements.  

482. On October 22, 2002 Medical Supply approached an attorney of Shook, Hardy and Bacon for the 

purpose of acting as escrow agent in substitute accounts to be set up at a national bank. After asking why 

Medical Supply’s existing bank did not provide the accounts, the attorney declined to act as escrow agent 

out of a justified fear his firm would also receive a malicious suspicious activity report. 

Violation of §802 of The USA PATRIOT Act 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume XVIII  6797



 98 

483. The Defendants continue to endanger the plaintiff Medical Supply, its associates and customers 

with illegal conduct that prevents them from or threatens to prevent them providing a market solution to 

this governmental healthcare policy issue. 

484. The US Senate Judiciary Committee’s Antitrust Subcommittee has held three consecutive hearings 

on the anticompetitive practices in the national market for hospital supplies. The illegal actions of the 

defendants have prevented Medical Supply from having the resources to appear and testify. 

485. The Defendants through their illegal obstruction of Medical Supply’s entry into the markets for 

hospital supplies and hospital supplies in e-commerce have attempted to influence the national policy 

debate on group purchasing organization regulation by denying legislators statistics and data from a 

functioning independent electronic marketplace. 

The Filing of a Malicious USA PATRIOT Act Suspicious Activity Report (SAR) 

486. On information and belief, Medical Supply has discovered that the Defendants have filed 

malicious suspicious activity reports against Medical Supply and its founder Samuel Lipari. 

487. The Defendants have deliberately and intentionally filed a baseless USA PATRIOT Act 

suspicious activity report as part of a conspiracy and or combination to keep Medical Supply out of the 

market place for hospital supplies and hospital supplies sold in e-commerce and to keep Medical Supply 

from being able to self fund its entry into market by destroying Medical Supply’s ability to capitalize 

healthcare technology and supply chain management companies. 

Harassing Medical Supply and its Agents Outside of This Action 
 
488. The Defendants through Neoforma and Robert Zollars, acting for the other defendants and in a 

conspiracy and combination with the unnamed coconspirators GE, GE Healthcare, GE Capital and GHX 

caused Medical Supply and its counsel to be threatened with sanctions for filing an action to prevent GE 

from restraining trade in the market for hospital supplies and hospital supplies in e-commerce. 

489. Neither GE or its counsel furnished a reason why Medical Supply would be sanctioned for filing 

the suit and intended to intimidate or harass Medical Supply by implying that GE and Neoforma have 

illegal influence and control over the legal system. 

490. The Defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy has acted outside of litigation in defense of the 

Defendants and repeatedly sough to deprive Medical Supply of counsel under color of state law by causing 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume XVIII  6798



 99 

Medical Supply’s counsel to have multiple ethics complaints filed and prosecuted for the sole purpose of 

preventing Medical Supply from having effective representation.  

491. The Defendants knew Shughart Thomson & Kilroy was succeeding in extra legal influencing of 

Medical Supply’s case against the US Bancorp defendants and the action against GE and its subsidiaries 

and overtly ratified said conduct for the purpose of monopolizing the markets in the sale of hospital 

supplies and hospital supplies in e-commerce and the market in capitalizing healthcare technology and 

supply chain management companies. 

Unilateral Refusal To Deal 
 
492. The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff unilaterally as a single firm refused to provide 

investment banking services to Medical Supply to monopolize the market in capitalizing healthcare 

technology and supply chain management companies because Medical Supply was not seeking 

underwriting and to control the downstream markets in the sale of hospital supplies and hospital supplies in 

e-commerce where The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff have substantial interests. 

493. US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere as a single firm unilaterally 

refused to provide trust escrow accounts and other banking services to Medical Supply to monopolize the 

market in capitalizing healthcare technology and supply chain management companies because Medical 

Supply was not seeking underwriting from US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray and to control the downstream 

markets in the sale of hospital supplies and hospital supplies in e-commerce where The Piper Jaffray 

Companies and Andrew S. Duff have substantial interests. 

494. As a direct result of Defendants’ unlawful activities, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue suffer 

substantial injuries and damages to their businesses and property. 

495. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of approximately 

$500,000,000.00, multiplied by three for total damages of approximately $1,500,000,000.00, and the cost 

of suit including a reasonable attorney’s fee. 

 
COUNT IV 

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR MONOPOLIZATION 
(15 U.S.C. §§ 2,26) 

 
496. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 495. 

497. Unless enjoined from doing so, Defendants will continue to violate 15 U.S.C. §2. 
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498. Plaintiff is also entitled to recover their cost of suit, including a reasonable attorney’s fee. 

COUNT V 
DAMAGES FOR INTERLOCKING DIRECTORS 

(15 U.S.C. § 19) 
 
499. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 498. 

500. The Defendants use of interlocking directors in joint ventures and LLC’s formed by competing 

suppliers, manufacturers and distributors and use of interlocking directors on the boards of healthcare 

technology and supply chain management companies violate Section 8 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 19.  

501. The fourth paragraph of Section 8 provides: 

 "No person at the same time shall be a director in any two or more corporations, any one of which 
has capital, surplus, and undivided profits aggregating more than $1,000,000, engaged in whole or 
in part in commerce, other than banks, banking associations, trust companies, and common carriers 
subject to the Act to regulate commerce, approved February fourth, eighteen hundred and eighty-
seven, if such corporations are or shall have been theretofore, by virtue of their business and 
location of operation, competitors, so that the elimination of competition by agreement between 

them would constitute a violation of any of the provisions of any of the antitrust laws." 
 
502. Defendants through the use of interlocking directors collectively have at all times material to this 

complaint maintained, attempted to achieve and maintain, or combined or conspired to achieve and 

maintain, a monopoly over the sale of hospital supplies, the sale of hospital supplies in e-commerce, and 

over the capitalization of healthcare technology companies and supply chain management companies in the 

several Stated of the United States; and have used, attempted to use, or combined and conspired to use, 

their monopoly power and interlocking directors to affect competition in the sale of hospital supplies, the 

sale of hospital supplies in e-commerce, and over the capitalization of healthcare technology companies 

and supply chain management companies sale of the same in the several States of the United States in 

violation of 15 U.S.C. § 19. 

503. As a direct result of Defendants’ unlawful activities, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue suffer 

substantial injuries and damages to their businesses and property. 

504. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of approximately 

$500,000,000.00, multiplied by three for total damages of approximately $1,500,000,000.00, and the cost 

of suit including a reasonable attorney’s fees. 

COUNT VI 
DAMAGES FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY 

IN RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 
(26 MO. § 416.031(1), § 416.121(1),(1)) 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume XVIII  6800



 101 

 
505. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 504. 

506. 26 Mo § 416.031 (1) provides that “Every… combination or conspiracy in restraint of trade or 

commerce in this state is unlawful.” 

507. Beginning at least as early as 1998, and continuing until the present date, Defendants entered into 

a combinations and or conspiracies in unreasonable restraint of trade or commerce among the several States 

of the United States, in the markets for hospital supplies, hospital supplies sold in e-commerce and the 

capitalization of healthcare technology and supply chain management companies. 

508. These combinations and or conspiracies took the form of Group Boycott, Allocation of Customers, 

Horizontal Price Restraint, Vertical Price Restraint and Tying Agreements, and their respective annual 

shows. Said Group Boycott, Allocation of Customers, Horizontal Price Restraint, Vertical Price Restraint 

and Tying Agreements were instigated and conducted by Defendants Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., 

Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium 

and Robert J. Baker who had and have market power over, i.e. a controlling percentage of market share of, 

the sale of hospital supplies, and the sale of hospital supplies sold in e-commerce; and by Defendants US 

Bancorp, NA, US Bank , Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew 

S. Duff who had and have market power over, i.e. a controlling percentage of market share of, the 

capitalization of healthcare technology and supply management companies including healthcare venture 

funds, private placement and public offering underwriting, commercial banking, trust facilities and market 

research analyst coverage necessary for Medical Supply to obtain external capital and necessary for 

Medical Supply to self capitalize its entry into the hospital supply market and the market for hospital 

supplies in e-commerce. Said Group Boycott, Allocation of Customers, Horizontal Price Restraint, Vertical 

Price Restraint and Tying Agreements had the purpose and effect of severely impairing the ability of 

Medical Supply to sell hospital supplies to hospitals conventionally or through e-commerce and to obtain 

capital it had self raised to enter the market for hospital supplies in the several States of the United States; 

and was further intended to eliminate or greatly reduce the availability of hospital supplies through e-

commerce regardless of hospital demand in the several States of United States, and impose a burdensome 

fees on manufacturers and suppliers for selling hospital supplies through web based electronic marketplaces 

to hospitals and health systems in the several States of the United States. 
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509. The defendants Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital 

Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker are and were 

direct competitors of Medical Supply in the sale of hospital supplies and the sale of hospital supplies in e-

commerce.  

510. The defendants Novation, LLC, Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital 

Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium and Robert J. Baker have and have 

had significant interests in the market for capitalization of healthcare technology and supply chain 

management companies. 

511. The defendants US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper 

Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff competed and compete directly with Medical Supply in the market 

for capitalization of healthcare technology and supply chain management companies because Medical 

Supply was forced by the defendants conspiracies and combinations to self capitalize its entry into market 

with unique trust accounts from it had solicited from its sales representative candidates.  

511. The defendants US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper 

Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff have and have had significant interests in the market for hospital 

supplies and hospital supplies sold in e-commerce where US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. 

Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff have concentrated 70% of 

their investment and have marketed IPO shares based on exclusive dealing contracts obtained for their 

client companies with Novation, LLC. , Neoforma, Inc., Volunteer Hospital Association and University 

Healthsystem Consortium. 

512. The defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy as a latecomer in October 2002 to the conspiracies 

and combinations had a significant interest in the markets for hospital supplies and hospital supplies sold in 

e-commerce and the capitalization of healthcare technology companies and supply chain management 

companies where they were agents for US Bancorp, NA, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, 

The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff. Shughart Thomson & Kilroy was coerced or voluntarily 

took unlawful actions to protect and assist the defendants in monopolization and monopoly of the markets 

for hospital supplies and hospital supplies sold in e-commerce and the capitalization of healthcare 

technology companies and supply chain management companies.  
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513. 26 Mo. § 416. 121 provides that: 

1. “Any person… who is injured in his business or property by reason of anything forbidden 
or declared unlawful by section [416.031(1)] … may: 
  

(1) Sue for damages sustained by him, and… shall be awarded threefold damages by 
him sustained and reasonable attorneys’ fees… together with the costs of suit.” 

 
514. As a direct result of Defendants’ unlawful activity, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to 

suffer substantial injuries and damages to their businesses and property. 

515. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of approximately 

$500,000,000.00, multiplied by three for total damages of approximately $1,500,000,000.00, and the cost 

of suit including a reasonable attorney’s fee. 

COUNT VII 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY 

IN RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 
(26 MO. § 416.031(1), § 416.071(1), (2), § 416.121(1)(1)) 

  
516. Plaintiff realleages paragraphs 1 through 515. 

 
517. 26 Mo. § 416.071 provides for: 
 

1. “… such preliminary or permanent injunctive relief and … such temporary restraining 
orders as are necessary to prevent and restrain violations of section 416.031… [and] 
 
2. … such prohibitory injunctions and other restraints as [the court] deems expedient to deter 

…and secure against… committing a future violation of section [416.031(1)]… [and] such 
mandatory relief as is reasonably necessary to restore or preserve fair competition in the trade or 
commerce affected by the violation.” 

 
518. 26 Mo. § 416.121 provides that: 

1. “Any person… who is injured in his business or property by reason of anything forbidden 
or declared unlawful by section [416.031(1)] … may: 

 
(2) Bring proceedings to enjoin the unlawful practices, and… shall be awarded 
reasonable attorneys’ fees… together with the costs of the suit.” 

 
519. Unless enjoined from doing so, Defendants will continue to violate 26 Mo. § 416. 031(1). 

520. Plaintiffs are also to recover their costs of suit and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

COUNT VIII 
DAMAGES FOR MONOPOLIZATION 
(26 MO. § 416.031(2), § 416.121(1),(1)) 

 
521. Plaintiff realleages paragraphs 1 through 520. 

522. 26 Mo. § 416.031(2) provides that “It is unlawful to monopolize, attempt to monopolize, or 

conspire to monopolize trade or commerce in this state.” 
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523. Defendants collectively have at all times material to this complaint maintained, attempted to 

achieve and maintain, or combined or conspired to achieve and maintain, a monopoly over the sale of 

hospital supplies, the sale of hospital supplies sold in e-commerce and the capitalization of healthcare 

technology companies and supply chain management companies. 

524. As a direct result Defendants’ unlawful activities, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer 

substantial injuries and damages to their businesses and property. 

525. Plaintiff is entitled to recover actual damages in the amount of approximately $500,000,000.00, 

multiplied by three for total damages of approximately $1,500,000,000.00, and the cost of suit including a 

reasonable attorney’s fee. 

COUNT IX 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR MONOPOLIZATION 

(26 MO. § 416.031(2), § 416.071(1), (2), § 416.121(1),(2)) 
 

526. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 525. 
 
527. Unless enjoined from doing so, Defendants will continue to violate 26 Mo. § 416.031(2). 
 
528. Plaintiff is also entitled to recover their costs of suit and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

 
COUNT X 

DAMAGES FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH 
CONTRACT OR BUSINESS EXPECTANCY 

 
529. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 528. 

530. Plaintiff’s individual representative candidate trust accounts with US Bank and its contract to sale 

the office building lease to General Electric Transportation Co. were required for Medical Supply to enter 

the markets for hospital supplies and hospital supplies for e-commerce and were contracts or business 

expectancies Said activities were intended by Defendants and performed by Defendants. 

531. Defendants knew of said contracts or business expectancies. 

532. Having such knowledge, Defendants intentionally conspired to interfere and did interfere with 

such contracts or business expectancies, so as to cause breach of the same. 

533. Defendants did so without justification and stated pretextual reasons for their actions. 

534. As a direct and proximate result of said actions of Defendants, Plaintiff has suffered and will 

continue to suffer injuries and damages to its business and properties. 
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535. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of in excess of $500,000,000.00 

for their actions resulting in the loss of trust accounts, and actual damages in the amount of in excess of 

$500,000,000.00 for their actions resulting in the loss of the lease sale together with the costs of suit, and 

attorney fees. 

536. Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, malicious and oppressive. 

537. Plaintiff is also entitled to recover punitive damages in an amount in excess of $10,000.00. 

COUNT XI 
DAMAGES FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT 

 
538. Plaintiff realleges paragraph 1 through 537. 

539. The Defendant US Bank breached an enforceable contract with Medical Supply that was a written 

contract under Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act, 15 U.S.C. § 7001 et seq. 

540. The Defendants US Bank and Shughart Thomson & Kilroy caused the breach of US Bank’s 

contractual duty to Medical Supply to provide trust accounts based on a deliberately false reason, the USA 

PATRIOT Act.  

541. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of in excess of $500,000,000.00 

for their actions resulting in the loss of trust accounts, and actual damages in the amount of in excess of 

$500,000,000.00 for their actions resulting in the loss of the lease sale together with the costs of suit, and 

attorney fees. 

542. Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, malicious and oppressive. 

543. Plaintiff is also entitled to recover punitive damages in an amount in excess of $10,000.00. 

COUNT XII 
DAMAGES FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY 

 
544. Plaintiff realleges paragraph 1 through 543. 

545. The Defendant US Bank owed a duty to Medical Supply to know the USA PATRIOT Act was not 

a bar to providing Medical Supply its trust accounts.  

546. The Defendant US Bank owed a duty to Medical Supply to not disclose confidential information 

to Medical Supply’s competitors, the defendants in this action.  

547. The Defendant US Bank breached its fiduciary duty to Medical Supply without justification and 

stated pretextual reasons for their actions. 
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548. The Defendant US Bank and Shughart Thomson & Kilroy breached US Bank’s fiduciary duty to 

Medical Supply by denying the existence of a valid contract and without providing a basis in fact or law for 

the contract to be void. 

549. The Defendants US Bank and Shughart Thomson & Kilroy caused the breach of US Bank’s 

fiduciary duty to Medical Supply in conspiracy with the other defendants. 

550. As a direct and proximate result of said actions of Defendants, Plaintiff has suffered and will 

continue to suffer injuries and damages to its business and properties. 

551. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of in excess of $500,000,000.00 

for their actions resulting in the loss of trust accounts, and actual damages in the amount of in excess of 

$500,000,000.00 for their actions resulting in the loss of the lease sale together with the costs of suit, and 

attorney fees. 

552. Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, malicious and oppressive. 

553. Plaintiff is also entitled to recover punitive damages in an amount in excess of $10,000.00. 

COUNT XIII 
DAMAGES FOR FRAUD AND DECEIT 

 
554. Plaintiff realleges paragraph 1 through 553. 

555. Each of the acts, practices, misrepresentations, violations and other wrongs complained of above 

have been engaged in by Defendants with malice and with specific and deliberate intent to oppress, 

defraud, deceive and injure Plaintiff. 

556. Said activities aforementioned by Defendants were done in concert and in secret with the intention 

to injure Plaintiff all the while knowing that the lack of candor and disclosure of the true acts and activities 

by Defendants would give Defendants an economic advantage over Plaintiff. Defendants were engaged in 

concealed fraudulent conduct. Defendants, and each of them, had a duty under the antitrust and 

anticompetitive which Defendants breached constituting a fraud and deceit upon Plaintiff. 

557. Said activities were intended by Defendants to cause injury to Plaintiff by and through intentional 

misrepresentations to Plaintiff and third parties concerning Plaintiff. 

558. Said activities did directly and proximately cause injury to Plaintiff. 

559. Said activities were and are unjustified. 
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560. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of in excess of $500,000,000.00 

for their actions resulting in the loss of trust accounts, and actual damages in the amount of in excess of 

$500,000,000.00 for their actions resulting in the loss of the lease sale together with the costs of suit, and 

attorney fees. 

561. Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, malicious and oppressive. 

562. Plaintiff is also entitled to recover punitive damages in an amount in excess of $10,000.00. 

COUNT XIV 
DAMAGES FOR PRIMA FACIE TORT  

 
563. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 562. 

564. To whatever extent said activities of Defendants may not violate antitrust laws or tortuously 

interfere with contract or business expectancy, said acts and activities of Defendants are still unlawful and 

fraudulent. 

565. Said activities were intended by Defendants and performed by Defendants. 

566. Said activities were intended by Defendants to cause injury to Plaintiff. 

567. Said activities did directly and proximately cause injury to Plaintiff. 

568. Said activities were and are unjustified. 

569. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of in excess of $500,000,000.00 

for their actions resulting in the loss of trust accounts, and actual damages in the amount of in excess of 

$500,000,000.00 for their actions resulting in the loss of the lease sale together with the costs of suit, and 

attorney fees. 

570. Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, malicious and oppressive. 

571. Plaintiff is also entitled to recover punitive damages in an amount in excess of $10,000.00. 

COUNT XV 
DAMAGES FOR RACKETEERING  

INFLUENCED CORRUPT ORGANIZATION (RICO) CONDUCT 
(18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)) 

572. Plaintiff realleges paragraph 1 through 571. 

573. On January 21, 2005 Medical Supply discovered the Defendants’ pattern of inflicting injuries on 

the plaintiff to obstruct its entry into the market for hospital supplies and hospital supplies in e-commerce. 

An important component of the Defendants’ scheme was to interdict capital required by Medical Supply to 
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enter the market. The Defendants targeted Medical Supply’s founder in 1995 and targeted Medical Supply 

upon its incorporation in 2000. From the outset, the Defendants have maintained a continuous pattern of 

preventing an independent clearinghouse electronic market place from interfering with their common 

enterprise to to artificially inflate prices paid by Medicare, Medicaid and Champus. 

574. The Defendants violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) by conducting a RICO enterprise (the hospital group 

purchasing enterprise to artificially inflate prices paid by Medicare, Medicaid and Champus) through a 

pattern of racketeering activity. 

575. The Defendants violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) through participation in a RICO conspiracy.  

576. The Defendants engaged in (1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of 

racketeering activity. 

577. The Defendants participated in the operation and management of the hospital group purchasing 

enterprise to artificially inflate prices paid by Medicare, Medicaid and Champus itself. 

578. When Medical Supply sought to appeal the outcomes in the Kansas District Court, the Defendants 

sought the assistance of Shughart Thomson & Kilroy to intimidate, harass and obstruct Medical Supply and 

prevent Medical Supply and its agents from testifying and preventing evidence in federal court. 

579. To realize that goal the Defendants directly and tacitly caused Shughart Thomson & Kilroy to 

create and arrange for Medical Supply’s counsel to receive repeated ethics complaints and to be prosecuted 

by the State of Kansas Disciplinary Administrator based on the false and misleading testimony of Shughart 

Thomson & Kilroy’s former managing partner, a federal magistrate judge and a sham complaint made by 

the Shughart Thomson & Kilroy counsel defending US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray. 

580. Shughart Thomson & Kilroy through its employees and past employees created the plan to 

retaliate against and intimidate and harass Medical Supply’s counsel when they discovered Medical Supply 

could not obtain outside counsel due to conflicts of interest in law firms the plaintiff had approached.  

581. Shughart Thomson & Kilroy through its employees and past employees implemented the plan and 

carried out its operations with the intent and motive of making sure that the Defendants could continue the 

enterprise to monopolize the markets in hospital supplies, hospital supplies sold in e-commerce and the 

capitalization of healthcare technology and supply chain management companies without challenge by the 

US District Court. 
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582. The Defendants implicitly ratified Shughart Thomson & Kilroy’s conduct on their behalf and 

relied on the conduct to attempt to avoid Medical Supply’s intention to seek redress. Shughart Thomson & 

Kilroy engaged in "racketeering activity" as that term has been defined by Congress, see 18 U.S.C. § 

1961(1). 

583. The Defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy through its officers, employees and agents injured 

Medical Supply in violation of 18 USC § 1503 when it caused false and misleading testimony to be given 

against Medical Supply’s counsel and again when it caused its employee to file a facially void ethics 

complaint against Medical Supply’s counsel. The purpose of the Defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy’s 

complaint was intimidation and harassment of Medical Supply’s counsel to interfere with the 

administration of justice in the federal antitrust action against the Defendants. 

584. 18 USC § 1503 entitled “Influencing or injuring officer or juror generally” provides: 
 

“(a) Whoever corruptly, or by threats or force, or by any threatening letter or communication, 
endeavors to influence, intimidate, or impede any grand or petit juror, or officer in or of any court of 
the United States,… in the discharge of his duty…or injures any such officer,… in his person or 
property on account of the performance of his official duties, or corruptly or by threats or force, or 
by any threatening letter or communication, influences, obstructs, or impedes, or endeavors to 
influence, obstruct, or impede, the due administration of justice, shall be punished as provided in 
subsection (b).” 
 

585. The Defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy through its officers, employees and agents injured 

Medical Supply in violation of 18 USC § 1513 when it caused false and misleading testimony to be given 

against Medical Supply’s counsel and again when it caused its employee to file a facially void ethics 

complaint against Medical Supply’s counsel to deprive him of property in the form of his license to practice 

law. The purpose of the Defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy’s retaliation against Medical Supply’s 

counsel was to interfere with the administration of justice in the federal antitrust action against the 

Defendants. 

586. 18 USC § 1513 entitled “Retaliating against a witness, victim, or an informant” provides: 
 

“(e) [2] Whoever knowingly, with the intent to retaliate, takes any action harmful to any person, 
including interference with the lawful employment or livelihood of any person, for providing to a 

law enforcement officer any truthful information relating to the commission or possible commission 
of any Federal offense, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 10 years, or both. 
 
(b) Whoever knowingly engages in any conduct and thereby causes bodily injury to another person 
or damages the tangible property of another person, or threatens to do so, with intent to retaliate 
against any person for—  
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(1) the attendance of a witness or party at an official proceeding, or any testimony given or any 
record, document, or other object produced by a witness in an official proceeding; or  
(2) any information relating to the commission or possible commission of a Federal offense or a 
violation of conditions of probation [1] supervised release,,[1] parole, or release pending judicial 
proceedings given by a person to a law enforcement officer;”  

 
587. In furtherance of their enterprise to artificially inflate healthcare costs, the Defendants stole 

copyrighted works to keep Medical Supply from realizing its plan to enter the market for hospital supplies. 

The Defendants stole copyrighted works that included business plans, algorithms, confidential proprietary 

business models, customer and associate lists from Medical Supply Chain, Inc. in 2002 and from its 

predecessor company Medical Supply Management in 1995 and 1996 in violation of 17 USC § 506 entitled 

“Criminal offenses” providing: 

“(a) Criminal Infringement.— Any person who infringes a copyright willfully either— for purposes 
of commercial advantage or private financial gain, or  
by the reproduction or distribution, including by electronic means, during any 180-day period, of 1 
or more copies or phonorecords of 1 or more copyrighted works, which have a total retail value of 

more than $1,000, shall be punished as provided under section 2319 of title 18, United States Code. 
For purposes of this subsection, evidence of reproduction or distribution of a copyrighted work, by 
itself, shall not be sufficient to establish willful infringement.” 

 
588. The Defendants violation falls under 18 USC § 2319 entitled “Criminal infringement of a 

copyright” which provides: 

“(a) Whoever violates section 506 (a) (relating to criminal offenses) of title 17 shall be punished 

as provided in subsections (b) and (c) of this section and such penalties shall be in addition to any 
other provisions of title 17 or any other law.”  

 
589. Defendants violated The Hobbs Act prohibition against racketeering by preventing Medical 

Supply’s entry into commerce under color of official right in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1951, which states: 

“Section 1951. Interference with commerce by threats or violence 

 
Whoever in any way or degree obstructs, delays, or affects 
commerce or the movement of any article or commodity in commerce, 
by robbery or extortion or attempts or conspires so to do, or 
commits or threatens physical violence to any person or property in 
furtherance of a plan or purpose to do anything in violation of 
this section shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more 
than twenty years, or both. 
b) As used in this section – The term ''extortion'' means the obtaining of property from another, 

with his consent, induced by wrongful use of actual or 
threatened force, violence, or fear, or under color of official 
right.” 

 
590. Defendants interfered with and obstructed Medical Supply’s entry into market by threatening the 

plaintiff with the filing of a USA PATRIOT Act suspicious activity report which would destroy the 
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plaintiff’s ability to make financial wire transactions with corresponding banks required to effectively 

compete in the market for hospital supplies. 

591. As a direct result Defendants’ unlawful activities, Plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer 

substantial injuries and damages to their businesses and property. 

592. Plaintiff is entitled to recover actual damages in the amount of approximately $500,000,000.00, 

multiplied by three for total damages of approximately $1,500,000,000.00, and the cost of suit including a 

reasonable attorney’s fee. 

COUNT XVI 
DAMAGES FOR MALICIOUS FILING OF A SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY  

REPORT (SAR) UNDER THE USA PATRIOT ACT  

(Pub. L. No. 107-56 (2001),18 U.S.C.§1030 (e), 31 U.S.C. § 5318 (g)(3)) 
 

593. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 592. 

594. On information and belief the Defendants through US Bank and US Bancorp NA and maliciously 

filed a suspicious activity report (“SAR”) concerning Medical Supply and its founder Samuel Lipari with 

federal authorities for the purpose of securing a financial benefit for the Defendants including US Bank and 

US Bancorp NA and were not protected by the safe harbor provisions of 31 U.S.C. § 5318 (g)(3). 

595. The USA PATRIOT Act § 310. Financial Crimes Enforcement Network requires the maintenance 

of a government wide data access service and data banks for financial crime reporting including suspicious 

activity reports. In threatening to cause a malicious suspicious activity report or in causing a malicious 

suspicious activity report t be filed against Medical Supply, the defendants have violated 18 U.S.C.§1030. 

596. The Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept 

and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (The USA PATRIOT Act) Pub. L. No. 107-56 (2001), 115 Stat. 272. 

at § 814 of the USA PATRIOT Act entitled DETERRENCE AND PREVENTION OF 

CYBERTERRORISM created a private right of action for Medical Supply to address the conduct of the 

Defendants in gaining access to the FINCEN network for the purpose of filing a suspicious activity report 

to prevent Medical Supply from providing hospital supplies and reducing healthcare costs. 

597. The USA PATRIOT Act amended 18 U.S.C.§1030 to include a cause of action for impairment, or 

potential impairment of medical diagnosis, treatment or care, physical injury, a threat to public health or 

safety. 
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598. The USA PATRIOT Act reaffirmed the civil liability and private rights of action provisions of 18 

U.S.C.§1030 (e) DAMAGES IN CIVIL ACTIONS- to include civil liability for any person may maintain 

a civil action for damages and injunctive relief. 

599. 18 U.S.C.§1030 provides: 

18 U.S.C.§1030. Fraud and related activity in connection with computers 

 
Whoever - knowingly and with intent to defraud, accesses a protected 
computer without authorization, or exceeds authorized access, and 
by means of such conduct furthers the intended fraud and obtains 
anything of value, 

(5) 
(iii) intentionally accesses a protected computer without 
authorization, and as a result of such conduct, causes damage; 
and 
(B) by conduct described in clause (i), (ii), or (iii) of 
subparagraph (A), caused (or, in the case of an attempted 
offense, would, if completed, have caused) - 
(ii) the modification or impairment, or potential 

modification or impairment, of the medical examination, 
diagnosis, treatment, or care of 1 or more individuals; 
(iii) physical injury to any person; 
(iv) a threat to public health or safety; 
(g) Any person who suffers damage or loss by reason of a 
violation of this section may maintain a civil action against the 
violator to obtain compensatory damages and injunctive relief or 
other equitable relief. A civil action for a violation of this 
section may be brought only if the conduct involves 1 of the 

factors set forth in clause (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), or (v) of 
subsection (a)(5)(B). Damages for a violation involving only 
conduct described in subsection (a)(5)(B)(i) are limited to 
economic damages. No action may be brought under this subsection 
unless such action is begun within 2 years of the date of the act 
complained of or the date of the discovery of the damage.” 
 

600. The USA PATRIOT Act) Pub. L. No. 107-56 (2001), 115 Stat. 272. at § 351 modified 31 U.S.C. § 

5318 (g)(3) to eliminate immunity from civil liability for malicious suspicious activity reporting: 

“(g) Reporting of suspicious transactions.-- 
In General.-The Secretary may require any financial institution, and any director, officer, employee, 
or agent of any financial institution, to report any suspicious transaction relevant to a possible 
violation of law or regulation. 
* * 
Liability for disclosures.-- 

In general.-Any financial institution that makes a voluntary disclosure of any possible violation of 
law or regulation to a government agency or makes a disclosure pursuant to this subsection or any 
other authority, and any director, officer, employee, or agent of such institution who makes, or 
requires another to make any such disclosure, shall not be liable under law or regulation of the 
United States, any constitution, law, or regulation of any State or political subdivision of any State, 
or under any contract or other legally enforceable agreement (including any arbitration agreement), 
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for such disclosure or for any failure to provide notice of such disclosure to the person who is 
subject of such disclosure or any other person identified in the disclosure.” 
 

601. The Act specifies that financial institutions are to report" any possible violation of law or 

regulation." Congress did not intend the Act's safe harbor to give banks blanket immunity for malicious, 

willful criminal and civil violations of law.  

602. Importantly, the Act requires there to be a "possible" violation of law-"possible" being the 

operative word-before a financial institution can claim protection of the statute. 

603. The Defendants knew there was no possible violation and that the USA PATRIOT Act know your 

customer provision did not apply to the subject escrow accounts. 

604. US Bank and US Bancorp did not file a report of a "possible violation" of the law but rather acted 

maliciously and willfully in an attempt to have Medical Supply deprived of high level banking services 

including international wire fund transactions on information the defendants knew to be false. 

605. Said activities aforementioned by Defendants were done in concert and in secret with the intention 

to injure Plaintiff all the while knowing that the lack of candor and disclosure of the true acts and activities 

by Defendants would give Defendants an economic advantage over Plaintiff. Defendants were engaged in 

concealed fraudulent conduct.  

606. Said malicious suspicious activity reporting against Medical Supply and its founder Samuel Lipari 

was done with the purpose of restricting the availability of and access to hospital supplies and resulted in 

impairment and potential impairment of medical diagnosis, treatment and care, along with physical injury, 

and constituted a threat to public health and safety 

607. Said activities were intended by Defendants to cause injury to Plaintiff by and through intentional 

misrepresentations to third parties concerning Plaintiff. 

608. Said activities did directly and proximately cause injury to Plaintiff. 

609. Said activities were and are unjustified. 

610. Plaintiff is entitled to recover their actual damages in the amount of in excess of $500,000,000.00 

for their actions resulting in the loss of trust accounts, and actual damages in the amount of in excess of 

$500,000,000.00 for their actions resulting in the loss of the lease sale together with the costs of suit, and 

attorney fees. 
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611. Defendants’ actions were willful, wanton, malicious and oppressive. 

612. Plaintiff is also entitled to recover punitive damages in an amount in excess of $10,000.00. 

TOLLING OF APPLICABLE STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS 

 
613. Plaintiff could not have reasonably discovered its injuries, or that its injuries were wrongfully 

caused, until January 21st, 2005, when Shughart Thomson & Kilroy’s former managing partner testified 

under oath in the Kansas Attorney Disciplinary Prosecution of the plaintiff’s counsel.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

WHEREFORE Plaintiff demands: 
 
(1) That Defendants, their agents and servants, be enjoined during the pungency of this action and 

permanently from their activities in unreasonable restraint of trade or commerce and in monopolizing, 

attempting to monopolize, or combining or conspiring to monopolize. 

(2) That Defendants be required to pay to Plaintiff such damages as Plaintiff has sustained in 

consequence of Defendants’ activities in unreasonable restraint of trade or commerce and in 

monopolizing, attempting to monopolize, or combing or conspiring to monopolize, in the amount of 

approximately $500,000,000.00, multiplied by three for total damages of approximately 

$1,500,000,000.00 for the conduct related to the refusal to provide trust accounts and approximately 

$500,000,000.00, multiplied by three for total damages of approximately $1,500,000,000.00 for the 

conduct related to preventing Medical Supply from selling the office building lease to General Electric 

Transportation Co. for a total of approximately $3,000,000,000.00. 

(3) That Defendants be required to pay to Plaintiff such damages as Plaintiff has sustained in 

consequence of Defendants’ activities in tortuous interference with contract or business expectancy and/or 

in prima facie tort, in the amount of approximately $1,000,000.00, together with punitive or exemplary 

damages for the same, in an amount in excess of $10,000.00.  

(4) Medical Supply Chain, Inc. seeks damages for the injury of its business associates and 

stakeholders, including Blue Springs, Missouri, loss of good will and the injury of the 2000 hospitals 

loosing money due to high supply costs under Mid Atl. Telecom, Inc. v. Long Distance Servs., Inc., 18 

F.3d 260, 263 (4th Cir.1994)’s interpretation of standing on a RICO statutes having a common antitrust 

basis. 
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(5) That Defendants be required to pay to Plaintiff such damages as Plaintiff has sustained in 

consequence of Defendants’ activities in violation of civil racketeering laws, in the amount of 

approximately $500,000.00, multiplied by three for total damages of approximately $1,500,000.00.  

(6) That Defendants be required to pay to Plaintiff such damages as Plaintiff has sustained in 

consequence of Defendants’ activities in violation of the USA PATRIOT Act, in the amount of 

approximately $500,000.00. 

(7) That Defendants pay to Plaintiff the costs of this action and reasonable attorney’s fees to be 

allowed to the Plaintiff by the Court. 

(8) That Plaintiffs have such other and further relief as is just. 

CONCLUSION 
 

 Whereas for the above reasons, the plaintiff respectfully request that the court award damages and 

provide other relief, attorneys fees and costs. 

Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith  

Kansas Supreme Court ID # 20380 

2961 SW Central Park, # G33,  

Topeka, KS 66611 

1-785-876-2233 

1-785-267-4084 

landrithlaw@cox.net 

 

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

 Comes now plaintiff and makes demand for a trial before 8 jurors. 

S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith 

Kansas Supreme Court Number 20380 

 

 

DESIGNATION OF PLACE OF TRIAL 

 Comes now plaintiff and designates Kansas City, Missouri as the place of trial. 

S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith 

Kansas Supreme Court Number 20380 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

WESTERN (KANSAS CITY) DIVISION 
 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
NOVATION, LLC 
NEOFORMA, INC. 
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 
CURT NONOMAQUE 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM 
ROBERT J. BAKER 
US BANCORP, NA 
US BANK 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER 
ANDREW CESERE 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES 
ANDREW S. DUFF 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY 
WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C. 
 
  Defendants. 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 05-0210-CV-W-ODS 
 

 
DEFENDANT ROBERT ZOLLARS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 

 FOR LACK OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION 
 
 Defendant Robert Zollars moves for an Order of this Court dismissing plaintiff’s 

Complaint in its entirety pursuant to Rule 12b(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for lack 

of personal jurisdiction over this defendant. The motion is brought for the following reasons. 

  1. For there to be personal jurisdiction over Mr. Zollars, it is the plaintiff’s burden to 

establish either that there is general personal jurisdiction over him or that there is specific 

jurisdiction that is proper under the Missouri long-arm statute and which also comports with due 

process.  Plaintiff fails to allege any facts that would carry that burden.  The Declaration of Mr. 
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Zollars establishes that he does not have contacts that would support general or specific 

jurisdiction under either the long-arm statute or a due process analysis. 

 2. There is no general jurisdiction over Mr. Zollars, because he does not have 

sufficient contacts with the State of Missouri to establish general jurisdiction.  He does not 

conduct business there and has had only a few visits to the state in the last several years.  These 

few contacts are not sufficient to establish general jurisdiction. 

 3. There are no facts to establish that Mr. Zollars fits within any of the categories of 

the Missouri long-arm statute, Mo. Rev. Stat. § 506.500, such that specific jurisdiction can be 

established.  He has not transacted business within the state, entered into a contract within the 

state nor committed a tort within the state. 

 4. Exercise of specific jurisdiction over Mr. Zollars would not comport with due 

process because he has no business contacts with the state and has visited the state only 

minimally for personal reasons over the last several years.  Further, requiring him to defend a 

suit in Missouri would be unreasonable under the circumstances since he resides and works in 

California. 

 5. There is no nationwide service or process over Mr. Zollars under the antitrust 

laws since he is an individual, not a corporation, and therefore the long-arm statute and due 

process analysis apply. 

 6. There is no jurisdiction under the Racketeer Influenced And Corrupt 

Organizations Act (“RICO”), since no facts are alleged that would bring this defendant under 

RICO and exercise of nationwide jurisdiction would not be reasonable in these circumstances. 

 7. Defendant incorporates his Declaration, and Suggestions in Support of His 

Motion to Dismiss For Lack of Personal Jurisdiction.   
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 For all these reasons, defendant Robert Zollars requests that the Court enter an order 

dismissing the Complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction. 

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 

Defendant Robert Zollars hereby requests oral argument on his Motion to Dismiss for 

Lack of Personal Jurisdiction. 

 

HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By:     /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 35312 
Joel K. Goldman, #40453 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, NEOFORMA, INC., ROBERT J. ZOLLARS, 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on April 4, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the clerk of 
the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the 
following:: 
 

Bret D. Landrith landrithlaw@cox.net 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 
 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
NOVATION, LLC 
NEOFORMA, INC. 
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 
CURT NONOMAQUE 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM 
ROBERT J. BAKER 
US BANCORP, NA 
US BANK 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER 
ANDREW CESERE 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES 
ANDREW S. DUFF 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY 
WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C. 
 
  Defendants. 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 05-0210-CV-W-ODS 
 

 

SUGGESTIONS IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT ROBERT J. ZOLLARS’ MOTION TO 
DISMISS FOR LACK OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12b(2), Defendant Robert J. Zollars 

submits the instant Suggestions in support of his Motion to Dismiss For Lack of Personal 

Jurisdiction.   

I. INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 

Mr. Robert J. Zollars, the Chairman and CEO of Defendant Neoforma, Inc. 

(“Neoforma”), has been sued by plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc. (“plaintiff”) in his personal 
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capacity.  (Declaration of Robert J. Zollars (“Zollars Dec.”) ¶ 1.) 1  However, Mr. Zollars has no 

relationship whatsoever with the State of Missouri.  Rather, Mr. Zollars lives and works in the 

State of California.  (Id. ¶ 2.)  He does not own, rent, lease, or utilize any property of any kind in 

the State of Missouri.  (Id. ¶ 3.)  He is not a party to any contract governed by Missouri law, 

executed in Missouri, or with any company or individual located in Missouri.  (Id. ¶ 4.)  

Although Mr. Zollars occasionally stops over in Missouri’s airports, he does not conduct any 

business in the State.  (Id. ¶ 5.)  In fact, he has only been to Missouri twice in the last four or five 

years:  Once while driving through the State to take his daughter to college, and another time he 

had dinner with a potential client of Neoforma’s.  (Id. ¶ 6.)   

Despite his extremely limited contact with the State of Missouri, Mr. Zollars has 

been sued there for various torts and other statutory violations.  However, as set forth below, Mr. 

Zollars' contact with the State of Missouri is not sufficient for this Court to exercise personal 

jurisdiction over him.  Accordingly, the action against Mr. Zollars must be dismissed.    

II. THE COURT CANNOT SUBJECT MR. ZOLLARS IN HIS PERSONAL 
CAPACITY TO ITS JURISDICTION BECAUSE MR. ZOLLARS DOES NOT 
HAVE SUFFICIENT CONTACTS WITH THE STATE OF MISSOURI, AND 
JURISDICTION WOULD CONFLICT WITH DUE PROCESS OF LAW 

A. Legal Standards And Burden Of Proof 

Personal jurisdiction refers to the power of a court to “summon a defendant before 

it to adjudicate a claim against him,” and it is a prerequisite to any lawsuit.  (Wright & Miller, 

Federal Practice and Procedure, 4 Civil § 1064 at 334 (West Group 2002).  There are two types 

of personal jurisdiction:  specific jurisdiction and general jurisdiction.  Lakin v. Prudential 

Securities, Inc., 348 F.3d 704, 707 (8th Cir. 2003).  “Specific jurisdiction refers to jurisdiction 

over causes of action that ‘arise out of’ or ‘relate to’ a defendant’s activities within a state.”  Id., 

citing Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 462, 472 (1985).  By contrast, general 
                                                 
1  When considering whether personal jurisdiction exists under Missouri’s Long Arm Statute, it 

is permissible to consider matters outside the pleadings, such as affidavits or declarations 
from the movant.  Enterprise Rent-A-Car Co. v. U-Haul Int’l., Inc., 327 F.Supp.2d 1032, 
1036 (E. D. Mo. 2004). 
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jurisdiction “refers to the power of a state to adjudicate any cause of action involving a particular 

defendant, regardless of where the cause of action arose.”  Lakin, at 707.   

“A party seeking to invoke the jurisdiction of a federal court bears the burden to 

establish that jurisdiction exists.”  Enterprise Rent-A-Car Co. v. U-Haul Int’l., Inc., 327 

F.Supp.2d 1032, 1036 (E. D. Mo. 2004).  To survive a motion to dismiss for lack of personal 

jurisdiction, a plaintiff must “make a prima facie showing of jurisdiction.”  (Id.)  “For the 

purpose of a prima facie showing, the court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to 

the plaintiff.”  (Id., emphasis added.)  Stated another way, “[o]nce a defendant has challenged the 

court’s personal jurisdiction over him, the plaintiff assumes the burden of establishing sufficient 

jurisdictional facts.”  Hanline v. Sinclair Global Brokerage Corp., 652 F.Supp. 1457, 1458 

(W.D. Mo. 1987).  This means the plaintiff must do more than provide “mere allegations that all 

elements of the tort” or other cause of action “are present.”  Id., at 1459. 

As set forth below, plaintiff cannot meet his burden of proof, because (i) neither 

general nor specific jurisdiction exists in this case, and (ii) because he has no evidence at all in 

support of jurisdiction.  Accordingly, the case against Mr. Zollars in his personal capacity must 

be dismissed. 

B. There Is No General Jurisdiction Over Mr. Zollars, Who Neither Conducts 
Substantial Business, Nor Is Present, In The State of Missouri 

“By definition, general jurisdiction only exists where a defendant’s contact with 

the forum state is so pervasive and continuing that the defendant is effectively deemed to be a 

resident for purposes of personal jurisdiction.”  In re: Texas Prisoner Litigation, 41 F.Supp.2d 

960, 962 (W.D. Mo. 1999).  Here, Mr. Zollars lacks continuing or “pervasive” contacts with 

Missouri.  He lives in California, and he has been to the State only once on business in the last 

four or five years – and that was at best a tangential business meeting since it merely involved 

having dinner with the employee of a potential client.  (Zollars Dec. ¶¶ 2, 5, 6.)  Other than that, 

he has stopped at airports and driven through the State once with his daughter in the last four or 

five years.  (Id. ¶¶ 5, 6.)  These brief contacts with Missouri are not “pervasive” or “continuing” 
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or systematic – they are casual and occasional at best.  Finally, Mr. Zollars is a resident of 

California, where he lives and works.  (Id. ¶ 2.)  Accordingly, this Court does not have general 

jurisdiction over Mr. Zollars.  

C. There Is No Specific Jurisdiction Over Mr. Zollars 

Although plaintiff attempts to invoke diversity jurisdiction (Complaint ¶ 1), the 

court has no diversity jurisdiction since both plaintiff and at least one of the defendants is alleged 

to reside or can be found in Missouri  (Complaint ¶¶ 10, 24; 28 U.S.C. § 1332.)  Accordingly, the 

Court’s subject matter jurisdiction rests on federal question grounds.  (See, Complaint ¶¶ 1-9; 28 

U.S.C. § 1331; 28 U.S.C. § 1337.)  “Where a federal court’s subject matter jurisdiction over a 

case stems from the existence of a federal question, personal  jurisdiction over a defendant exists 

if the defendant is amenable to service of process under the forum state’s long-arm statute and if 

the exercise of personal jurisdiction would not deny the defendant due process.”  Bird v. 

Parsons, 289 F.3d 865, 871 (6th Cir., 2002) (internal citations omitted); Enterprise, at 1036 

(applied the Bird analysis to a case with both federal question and diversity claims).  Since 

neither of these requirements can be satisfied, this case must be dismissed. 

1. Missouri’s Long Arm Statute Does Not Apply To Mr. Zollars’ Alleged 
Conduct 

Missouri’s Long Arm Statute provides in pertinent part: 
 
1. Any person or firm, whether or not a citizen or resident of this state, or any 
corporation, who in person or through an agent does any of the acts enumerated in 
this section, thereby submits such person, firm, or corporation, and, if an 
individual, his personal representative, to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state 
as to any cause of action arising from the doing of any of such acts: 
 
(1) The transaction of any business within this state; 
 
(2) The making of any contract within this state; 
 
(3) The commission of a tortious act within this state; 
 
(4) The ownership, use, or possession of any real estate situated in this state; 
 
(5) The contracting to insure any person, property or risk located within this state 
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at the time of contracting; 
 
(6) Engaging in an act of sexual intercourse within this state with the mother of a 
child on or near the probable period of conception of that child. . . . 
  
 

Mo. Rev. Stat. § 506.500 (Lexis 2004). 

If a case fits within one of the six specific categories in § 506.500 (1), then 

jurisdiction is appropriate under the long-arm statute.  “Missouri case law is clear that the 

purpose of the long-arm statute is to extend the jurisdiction of the courts of this state over 

nonresident defendants to that extent permissible under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the United States.”  Texas Prisoner Litigation, at 962; State ex rel. Newport  v. 

Wiesman, 627 S.W.2d 874, 876 (1982).  This means that “the language of the long-arm statute 

should be interpreted to reach as far as the Due Process Clause will permit, but in all cases 

involving specific jurisdiction, a court must first determine whether the long-arm statute applies.  

When making that determination, . . . a court must give the broadest interpretation to the 

language of the long-arm statute that is consistent with the Constitution.”  Texas Prisoner 

Litigation, at 962 n. 1.  But if the conduct at issue does not fall within the scope of § 506.500, 

there is no jurisdiction.  See, e.g, Stavrides v. Zerjav, 848 S.W.2d 523, 529 (1993) (holding that 

there was no jurisdiction in part because the escrow of a Missouri promissory note in Illinois did 

not constitute the transaction of business in Missouri for the purposes of long arm jurisdiction). 

Three of the six particularized activities in § 506.500 – the ownership and/or use 

of real estate, contracting for insurance, and sexual intercourse – are not at issue here.  

Accordingly, the discussion that follows focuses only on the other three activities:  Transaction 

of business within the State, commission of a tortious activity within the State, and the making of 

any contracts within the State. 

First, Mr. Zollars is not a party to any contract within the State. (Zollars Dec. ¶¶ 3, 

4.)  Thus jurisdiction cannot be based on § 506.500(1)(2).  Second, with the exception of one 

dinner in the last four to five years, a remote connection at best, he has not conducted any 
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business within Missouri – and thus jurisdiction cannot be based on § 506.500(1)(1).  (Id. ¶ 6.)  

But even if he were a party to any such contracts, or even if he had conducted business within the 

State, he would still not be subject to the long-arm statute, since plaintiff has not alleged that any 

of those hypothetical contracts or business transactions were the source of any cause of action in 

this case.  Mo. Rev. Stat. § 506.500(1).  Moreover, plaintiff has not offered any evidence that 

Mr. Zollars has made any contracts, or conducted any business within the State.  (See, 

Enterprise, at 1036.)  Indeed, the only evidence before the Court is to the contrary.  (See, 

generally, Zollars Dec.)   

Third, there are no allegations that Mr. Zollars, in his personal capacity, has 

committed any tortious acts within the State of Missouri.  The Complaint in this matter is long 

and confusing, and it is difficult to understand what – if anything – Mr. Zollars, in his personal 

capacity, supposedly did to plaintiff.  At best, the Complaint alleges that Mr. Zollars simply 

worked at Cardinal Health, Inc. (“Cardinal”), a subsidiary of Owen Healthcare, Inc. (“Owen”), 

during the same time that Owen acquired a copy of plaintiff’s business plan and other proprietary 

information.  (Complaint ¶ 176.)  According to the Complaint, Cardinal then used the business 

plan somehow – but there is no allegation of who at Cardinal used the business plan, or how it 

was used.  (Id.)  Rather, there is simply a statement that Mr. Zollars was a “Cardinal employee” 

who “left Cardinal and later joined Neoforma.”  (Id.)  There is no allegation that Mr. Zollars took 

the business plan, or anything in it, with him to Neoforma; nor is there any allegation that Mr. 

Zollars was familiar with the information in the business plan at all!  These allegations do not 

fall within the scope of Missouri’s long-arm statute, because they are not tortious acts.   

Finally, there is no evidence supporting any of the tort allegations in the 

Complaint.  This is true for both the common law tort actions and the alleged Antitrust and RICO 

violations.  Rather, the Complaint contains only rambling, unspecified allegations that Mr. 

Zollars engaged in wrongful or illegal activity – and fails to present any evidence to back up the 

allegations at issue.  Thus, plaintiff cannot satisfy his burden of proof, and his claims must fail.  
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See, e.g., Hanline, at 1458-1459 (holding that the “establishment of a prima facie case” of 

jurisdiction “requires more than mere allegations that all elements of the tort are present.”). 

To summarize, plaintiff has failed to satisfy the requirements of the Missouri 

long-arm statute.  See, e.g, Stavrides, at 529.  Moreover, plaintiff cannot satisfy his burden of 

proof.  See, Enterprise, at 1036.  Accordingly, the claims against Mr. Zollars must be dismissed.   

2. The Exercise Of Jurisdiction Over Mr. Zollars In His Personal 
Capacity Would Not Comport With Due Process 

Even if the Court were to find that Mr. Zollars’ alleged acts fell within the scope 

of Missouri’s long-arm statute, jurisdiction should be denied because the exercise of jurisdiction 

would deny Mr. Zollars due process under the law.  

Due process limits the power of a court to assert personal jurisdiction over a 

nonresident defendant.”  Enterprise, at 1036.  “The constitutional touchstone of the 

determination whether an exercise of personal jurisdiction comports with due process remains 

whether the defendant established minimum contacts in the forum state.”  Burger King, at 474.  

“Those ‘minimum contacts must have a basis in some act by which the defendant purposely 

avails itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum state, thus invoking the 

protections of its laws.’”  In re: Texas Prisoner Litigation, at 963, quoting Asahi Metal Indus. 

Co., Ltd. v. Superior Court, 480 U.S. 102, 109 (1987).  Additionally,  

[t]he exercise of jurisdiction must . . . be reasonable, taking into 
account such factors as (a) the burden on the defendant; (b) the 
interest of the forum state; (c) the plaintiff’s interest in obtaining 
relief; (d) the interstate judicial system’s interest in obtaining the 
most efficient resolution of controversies; [and] (e) the shared 
interest of the several states in furthering fundamental substantive 
social policies. 

 
Texas Prisoner Litigation, at 963. 

There are simply no allegations that Mr. Zollars, in his personal capacity, 

committed any acts at all in the State of Missouri, or that he availed himself at all of the 

privilege of conducting activities within the state.  See, section II(B)(2), supra, and Complaint, 
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generally and at ¶ 176.  Again, while the Complaint alleges generically that Mr. Zollars 

committed a tort against a Missouri resident, there is no allegation of any specific evidence to 

back up the generic allegations – and thus they fail as a matter of law.  See, e.g., Hanline at 1459.  

What’s more, the evidence here refutes any allegations that Mr. Zollars ever conducted any 

business activities, made any contracts, or committed any torts in Missouri.  See, generally, 

Zollars Dec.   

Finally, the exercise of jurisdiction over Mr. Zollars in his personal capacity 

would be unreasonable.  Since he lives and works in California, it would be a tremendous burden 

on Mr. Zollars to have to oppose a lawsuit in Missouri.  (Zollars Dec. ¶ 2.)  Since he committed 

no act – tortious or otherwise – in Missouri, the State has no interest in allowing plaintiff a forum 

in which to prosecute a claim against Mr. Mr. Zollars.  For the same reasons the interstate 

judicial system has no interest in seeking relief against Mr. Zollars.  In short, Mr. Zollars has 

very, very few contacts with the State of Missouri and exercising jurisdiction against him in this 

case would violate due process. 

III. THE ADDITION OF ANTITRUST, RICO AND USA PATRIOT ACT CLAIMS 
DOES NOT CONFER JURISDICTION AGAINST MR. ZOLLARS 

A. There Is No Personal Jurisdiction Under Antitrust Law 

The bulk of plaintiff’s Complaint seems to be devoted to various antitrust 

theories.  In paragraph 1, the purported bases of jurisdiction are set forth.  With respect to 

antitrust, he generally cites 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and 16.  (Complaint  ¶ 1.)  Plaintiff does not cite 15 

U.S.C. § 22, which refers to nationwide service of process as to corporations, and therefore 

might be a basis to argue that personal jurisdiction might be available without the analysis of the 

long-arm statute and due process.  However, § 22 by its terms applies only to corporations, and 

has been construed narrowly.  Kingsepp vs. Wesleyan University, 763 F. Supp. 22, 25 (S.D.N.Y. 

1991).  Mr. Zollars is an individual, not a corporation.  For non-corporations, the rule is that one 

applies the same long-arm statute and due process analysis to antitrust claims as one does to 

other types of claims.  Id. at 26-27.   
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B. Plaintiff’s RICO Claims Are Not Directed At This Defendant, But, Even If 
They Were, Plaintiff’s Allegations Are Not Sufficient Under 18 U.S.C. § 
1965(b) 

In his Racketeer Influenced And Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”) claim, 

plaintiff generically refers to “Defendants.”  An examination of the specific allegations, 

however, shows that there is nothing asserted against Mr. Zollars.  (Complaint ¶¶ 572-592.) 

Although this particular claim is difficult to understand, it appears to be leveled primarily at 

another defendant, the Shughart, Thompson and Kilroy law firm.  Apparently angry at that firm’s 

successful defense of a prior lawsuit, the Complaint claims at paragraph 582 that the firm 

engaged in racketeering activity in doing so.  As silly and scurrilous as such claim is, it is not one 

aimed at Mr. Zollars.  This section of the Complaint also talks about some copyrighted works 

that someone is alleged to have stolen from plaintiff.  However, the Complaint fails to allege that 

Mr. Zollars engaged in any such activity, nor is there any evidence cited in the Complaint that 

Mr. Zollars ever stole anything from plaintiff.  Finally, there is a claim that a threat to take action 

under the U.S.A. Patriot Act is a RICO violation, but that is not alleged against Mr. Zollars.  In 

sum, there can be no claim that the Complaint imposes jurisdiction over Mr. Zollars for a RICO 

violation, since there are no facts alleged suggesting that he is part of such a claim, despite 

plaintiff’s careless tossing about of the word “Defendants” in the plural.  Accordingly, the 

Complaint fails as a matter of law to allege jurisdiction over Mr. Zollars on RICO grounds.  

Hanline, at 1459; Enterprise, at 1036.   

Were the Court to assume that plaintiff is alleging a RICO claim against Mr. 

Zollars, plaintiff has still failed to allege jurisdiction over Mr. Zollars.  This is because plaintiff 

has failed to allege evidence demonstrating that nationwide jurisdiction is appropriate under 18 

U.S.C. § 1965(b).  Enterprise, at 1036.  In particular, plaintiff has not alleged facts showing that 

he has met the “ends of justice” requirement in that statute.  18 U.S.C. § 1965(b).  In fact, he 

does not even allege that § 1965(b) is a basis for jurisdiction in the jurisdictional section of his 
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Complaint as required by pleading rules.  See Complaint ¶ 1.  Accordingly, there is no RICO 

jurisdiction. 

C. Plaintiff Fails To Allege A Violation Of The U.S.A. Patriot Act Against Mr. 
Zollars, And So That Statute Cannot Be The Basis Of Personal Jurisdiction  

Finally, there is a claim that someone threatened plaintiff with the U.S.A. Patriot 

Act.  But this is alleged against someone other than Mr. Zollars.  See, Complaint ¶¶ 593-612.  

Accordingly, this cause of action cannot be a ground under which this court could assert  

personal jurisdiction over Mr. Zollars.   

IV. CONCLUSION 

Mr. Zollars, a resident of California, has had almost no contact with the State of 

Missouri in the last four to five years.  In his personal capacity, he has not conducted any 

contract or business transactions in the State, nor has he engaged in any tortious action that 

would lend itself to jurisdiction under § 506.500 or the due process clause.  Finally, plaintiff has 

failed to allege jurisdiction under the antitrust laws, RICO, or the U.S.A. Patriot Act.  

Accordingly, the allegations against him must be dismissed for lack of personal jurisdiction.  

 
HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 

 
 
 
 By:     /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 35312 
Joel K. Goldman, #40453 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, NEOFORMA, INC., ROBERT J. ZOLLARS, 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on April 4, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the clerk of 
the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the 
following:: 
 

Bret D. Landrith landrithlaw@cox.net 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

WESTERN (KANSAS CITY) DIVISION 
 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
NOVATION, LLC 
NEOFORMA, INC. 
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 
CURT NONOMAQUE 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM 
ROBERT J. BAKER 
US BANCORP, NA 
US BANK 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER 
ANDREW CESERE 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES 
ANDREW S. DUFF 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY 
WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C. 
 
  Defendants. 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 05-0210-CV-W-ODS 
 

 
DEFENDANT NEOFORMA, INC.’S MOTION TO DISMISS, COMPLAINT,  

OR ALTERNATIVELY TO REQUIRE AMENDMENT,  
PURSUANT TO F.R.C.P. RULES 8 AND 9 

 
 Defendant Neoforma, Inc. moves for an Order of this Court dismissing plaintiff’s 

Complaint in its entirety pursuant to Rules 8 and 9 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The 

motion is brought for the following reasons. 

  1. Rule 8(a)(2) requires that the complaint be a “short and plain statement of the 

claim showing the pleader is entitled to relief” and Rule 8(e) requires that the pleading be 

“simple, concise and direct.” The compliant is a rambling document of 115 pages and 613 

paragraphs of general allegations, quotations, policy arguments, stories, case citations, opinions 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume XVIII  6833



 

0811118.01 2 

 

and other superfluous information that does not meet these requirements.  Further, it is highly 

general in each of its claims, lumping every defendant into most every claim, without setting 

forth specific facts that would support such a treatment.  The complaint is so deficient in these 

respects that it is virtually impossible for this defendant, or any other, to respond in a coherent 

and organized manner, whether by answer or motion to dismiss under Rule 12, and therefore 

should be dismissed under Rule 8. 

 2. Rule 9 requires that allegations of fraud be pleaded with specificity.  The 

complaint is so vague and general with respect to its allegations that it seems to lump every 

defendant into every claim, without pleading the specific facts required under Rule 9 necessary 

to allege such claims against this defendant.  Accordingly, the complaint should be dismissed 

pursuant to Rule 9. 

 3. Alternatively, should the Court not wish to dismiss the complaint without leave to 

amend, then plaintiff should be ordered to amend the document to conform to Rules 8 and 9, so 

that defendants can frame a coherent response under Rule 12 or by answer. 

 4. Defendant Neoforma incorporates its Suggestions in Support of this motion, filed 

concurrently herewith. 

 For all these reasons, defendant Neoforma requests that the Court enter an order 

dismissing the Complaint in its entirety, or alternatively orders plaintiff to amend. 

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 

Defendant Neoforma hereby requests oral argument on its Motion to Dismiss Complaint, 

or Alternatively to Require Amendment, Pursuant to F.R.C.P. Rules 8 and 9.  
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HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By:     /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 35312 
Joel K. Goldman, #40453 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, NEOFORMA, INC., ROBERT J. ZOLLARS, 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on April 4, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the clerk of 
the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the 
following:: 
 

Bret D. Landrith landrithlaw@cox.net 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI  

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI  

 

 MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,   ) 

  Plaintiff,     ) 

v.       ) Case No. 05-0210-CV-W- ODS 

NOVATION, LLC     ) Attorney Lien 

NEOFORMA, INC.     ) 

ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 

VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 

CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 

ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 

US BANCORP, NA     ) 

 US BANK       ) 

JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 

ANDREW CESERE     ) 

THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 

ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 

SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 

WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 

Defendants.    ) 

 
Suggestion In Opposition To Neoforma, Inc.’s Motion To Dismiss Complaint,  Or Alternatively To 

Require Amendment,   Pursuant To F.R.C.P. Rules 8 And 9 

 

Comes now the plaintiff Medical Supply and makes the present suggestion opposing Neoforma 

Inc.’s motion to dismiss or amend the plaintiff’s complaint (doc.s 15, 16 ). 

1. The plaintiff has addressed Neoforma’s Rule 8 and 9 arguments in its suggestion opposing VHA, 

UHC and Novation’s motion for dismissal and incorporates its answer by reference. 

2. The other defendants were able to answer or in the alternative seek dismissal. US Bancorp NA, 

The Piper Jaffray Companies and their corporate officers have a similar Sarbanes-Oxley Act standard to 

meet for their responses. 

3. Plaintiff welcomes Neoforma’s participation in drafting the pretrial order which will replace the 

present complaint. 

Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith  

#KS00500 

Kansas Supreme Court ID # 20380 

2961 SW Central Park, # G33,  

Topeka, KS 66611 

1-785-876-2233 

1-785-267-4084 

landrithlaw@cox.net 
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Certificate of Service 

 

 I certify that on April 19th, 2005 I have served the foregoing with the clerk of  the 

court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the  

following: 

 

Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, 

P.C.  1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, Missouri  64105-

1929       

 

Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian Creek 

Parkway  Overland Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 (FAX) 

 

John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  1200 

Main Street  Kansas City, MO  64105-2122     

 

Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott  

34th Floor  50 California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     

 

Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 First 

City Tower  1001 Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     

 

Attorneys for Defendants 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

WESTERN (KANSAS CITY) DIVISION 
 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
NOVATION, LLC 
NEOFORMA, INC. 
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 
CURT NONOMAQUE 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM 
ROBERT J. BAKER 
US BANCORP, NA 
US BANK 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER 
ANDREW CESERE 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES 
ANDREW S. DUFF 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY 
WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C. 
 
  Defendants. 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 05-0210-CV-W-ODS 
 

 
DEFENDANT NEOFORMA INC.’S DISCLOSURE STATEMENT  

PURSUANT TO FRCP RULE 7.1 AND  
CERTIFICATE PURSUANT TO LOCAL RULE 3.1 

 
Pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 7.1 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, Defendant Neoforma, Inc. states following information.  

Neoforma, Inc., a nongovernmental corporate party named as a defendant in this case, is 

a publicly held corporation.  It has no parent corporation.  Although it is unclear whether the 

following fit the definitions intended by Rule 7.1(a), Neoforma, Inc. discloses that 42.4% of its 

stock is held by VHA, Inc. and 10.5% of its stock is held by University Healthsystem 

Consortium.  Each of those entities is a defendant in this lawsuit.  There is no publicly held 
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corporation, with the possible exception of the foregoing, which holds more than 10% of 

Neoforma’s stock. 

Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 3.1, Neoforma hereby certifies the following.  The 

disclosures set forth above are incorporated herein by reference.  In addition, Neoforma states 

that it has no partly owned subsidiaries and no affiliated corporations that have issued shares to 

the public. 

HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By:     /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 35312 
Joel K. Goldman, #40453 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, NEOFORMA, INC., ROBERT J. ZOLLARS, 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on April 4, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the clerk of 
the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the 
following:: 
 

Bret D. Landrith landrithlaw@cox.net 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05-CV-0210-CV-ODS 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
 

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO TRANSFER, DISMISS AND/OR STRIKE 

Defendants US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. 

Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare and Andrew S. Duff move for an Order of the Court transferring the 

above-captioned matter to the United States District Court for the District of Kansas.  Alternatively, 

defendants ask that the Court dismiss the plaintiff’s Complaint in its entirety and/or strike certain 

impertinent and scandalous allegations.  Because plaintiff first filed this case against many of these 

same defendants in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas, and part of the case 

remains pending, plaintiff’s claims and causes of action should be transferred to the District of 

Kansas for further handling.  Further, this case is no different from the one filed by plaintiff’s 

counsel in the District of Kansas, which was dismissed and affirmed by the Tenth Circuit Court of 

Appeals.1  As such, res judicata and/or collateral estoppel plainly apply to those claims dismissed.  

Plaintiff has also failed to properly serve the defendants in this case.  For these reasons, should the 

Court deny defendants’ motion to transfer, plaintiff’s case should be dismissed in its entirety. 

As additional reasons for this motion, defendants state: 

                                                 
1 Case No. 02-2539-CM (D. Kan.); Case No. 03-3342 (10th Cir.).  Defendants note that the 

previous dismissal pertained to the claims creating federal subject matter jurisdiction, i.e., the claims 
asserting application of federal law.  Plaintiff’s state law claims were also dismissed but without 
prejudice after the trial court refused supplemental jurisdiction. 
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1. Defendants request that this Court transfer the case to the United States District Court 

for the District of Kansas, where plaintiff first filed its complaint raising these claims.  Plaintiff 

chose the District Court in Kansas to bring its claims and is now engaging in forum shopping in an 

attempt to avoid numerous rulings that have significantly and negatively impacted plaintiff’s case.  

Moreover, the Court in Kansas is familiar with the parties, their counsel, facts and claims, thus 

transfer will create judicial economy and serve to conserve the Court’s judicial recourses. 

2. In the alternative, plaintiff’s claims and causes of action should be dismissed.  

Plaintiff has filed a lengthy and prolix sixteen-count complaint seeking over $3,000,000,000 in 

damages.  Like its first Complaint filed in Kansas federal court, this one is legally deficient.  While 

the allegations are asserted generally against all “defendants,” the causes of action are not supported 

by the facts or the law. 

3. Plaintiff’s federal antitrust claims (Counts I-V) are legally insufficient.  The factual 

allegations do not support claims under the Sherman Act.  Further, plaintiff’s Sherman Act claims 

were considered and rejected by the District Court in Kansas and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals.  

As such, plaintiff’s Sherman Act claims are barred by res judicata and/or collateral estoppel. 

4. Plaintiff’s claims under Mo. Rev. Stat. §§ 416.031, 416.121 and 416.071 (Counts VI-

IX) are likewise barred by res judicata because they could have been brought in the Kansas action.  

These claims are identical to plaintiff’s federal antitrust claims and are to be construed in accordance 

with federal antitrust law.  As such, the Kansas District Court’s dismissal of plaintiff’s federal 

antitrust claims as insufficient to state a cognizable claim as a matter of law also dictates dismissal of 

the state law antitrust claims here.  Merely by clothing these causes of action as state antitrust claims, 

plaintiff cannot avoid dismissal on the same grounds as the previously rejected federal antitrust 

claims. 
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5. Plaintiff’s claim under the USA Patriot Act (Count XVI) likewise is insufficient as a 

matter of law.  No cause of action exists against the defendants based upon the federal statute and the 

facts alleged.  Further, plaintiff’s Patriot Act claim was considered and rejected by the Kansas 

District Court and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals.  As such, plaintiff’s Patriot Act claim is 

barred by res judicata and/or collateral estoppel. 

6. Plaintiff’s RICO cause of action (Count XV) fails to state of claim upon which relief 

may be granted.  It is also barred by the doctrines of collateral estoppel and/or res judicata because, 

in the Kansas District Court, plaintiff asserted that its Hobbs claim was in actuality a RICO claim.  

The Court rejected this argument and dismissed the claim, which the Tenth Circuit affirmed.  

Because it was a claim that either was or could have been brought, res judicata bars the action. 

7. Plaintiff’s cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty (Count XII) fails to state a 

claim upon which relief may be granted.  Under the allegations, it is clear that no fiduciary 

relationship existed between any defendant and plaintiff. 

8. Plaintiff’s cause of action for fraud and deceit (Count XIII) fails to state a claim upon 

which relief may be granted.  Under the allegations, plaintiff has not alleged sufficient facts to show 

that any misrepresentation of material fact was made to plaintiff by any defendant, or that plaintiff 

relied on any such statement even if it was made. 

9. Plaintiff’s claims for “tortuous” interference with contracts or prospective contracts 

fail as a matter of law (Count X).  Plaintiff has not alleged sufficient facts to show any improper 

purpose, wrongful interference, or that defendants lacked justification. 

10. Plaintiff’s cause of action for breach of contract (Count XI) fails to state a claim upon 

which relief may be granted.  Under the allegations, it is clear that no contract was ever formed. 
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11. Plaintiff’s prima facie tort claim (Count XIV) fails to plead a cognizable cause of 

action.  Plaintiff maintains that defendants’ acts were “unlawful,” thus an essential element of 

plaintiff’s cause of action is missing. 

12. Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), allegations that are insufficient to state a claim upon 

which relief may be granted are to be dismissed.  Because the claims asserted here are insufficient as 

a matter of law, the complaint should be dismissed. 

13. Plaintiff’s attempts at service of process are insufficient and any process served 

improper.  Thus, the Complaint may be dismissed under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(4), (5). 

14. Plaintiff’s claims regarding or referencing Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the law 

firm of “Shughart, Thomson & Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.,” are immaterial, impertinent and 

scandalous under Rule 12(f).  Plaintiff makes these allegations solely in an attempt to embarrass and 

vilify the Magistrate and the law firm representing these defendants.  The allegations should be 

stricken. 

15. Defendants hereby incorporate the Suggestions in Support of their Motion, as well as 

adopt the arguments and authorities of other movant defendants in their separate motions to dismiss. 

WHEREFORE, for all of these reasons, defendants request that the Court enter its Order 

transferring the above-captioned matter to the United States District Court for the District of Kansas, 

or in the alternative, dismissing the plaintiff’s Complaint in its entirety and/or striking certain 

impertinent and scandalous allegations concerning Federal Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the law 

firm of “Shughart, Thomson & Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.” under Rule 12(f). 
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Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF #38572 
JONATHAN H. GREGOR #50443 
LOGAN W. OVERMAN #55002 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
 
ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES, 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CESARE 
AND ANDREW S. DUFF 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing document was filed electronically 
with the above-captioned court, with notice of case activity to be generated and sent electronically 
by the Clerk of said court (with a copy to be mailed to any individuals who do not receive electronic 
notice from the Clerk) this 4th day of April, 2005, to: 

Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
#G33 
2961 SW Central Park 
Topeka, KS  66611 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
John K. Power, Esq. 
Husch & Eppenberger, LLC 
1700 One Kansas City Place 
1200 Main Street 
Kansas City, MO  64105-2122 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq. 
Natausha Wilson, Esq. 
Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott 
34th Floor 
50 California Street 
San Francisco, CA  94111 
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq. 
Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq. 
Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. 
2300 First City Tower 
1001 Fannin 
Houston, TX  77002 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05-CV-0210-CV-ODS 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 

 
 

 

SUGGESTIONS IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’ 
MOTION TO TRANSFER, DISMISS AND/OR STRIKE 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff first filed this case in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas, 

where part of the case remains pending.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp et al., Case 

No. 02-2539-CM.  Plaintiff chose the Kansas District Court in originally bringing this action and 

plaintiff’s attempt to now avoid the numerous and negative rulings from that court, as affirmed by 

the Tenth Circuit, is blatant forum shopping.  This case should be transferred to the Kansas District 

Court for further handling because that court is familiar with it and with plaintiff’s counsel.  

28 U.S.C. § 1404.  In the alternative, should transfer not be ordered, defendants US Bancorp, 

U.S. Bank National Association, Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare and 

Andrew S. Duff should be dismissed from this case.  Plaintiff’s allegations fail to state a claim upon 

which relief may be granted.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  Further, many of plaintiff’s claims and 

causes of action are barred by the doctrines of collateral estoppel and res judicata.  Plaintiff has also 

failed to properly serve the defendants in this case.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(4), (5).  Finally, plaintiff’s 

allegations regarding or referencing Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the law firm of “Shughart, 

Thomson Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.” are immaterial, impertinent and scandalous and should be 

stricken.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f). 

II. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS SHOULD BE TRANSFERRED TO THE DISTRICT OF 
KANSAS FOR FURTHER ADJUDICATION. 

Defendants request this case be transferred to the United States District Court for the District 

of Kansas. 28 U.S.C. § 1404(a).1  Plaintiff filed a lawsuit against most of these same defendants in 

the United States District Court for the District of Kansas in 2002, styled Medical Supply Chain, Inc. 

                                                 
1 Title 28 U.S.C. Sec. 1404(a), states in its entirety: 
 
 (a)  For the convenience of the parties and witnesses, in the interest of justice, 
a district court may transfer any civil action to any other district or division where it 
might have been brought. 
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v. US Bancorp, NA, et al., Case No. 02-2539-CM, and asserted virtually identical claims arising out 

of the same transactions and same set of operative facts as area alleged in this 600-plus paragraph 

Complaint.  With the exception of plaintiff’s Missouri antitrust claim, breach of fiduciary duty and 

prima facie tort claims, plaintiff filed all of the same claims and causes of action in the Kansas 

District Court case.  That case remains pending before Kansas District Court on defendants’ motion 

for attorneys’ fees awarded by the Tenth Circuit.  (Exs. B, H.) 

Federal courts have consistently and uniformly ordered section 1404(a) transfers to other 

federal district courts when related lawsuits are pending in the transferring court, and have used quite 

strong language in so doing.  For example, in Prudential Insurance Co. of America v. Rodano, 493 

F. Supp. 954 (E.D. Pa. 1980), the court ordered transfer, stating: 

“The most compelling reason for transfer is that it would best serve the interests of 
justice.  The presence of two related cases in the transferee forum is a substantial 
reason to grant a change of venue.  The interests of justice and the convenience of the 
parties and witnesses are ill-served when federal cases arising out of the same issues 
are allowed to proceed separately.” 

Id. at 955.  See also Islamic Republic of Iran v. Boeing Co., 477 F. Supp. 142, 144 (D. D.C. 

1979) (“Most importantly, litigation of liability issues closely similar to issues pending for over two 

years in another federal court would be a grossly inefficient use of judicial resources.  Litigation of 

such related claims in the same forum is strongly favored.”). 

As in Republic of Islam, the lawsuit plaintiff filed in the District of Kansas has also been 

pending for over two years, having been filed in 2002.  The Kansas District Court previously ruled 

on the sufficiency of the same allegations and claims plaintiff asserts in this lawsuit.  Further, 

conserving judicial resources and the interests of justice by avoiding the possibility of conflicting 

rulings from different courts strongly favors transferring this lawsuit to the District of Kansas. 

Several federal courts have also recognized that avoiding multiplicity of litigation is given 

great, even decisive, weight in deciding whether to transfer a case under § 1404(a).  See Cali v. East 
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Coast Aviation Services, Ltd., 178 F. Supp.2d 276, 295 (E.D. N.Y. 2001), (“. . . courts have given 

great weight to the need to avoid multiplicity of litigation . . . litigation of related claims in the same 

tribunal is strongly favored. . . .”); Goggins v. Alliance Capital Management L.P., 279 F. Supp.2d 

228, 234 (S.D. N.Y. 2003) (“. . . there is a strong policy favoring the litigation of related claims in 

the same tribunal. . . .”); Dahl v. Hem Pharmaceuticals Corp., 867 F. Supp. 194, 197 (S.D. N.Y. 

1994) (“It would be a patent misuse of judicial resources to require another Federal District Court 

(and perhaps another Court of Appeals) to review and become familiar with facts and circumstances 

already extensively excavated by another Federal Court”) (emphasis added); Monsanto Technology, 

Inc. v. Syngenta Crop Protection, Inc., 212 F. Supp.2d 1101, 1103 (E.D. Mo. 2002) (In cases where 

issues substantially overlap, transfer is necessary if there is a serious danger of District Courts 

making inconsistent determinations on material issues); see also Wright & Miller, Federal Practice 

and Procedure, Sec. 3854, pp. 441-442 and numerous cases cited therein. 

Significantly, plaintiff originally chose the Kansas District Court as the forum for its lawsuit.  

Now, plaintiff engages in the most egregious form of “forum-shopping” in a baseless attempt to 

avoid further negative rulings from that Court and the Tenth Circuit.  Such disregard for the courts, 

the judicial system, the interests of justice and the rights of these defendants should not be rewarded. 

III. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED 
BECAUSE IT FAILS TO STATE ANY CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE 
GRANTED 

A. Standard for Dismissal 

In deciding a motion to dismiss, this Court must accept the well-pled factual allegations in 

the complaint as true and grant the plaintiff the benefit of any inferences that are reasonably 

supported by those factual allegations.  However, the “court is free to ignore legal conclusions, 

unsupported conclusions, unwarranted inferences and sweeping legal conclusions cast in the form of 

factual allegations.”  Wiles v. Capitol Indemnity Corp., 280 F.3d 868, 870 (8th Cir. 2002).  Stated 
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differently, this Court need not “blindly accept the legal conclusions drawn by the pleader from the 

facts.”  Westcott v. City of Omaha, 901 F.2d 1486, 1488 (8th Cir. 1990).  Plaintiff’s allegations are 

conclusory, invite unwarranted inferences and the various tort and statutory claims asserted are 

meritless on their face, even when viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff.  Accordingly, 

dismissal is appropriate in this case. 

B. Plaintiff’s Claims and Causes of Action are Barred by the Doctrines of 
Collateral Estoppel and/or Res judicata. 

Many of plaintiff’s claims and causes of action asserted here are barred by the doctrines of 

collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.  Plaintiff’s earlier lawsuit (Ex. A)2 was based upon the same 

conduct, transaction, set of operative facts and claims alleged here.  Not only were the federal claims 

asserted by this same plaintiff rejected and dismissed by the Kansas District Court (Ex. D), but the 

Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals also affirmed the District Court’s decision. (Ex. E). 

Federal law governs the collateral estoppel and/or res judicata effect of an earlier federal 

judgment based on federal law.  Poe v. John Deere Co., 695 F.2d 1103, 1105 (8th Cir. 1982).  The 

plaintiff’s 2002 lawsuit was filed in the federal District Court of Kansas and the Court decided the 

issues based upon federal law.  See Roach v. Teamsters Local Union No. 688, 595 F.2d 446 n.3 (8th 

Cir. 1979).  Collateral estoppel bars the relitigation of factual or legal issues that were determined in 

a prior court action, and applies to bar relitigation in federal court of issues previously determined.  

In re Elisabeth Scarborough, 171 F.3d 638, 641 (8th Cir. 1999).  The preclusion principle of res 

judicata prevents “the relitigation of a claim on grounds that were raised or could have been raised 

in the prior suit.”  Lane v. Peterson, 899 F.2d 737, 741 (8th Cir 1990) (emphasis added), cert. 

denied, 498 U.S. 823 (1990).  Under federal law, the doctrine of res judicata bars relitigation of a 

                                                 
2 Plaintiff also filed another suit in Kansas District Court, Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. 

General Electric Co., et al., Case No. 03-2324-CM (Ex. C) which was also dismissed.  Many of the 
same allegations are included in this Complaint. 
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claim if:  “(1) the prior judgment was rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction; (2) the prior 

judgment was a final judgment on the merits, and (3) the same cause of action and the same parties 

or their privies were involved in both cases.”  Id.; see also Hillary v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 123 

F.3d 1041, 1043 (8th Cir. 1997), cert denied, 522 U.S. 1090 (1998); Headley v. Bacon, 828 F.2d 

1272, 1274 (8th Cir. 1987).3 

Plaintiff’s federal antitrust claims (Counts I-IV) were considered and rejected by the District 

Court in Kansas and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals. (Exs. D, E.)  As such, plaintiff’s Sherman 

Act claims are barred completely by collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.  Plaintiff’s Missouri 

antitrust claims likewise should also be barred by collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.  The 

Missouri Antitrust Act closely parallels provisions of the Sherman Act.  Defino v. Civic Center 

Corp., 718 S.W.2d 505, 510 (Mo. Ct. App. 1986).  Missouri state antitrust claims are “construed in 

harmony with ruling judicial interpretations of comparable federal antitrust statutes.”  Mo. Rev. Stat. 

§ 416.141; Fischer, et al. v. Forrest T. Jones & Co., 586 S.W.2d 310, 313 (Mo. banc 1979).  

Because the plaintiff’s Sherman Act claims were considered and rejected by the Kansas District 

Court and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, plaintiff’s identical Missouri antitrust claim–being 

one that “could have been raised in the prior suit,” see Lane, 899 F.2d at 741–is likewise barred by 

collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.  Additionally, plaintiff’s claim under Section 8 of the Clayton 

Act (Count V) is barred by collateral estoppel and/or res judicata because it “could have” been 

raised in the prior suit and, in fact, plaintiff alleged that defendants violated antitrust laws by 

participating in interlocking directorates.  (Ex. A ¶ 82.) 

                                                 
3 Section 24 of the Restatement (Second) of Judgments also provides that :  When a valid and 

final judgment rendered in an action extinguishes the plaintiff’s claim pursuant to the rules of merger 
or bar[,] . . . the claim extinguished includes all rights of the plaintiff to remedies against the 
defendant with respect to all or any part of the transaction, or series of connected transactions, out of 
which the action arose.  Thus, “a claim is barred by res judicata if it arises out of the same nucleus of 
operative facts as the prior claim.”  Lane v. Peterson, 899 F.2d at 742. 
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Plaintiff’s claims under the USA Patriot Act (Count XVI) were also considered and rejected 

by the District Court in Kansas and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals.  (Exs. D, E.)  As such, 

plaintiff’s Patriot Act claim here is barred by collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.  Additionally, 

plaintiff’s RICO claim (Count XV) should be dismissed under collateral estoppel and/or res 

judicata.  In plaintiff’s Answer to Defendants’ Reply Memorandum in Support of Motions to 

Dismiss filed in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas on April 28, 2003, 

plaintiff argued its Hobbs Act claim was a RICO claim.  (Ex. F, p. 40.)  Plaintiff posited that its 

Amended Complaint asserting violations of the Hobbs Act were sufficient to state an actionable 

RICO claim for “racketeering extortion.”  (Id. at 40-41.)  The Kansas District Court dismissed the 

Hobbs claim outright and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed.  (Exs. D, E.) 

Plaintiff’s RICO claim in the present case is based upon the same conduct, transaction and 

set of operative facts.  Plaintiff actually asserted (or “could have” asserted) its RICO claim in the 

Kansas federal case.  See Lane, 899 F.2d at 741.  Plaintiff’s argument that its Hobbs Act claim was a 

RICO claim is ample evidence that it did bring or “could have” brought this claim in the Kansas case 

and it is now barred under the doctrine of res judicata.  Alternatively, the RICO claim asserted here 

should be dismissed under the doctrine of collateral estoppel because it was considered and finally 

determined against plaintiff in the District Court of Kansas as affirmed by the Tenth Circuit. 

In dismissing the 2002 complaint, the District Court of Kansas determined that plaintiff 

failed to state a claim for relief under each of the federal antitrust acts alleged in the Complaint and 

that there was no private right of action under the USA Patriot Act. (Ex. D.)  The Tenth Circuit 

concluded that the District Court correctly decided the case and affirmed the decision for the same 

reasons stated by the District Court.  (Ex. E.)  The Missouri antitrust claim, “interlocking 
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directorate” claim and RICO claim also “could have” been brought before and are subject to 

dismissal for the same reasons.  The claims are barred by collateral estoppel and/ or res judicata. 

C. Plaintiff’s Remaining State Law Claims Should Be Dismissed For Failure to 
State a Claim under Rule 12(b)(6). 

1. Count X- Damages for “Tortuous” Interference with Contract or 
Business Expectancy 

Count X of plaintiff’s Complaint alleges that “defendants” interfered with “trust accounts 

with U.S. Bank” and some unknown putative sale or lease arrangement with “General Electric 

Transportation Co.”  (Complaint, ¶ 530.)  Tortious interference with a contract or business 

expectancy requires plaintiff to plead the following elements:  (1) a contract or valid business 

expectancy; (2) defendant’s knowledge of the contract or relationship; (3) an intentional interference 

by the defendant inducing or causing a breach of the contract or relationship; (4) absence of 

justification; and (5) damages.  Acetylene Gas Co. v. Oliver, 939 S.W.2d 404, 408 (Mo. App. E.D. 

1996).  “[N]o liability arises if the defendant had an unqualified legal right to do the act complained 

of.”  Id.  Further, “[t]he mere fact that defendant’s conduct may have had a negative effect on 

plaintiffs’ business expectancies does not, a fortiori, establish an absence of justification.”  

Community Title Co. v. Roosevelt Federal Sav. and Loan Ass’n, 796 S.W.2d 369, 373 (Mo. 1990). 

Here, beyond plaintiff’s conclusory and unsupported allegations of wrongful conduct on the 

part of defendants, there are no facts supporting this claim.  There are no facts that any defendant 

wrongfully interfered with any of plaintiff’s alleged contracts or business expectancies.  There are no 

facts indicating in any way that defendants were unjustified in declining to provide trust account 

services.  The mere fact that plaintiff claims harm because of U.S. Bank’s legitimate business 

decision to decline services to plaintiff is not enough to support liability on the part of any defendant 

in this case.  Moreover, defendants cannot be sued for interfering in their own purported contract to 

provide trust accounts.  See Wigley v. Capital Bank, 887 S.W.2d 715, 720 (Mo. Ct. App. 1994). 
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Plaintiff’s interference claims also are not cognizable under Missouri law, as the party in 

contract with the plaintiff claiming tortious interference must have committed the breach or 

termination, not the party suing for tortious interference.  See Xavier v. Bumbarner & Hubbell 

Anesthesiologists, 923 S.W.2d 428 (Mo. App. 1996); Schlictig v. Reichel, 770 S.W.2d 493 (Mo. 

App. 1989); Birdsong v. Bydalek, 953 S.W.2d 103 (Mo. App. 1997) (“the party whose performance 

[under the contract] is prevented has a remedy other than a cause of action for tortious interference 

with the performance of the contract”) (emphasis added).  The first paragraph of the applicable 

Missouri verdict director requires the existence of a contract between the plaintiff and a third party, 

which was breached or terminated by the third party.  MAI 23.11.  “The term ‘third party’ means the 

one with whom plaintiff had a contract and the one who, at defendant’s request, breached or 

terminated the contract.”  MAI 23.11, n.2 (emphasis added).  In other words, plaintiff must show that 

its “individual representative candidates” breached their agreement with plaintiff, not the other way 

around.  Birdsong clearly shows that plaintiff in this case is not the “third party” who can make a 

tortious interference claim. 

2. Count XI:  Damages for Breach of Contract 

Plaintiff’s breach of contract claim is without merit.  The elements of a breach of contract 

claim are:  (1) an agreement between parties capable of contracting; (2) mutual obligations arising 

thereunder with respect to a definite subject matter; (3) a valid consideration; (4) part performance 

by one party and prevention of further performance by the other; and (5) damages measured by the 

contract and resulting from its breach.  Scher v. Sindel, 837 S.W.2d 350, 354 (Mo. App. E.D. 1992). 

The basis for plaintiff’s breach of contract claim is that plaintiff’s representative, Samuel 

Lipari (“Lipari”) spoke with Brian Kabbes of U.S. Bank about plaintiff’s desire for escrow accounts; 

that Kabbes e-mailed Lipari a contract; that Lipari and Kabbes agreed to lower the normal fees for 

escrow agent services (Complaint at ¶ 265); that on or about October 5, 2002, Kabbes indicated that 
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paragraph 10 of the agreement would need to be changed to create a security interest in the portion 

of an escrow account upon any part of it becoming plaintiff’s property; that plaintiff made these 

changes and e-mailed the revised document back to Kabbes for review (id. at ¶ 266); that on or about 

October 8, 2002, a U.S. Bank employee told Lipari that she had been told by Kabbes that the escrow 

accounts were a “slam dunk” (id. at ¶ 267); that on or about October 9, 2002, Kabbes again 

requested a change in the escrow contract and also indicated that there would be no more changes 

(id. at ¶ 268); that Kabbes also requested corporate good standing documentation from plaintiff; and 

that Kabbes “made no statement that U.S. Bank had yet to approve MSCI’s escrow accounts and 

sought no additional information.”  (Id. at ¶ 269.) 

Plaintiff identifies various terms of the alleged oral agreement as further evidence of a 

contract.  These include the escrow form, the name and address of Kabbes as escrow agent on the 

escrow forms, the price U.S. Bank would charge, and fund investment language.  (Id. at ¶ 266, 268.)  

Clearly, plaintiff’s allegations are insufficient to state a claim for breach of contract because no 

contract, oral or otherwise, was formed.  There is no allegation of a final document signed by both 

plaintiff and U.S. Bank. 

It is hornbook law that the existence of a valid and enforceable contract is dependent upon 

agreement of the parties, or meeting of the minds, upon the terms of that contract.  Smith v. 

Hammons, 63 S.W.3d 320, 325 (Mo. App. S.D. 2002).  As the Hammons court stated: 

“Negotiations or preliminary steps towards a contract do not constitute a contract.  
The existence of a contract necessitates a ‘meeting of the minds’ which the court 
determines by looking at the intention of the parties as expressed in their words or 
acts.  Whether a contract is made and, if so, what the terms of that contract are, 
depend upon what is actually said and done and not upon the understanding or 
supposition of one of the parties.” 

Id. (quoting Gateway Exteriors, Inc. v. Suntide Homes, Inc., 882 S.W.2d 275, 279 (Mo. App. 

E.D. 1994) (emphasis supplied).  Plaintiff and U.S. Bank were negotiating a potential written 
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contract which never came to fruition.  Obviously, had there been a meeting of the minds between 

the parties, the contract the parties were negotiating would have been executed.  Plaintiff’s 

supposition that an oral contract was formed based on the negotiation of the terms of a potential 

written agreement is insufficient to support its claim.  Hammons, 63 S.W.3d at 325. 

No reasonable person reviewing  the facts as set forth in plaintiff’s Complaint could conclude 

that a contract was formed between plaintiff and U.S. Bank or any other defendant.  Nowhere in the 

Complaint does plaintiff allege that any U.S. Bank representative, including Kabbes, stated or even 

implied that the escrow accounts had been approved by U.S. Bank.  It is clear that the changes 

allegedly suggested by Kabbes and agreed to by plaintiff were indicative of parties negotiating a 

potential contract.  Any assertion that a contract was formed based on a statement by a U.S. Bank 

employee that Kabbes told her the escrow accounts were a “slam dunk” is patently unreasonable.  

Such a statement, even if made, is insufficient to establish the existence of a contract.  Additionally, 

plaintiff never heard this from Kabbes, and by its own admission, continued to negotiate with 

Kabbes regarding the content of the proposed agreement the day after this statement was allegedly 

made.  (Id. at ¶¶ 268-69.) 

Plaintiff likewise cannot rely on its claim that Kabbes did not tell Lipari that U.S. Bank had 

yet to approve the escrow accounts.  In essence, plaintiff asserts that it had a legal right to assume 

that the accounts were approved and a contract was formed unless and until it was told otherwise.  

This position is untenable.  Plaintiff’s bare assertion of a contract, based on the allegations set forth 

in the Complaint, fails to sufficiently plead a claim for breach of contract.  Scher, 837 S.W.2d at 354.  

Accordingly, Count XI should be dismissed. 

3. Count XII:  Damages for Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

Plaintiff generally alleges that defendants owed it a “fiduciary duty” but fails to provide any 

factual basis for this particular allegation.  A claim for breach of fiduciary duty has four elements:  
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(1) the existence of a fiduciary relationship between the parties, (2) a breach of that fiduciary duty, 

(3) causation, and (4) harm.  Koger v. Hartford Life Ins. Co., 28 S.W.3d 405, 411 (Mo. Ct. App. 

2000).  A fiduciary is a person having a duty to “act primarily for the benefit of another in matters 

connected with his undertaking.”  See Restatement (Second) Agency  13 cmt. a (1957); Restatement 

(Second) of Trusts § 2 (1958).  While Missouri has not adopted a precise common-law definition, a 

“fiduciary relationship” may exist when “a special confidence [is] reposed in one who in equity and 

good conscience is bound to act in good faith, and with due regard to the interests of the one 

reposing the confidence.”  Vogel v. A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc., 801 S.W.2d 746, 751 (Mo. Ct. App. 

1990).  Plaintiff cannot, however, unilaterally foist a fiduciary duty upon a defendant in the absence 

of some agreement or conduct by the defendants to accept such a responsibility.  Arnold v. Erkmann, 

934 S.W.2d 621, 630 (Mo. Ct. App. 1996).  Nor does a business relationship give rise to a fiduciary 

relationship.  Kratky v. Musil, 969 S.W.2d 371, 377 (Mo. Ct. App. 1998). 

No fiduciary relationship between plaintiff and defendants ever existed.  Accordingly, 

Count XII should be dismissed. 

4. Count XIII:  Damages for Fraud and Deceit 

Count XIII of the Complaint purports to claim damages for fraud and deceit.  Plaintiff 

generally claims that all of the “acts, practices, misrepresentations, violations and other wrongs 

complained of” set forth in 553 separate paragraphs form its fraud claim.  (Complaint ¶ 555.)  This 

claim is utterly nonsensical and insufficient as a matter of Missouri law and pleading under the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, namely Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). 

The elements of fraudulent misrepresentation are:  (1) a false, material representation; (2) the 

speaker’s knowledge of its falsity or his ignorance of its truth; (3) the speaker’s intent that it should 

be acted upon by the hearer in the manner reasonably contemplated; (4) the hearer’s ignorance of the 

falsity of the statement; (5) the hearer’s reliance on its truth, and the right to rely thereon; and 
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(6) proximate injury.  Premium Financing Specialists, Inc. v. Hullin, 90 S.W.3d 110, 115 (Mo. App. 

W.D. 2002).  There must be more than mere suspicion, surmise and speculation.  Blanke v. 

Hendrickson, 944 S.W.2d 943, 944 (Mo. Ct. App. 1997). 

Plaintiff’s fraud claim delineated in Count XIII is legally insufficient.  Not only does it fail to 

provide the explicit detail contemplated in Fed. R. Civ. P. (9)(b), it also fails to plead sufficient facts 

under Missouri law.  For example, plaintiff nowhere alleges the precise misrepresentation(s) at issue.  

Plaintiff nowhere alleged in Count XIII that it relied on any misrepresentations or was ignorant of 

the supposed falsity.  Finally, plaintiff’s claim is nonsensical because it could not have been 

damaged by any alleged misrepresentation since the escrow accounts were never offered or provided 

to plaintiff in the first place.  There was no reversal on the part of U.S. Bank with respect to these 

services.  For these reasons, Count XIII should be dismissed. 

5. Count XIV:  Damages for Prima Facie Tort 

Count XIV of the plaintiff’s complaint should be dismissed for failure to plead each one of 

the required four elements of a prima facie tort.  Lohse v. St. Louis Children’s Hospital, Inc., 646 

S.W.2d 130, 131 (Mo. Ct. App. 1983).  The specific elements of a prima facie tort claim are:  (1) an 

intentional lawful act by the defendant; (2) an intent to cause injury to the plaintiff; (3) injury to the 

plaintiff; and (4) an absence of any justification or an insufficient justification for the defendant’s 

act.  Rice v. Hodapp, 919 S.W.2d 240 (Mo. 1996) (en banc).  Failure to plead a defendant committed 

an intentional lawful act is fatal to a claim for prima facie tort.  Bradley v. Ray, 904 S.W.2d 302 

(Mo. Ct. App. 1995). 

The thrust of a prima facie tort claim is the intentional undertaking of an otherwise lawful 

act, which is done with the intent to cause injury to the plaintiff, and which is without any 

recognized justification.  Here plaintiff failed to allege action by the defendants which is both 

intentional and lawful.  In fact, plaintiff specifically alleges the “acts and activities of defendants are 
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still unlawful and fraudulent.”  (Complaint ¶ 564) (emphasis added).)  For these reasons, Count XIV 

should be dismissed. 

D. Plaintiff Failed to Properly Serve the Defendants Under the Federal Rules of 
Civil Procedure. 

Plaintiff has failed to effect proper service on any of the defendants.  Plaintiff simply mailed 

each of the defendants a summons by registered mail, return receipt requested.  (See returns of 

service, attached hereto as Ex. G.)  However, none of the receipts were signed by any of the 

individual defendants or by an authorized agent of any corporate defendant.  Id. 

A plaintiff may, among other things, notify a defendant of the commencement of the action 

and request that the defendant waive service of the summons.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(2).  If the 

defendant returns the waiver, and the plaintiff files the waiver with the court, “the action shall 

proceed . . . as if a summons and complaint had been served at the time of filing the waiver.”  Id. at 

4(d)(4).  “However, if the defendant does not waive service, service has not been effected.”  Larsen 

v. Mayo Medical Center, 218 F.3d 863, 867-68 (8th Cir. 2000) (citing Gulley v. Mayo Found., 886 

F.2d 161, 165 (8th Cir. 1989) (“[T]he provisions of [Rule 4] are to be strictly complied 

with . . . therefore, if the acknowledgement form is not returned, the formal requirements of mail 

service are not met and personal service must be obtained.” (internal quotation marks omitted)); 

Alholm v. American Steamship Co., 144 F.3d 1172, 1176 (8th Cir. 1998) (noting mail service 

ineffective when acknowledgement form not returned).  Here, plaintiff has failed to seek or to obtain 

waivers of service and has simply mailed a summons to each of the defendants.  This is plainly 

insufficient to comply with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  Because none of the defendants 

waived service, and none of the defendants has filed or served a consent to mail service, the 

requirements for service by mail were not met and this action should be dismissed.  Larsen 218 F.3d 

at 868. 
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Further, even if plaintiff were to argue that service is proper on these defendants under 

Minnesota state law, because none of the defendants signed the return receipt (or for that matter, 

returned an acknowledgment of service to plaintiff, which was never requested or offered by plaintiff 

here), plaintiff has still failed to establish proper service.  Gulley, 886 F.2d at 165-66 (holding 

service by certified mail was ineffective for two reasons:  first, because someone other than 

defendant signed the green return receipt; and second, because the defendant never returned the 

acknowledgement of service form); see also Coons v. St. Paul Companies, 486 N.W.2d 771 (Minn. 

App. 1992). 

IV. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS REFERENCING MAGISTRATE JAMES P. O’HARA AND 
THE LAW FIRM OF “SHUGHART, THOMSON KILROY WATKINS BOULWARE, 
P.C.” SHOULD BE STRICKEN. 

Plaintiff’s claims regarding or referencing Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the law firm of 

“Shughart, Thomson Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.”, are immaterial, impertinent and scandalous 

within the meaning of Rule 12(f).  Plaintiff makes these allegations solely in an attempt to embarrass 

and vilify the Magistrate and the law firm engaged to represent these defendants.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f) provides “[u]pon motion made by a party before responding to a pleading . . . or 

upon the court’s own initiative at any time, the court may order stricken from any pleading any 

insufficient defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter.”  The court is 

afforded broad discretion in ruling on a motion to strike.  See Nationwide Ins. Co. v. Cent. Mo. Elec. 

Co-op., 278 F.3d 742, 748 (8th Cir. 2001) (“[A] district court enjoys liberal discretion under 

Rule 12(f).”); Stanbury Law Firm v. I.R.S., 221 F.3d 1059, 1063 (8th Cir. 2000) (“Because 

Rule 12(f) is stated in the permissive, however, it has always been understood that the district court 

enjoys liberal discretion thereunder.”). 

This Court should exercise its discretion and specifically strike paragraphs 399-418, 443, 

490, 491, 512, 540, 548, 549, 578-583, 585 and 613 of plaintiff’s Complaint as these allegations are 
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immaterial to the claims, add nothing to the Complaint and were included solely for a malevolent 

purpose.  Each of the allegations asserted against Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the law firm of 

“Shughart, Thomson Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.”, is immaterial, impertinent and scandalous 

under Rule 12(f) and should therefore be stricken by this Court.  Young v. Dunlap, 223 F.R.D. 520, 

521-22 (E.D. Mo. 2004); Fletcher v. Conoco Pipe Line Co., 129 F. Supp.2d 1255, 1258 (W.D. Mo. 

2001).4 

V. CONCLUSION 

Defendants request that the Court enter its Order dismissing the plaintiff’s Complaint, to 

strike plaintiff’s allegations concerning Federal Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the law firm of 

“Shughart, Thomson Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.” under Rule 12(f), and/or to transfer plaintiff’s 

Complaint and causes of action to the United States District Court for the District of Kansas. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF #38572 
JONATHAN H. GREGOR #50443 
LOGAN W. OVERMAN #55002 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
120 W 12th Street, Suite 1700 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 

                                                 
4 It is apparent from even a cursory review of the Complaint that the law firm and Magistrate 

O’Hara had no involvement with anything touching upon plaintiff’s claim until the law firm was 
engaged to provide representation of certain defendants in the Kansas District Court case.  
Magistrate O’Hara’s first involvement with plaintiff apparently was with a subsequent suit that 
plaintiff filed.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. General Electric Co., et al., Case No. 03-2324-CM 
(Ex. C). 
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ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY 
COMPANIES, JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, 
ANDREW CESARE AND ANDREW S. 
DUFF 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing document was filed electronically 
with the above-captioned court, with notice of case activity to be generated and sent electronically 
by the Clerk of said court (with a copy to be mailed to any individuals who do not receive electronic 
notice from the Clerk) this 4th day of April, 2005, to: 
 
Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
#G33 
2961 SW Central Park 
Topeka, KS  66611 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
John K. Power, Esq. 
Husch & Eppenberger, LLC 
1700 One Kansas City Place 
1200 Main Street 
Kansas City, MO  64105-2122 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq. 
Natausha Wilson, Esq. 
Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott 
34th Floor 
50 California Street 
San Francisco, CA  94111 
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq. 
Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq. 
Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. 
2300 First City Tower 
1001 Fannin 
Houston, TX  77002 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI  

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI  

 

 MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,   ) 

  Plaintiff,     ) 

v.       ) Case No. 05-0210-CV-W- ODS 

NOVATION, LLC     ) Attorney Lien 

NEOFORMA, INC.     ) 

ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 

VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 

CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 

ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 

US BANCORP, NA     ) 

 US BANK       ) 

JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 

ANDREW CESERE     ) 

THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 

ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 

SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 

WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 

Defendants.    ) 

 
Suggestion In Opposition To Neoforma, Inc.’s Motion To Dismiss Complaint,  Or Alternatively To 

Require Amendment,   Pursuant To F.R.C.P. Rules 8 And 9 

 

Comes now the plaintiff Medical Supply and makes the present suggestion opposing Neoforma 

Inc.’s motion to dismiss or amend the plaintiff’s complaint (doc.s 15, 16 ). 

1. The plaintiff has addressed Neoforma’s Rule 8 and 9 arguments in its suggestion opposing VHA, 

UHC and Novation’s motion for dismissal and incorporates its answer by reference. 

2. The other defendants were able to answer or in the alternative seek dismissal. US Bancorp NA, 

The Piper Jaffray Companies and their corporate officers have a similar Sarbanes-Oxley Act standard to 

meet for their responses. 

3. Plaintiff welcomes Neoforma’s participation in drafting the pretrial order which will replace the 

present complaint. 

Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith  

#KS00500 

Kansas Supreme Court ID # 20380 

2961 SW Central Park, # G33,  

Topeka, KS 66611 

1-785-876-2233 

1-785-267-4084 

landrithlaw@cox.net 
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 2 

 

 

Certificate of Service 

 

 I certify that on April 19th, 2005 I have served the foregoing with the clerk of  the 

court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the  

following: 

 

Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, 

P.C.  1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, Missouri  64105-

1929       

 

Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian Creek 

Parkway  Overland Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 (FAX) 

 

John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  1200 

Main Street  Kansas City, MO  64105-2122     

 

Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott  

34th Floor  50 California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     

 

Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 First 

City Tower  1001 Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     

 

Attorneys for Defendants 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05-CV-0210-CV-ODS 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 

 
 

 

SUGGESTIONS IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’ 
MOTION TO TRANSFER, DISMISS AND/OR STRIKE 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiff first filed this case in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas, 

where part of the case remains pending.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp et al., Case 

No. 02-2539-CM.  Plaintiff chose the Kansas District Court in originally bringing this action and 

plaintiff’s attempt to now avoid the numerous and negative rulings from that court, as affirmed by 

the Tenth Circuit, is blatant forum shopping.  This case should be transferred to the Kansas District 

Court for further handling because that court is familiar with it and with plaintiff’s counsel.  

28 U.S.C. § 1404.  In the alternative, should transfer not be ordered, defendants US Bancorp, 

U.S. Bank National Association, Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare and 

Andrew S. Duff should be dismissed from this case.  Plaintiff’s allegations fail to state a claim upon 

which relief may be granted.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  Further, many of plaintiff’s claims and 

causes of action are barred by the doctrines of collateral estoppel and res judicata.  Plaintiff has also 

failed to properly serve the defendants in this case.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(4), (5).  Finally, plaintiff’s 

allegations regarding or referencing Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the law firm of “Shughart, 

Thomson Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.” are immaterial, impertinent and scandalous and should be 

stricken.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f). 

II. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS SHOULD BE TRANSFERRED TO THE DISTRICT OF 
KANSAS FOR FURTHER ADJUDICATION. 

Defendants request this case be transferred to the United States District Court for the District 

of Kansas. 28 U.S.C. § 1404(a).1  Plaintiff filed a lawsuit against most of these same defendants in 

the United States District Court for the District of Kansas in 2002, styled Medical Supply Chain, Inc. 

                                                 
1 Title 28 U.S.C. Sec. 1404(a), states in its entirety: 
 
 (a)  For the convenience of the parties and witnesses, in the interest of justice, 
a district court may transfer any civil action to any other district or division where it 
might have been brought. 
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v. US Bancorp, NA, et al., Case No. 02-2539-CM, and asserted virtually identical claims arising out 

of the same transactions and same set of operative facts as area alleged in this 600-plus paragraph 

Complaint.  With the exception of plaintiff’s Missouri antitrust claim, breach of fiduciary duty and 

prima facie tort claims, plaintiff filed all of the same claims and causes of action in the Kansas 

District Court case.  That case remains pending before Kansas District Court on defendants’ motion 

for attorneys’ fees awarded by the Tenth Circuit.  (Exs. B, H.) 

Federal courts have consistently and uniformly ordered section 1404(a) transfers to other 

federal district courts when related lawsuits are pending in the transferring court, and have used quite 

strong language in so doing.  For example, in Prudential Insurance Co. of America v. Rodano, 493 

F. Supp. 954 (E.D. Pa. 1980), the court ordered transfer, stating: 

“The most compelling reason for transfer is that it would best serve the interests of 
justice.  The presence of two related cases in the transferee forum is a substantial 
reason to grant a change of venue.  The interests of justice and the convenience of the 
parties and witnesses are ill-served when federal cases arising out of the same issues 
are allowed to proceed separately.” 

Id. at 955.  See also Islamic Republic of Iran v. Boeing Co., 477 F. Supp. 142, 144 (D. D.C. 

1979) (“Most importantly, litigation of liability issues closely similar to issues pending for over two 

years in another federal court would be a grossly inefficient use of judicial resources.  Litigation of 

such related claims in the same forum is strongly favored.”). 

As in Republic of Islam, the lawsuit plaintiff filed in the District of Kansas has also been 

pending for over two years, having been filed in 2002.  The Kansas District Court previously ruled 

on the sufficiency of the same allegations and claims plaintiff asserts in this lawsuit.  Further, 

conserving judicial resources and the interests of justice by avoiding the possibility of conflicting 

rulings from different courts strongly favors transferring this lawsuit to the District of Kansas. 

Several federal courts have also recognized that avoiding multiplicity of litigation is given 

great, even decisive, weight in deciding whether to transfer a case under § 1404(a).  See Cali v. East 
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Coast Aviation Services, Ltd., 178 F. Supp.2d 276, 295 (E.D. N.Y. 2001), (“. . . courts have given 

great weight to the need to avoid multiplicity of litigation . . . litigation of related claims in the same 

tribunal is strongly favored. . . .”); Goggins v. Alliance Capital Management L.P., 279 F. Supp.2d 

228, 234 (S.D. N.Y. 2003) (“. . . there is a strong policy favoring the litigation of related claims in 

the same tribunal. . . .”); Dahl v. Hem Pharmaceuticals Corp., 867 F. Supp. 194, 197 (S.D. N.Y. 

1994) (“It would be a patent misuse of judicial resources to require another Federal District Court 

(and perhaps another Court of Appeals) to review and become familiar with facts and circumstances 

already extensively excavated by another Federal Court”) (emphasis added); Monsanto Technology, 

Inc. v. Syngenta Crop Protection, Inc., 212 F. Supp.2d 1101, 1103 (E.D. Mo. 2002) (In cases where 

issues substantially overlap, transfer is necessary if there is a serious danger of District Courts 

making inconsistent determinations on material issues); see also Wright & Miller, Federal Practice 

and Procedure, Sec. 3854, pp. 441-442 and numerous cases cited therein. 

Significantly, plaintiff originally chose the Kansas District Court as the forum for its lawsuit.  

Now, plaintiff engages in the most egregious form of “forum-shopping” in a baseless attempt to 

avoid further negative rulings from that Court and the Tenth Circuit.  Such disregard for the courts, 

the judicial system, the interests of justice and the rights of these defendants should not be rewarded. 

III. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED 
BECAUSE IT FAILS TO STATE ANY CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE 
GRANTED 

A. Standard for Dismissal 

In deciding a motion to dismiss, this Court must accept the well-pled factual allegations in 

the complaint as true and grant the plaintiff the benefit of any inferences that are reasonably 

supported by those factual allegations.  However, the “court is free to ignore legal conclusions, 

unsupported conclusions, unwarranted inferences and sweeping legal conclusions cast in the form of 

factual allegations.”  Wiles v. Capitol Indemnity Corp., 280 F.3d 868, 870 (8th Cir. 2002).  Stated 
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differently, this Court need not “blindly accept the legal conclusions drawn by the pleader from the 

facts.”  Westcott v. City of Omaha, 901 F.2d 1486, 1488 (8th Cir. 1990).  Plaintiff’s allegations are 

conclusory, invite unwarranted inferences and the various tort and statutory claims asserted are 

meritless on their face, even when viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff.  Accordingly, 

dismissal is appropriate in this case. 

B. Plaintiff’s Claims and Causes of Action are Barred by the Doctrines of 
Collateral Estoppel and/or Res judicata. 

Many of plaintiff’s claims and causes of action asserted here are barred by the doctrines of 

collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.  Plaintiff’s earlier lawsuit (Ex. A)2 was based upon the same 

conduct, transaction, set of operative facts and claims alleged here.  Not only were the federal claims 

asserted by this same plaintiff rejected and dismissed by the Kansas District Court (Ex. D), but the 

Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals also affirmed the District Court’s decision. (Ex. E). 

Federal law governs the collateral estoppel and/or res judicata effect of an earlier federal 

judgment based on federal law.  Poe v. John Deere Co., 695 F.2d 1103, 1105 (8th Cir. 1982).  The 

plaintiff’s 2002 lawsuit was filed in the federal District Court of Kansas and the Court decided the 

issues based upon federal law.  See Roach v. Teamsters Local Union No. 688, 595 F.2d 446 n.3 (8th 

Cir. 1979).  Collateral estoppel bars the relitigation of factual or legal issues that were determined in 

a prior court action, and applies to bar relitigation in federal court of issues previously determined.  

In re Elisabeth Scarborough, 171 F.3d 638, 641 (8th Cir. 1999).  The preclusion principle of res 

judicata prevents “the relitigation of a claim on grounds that were raised or could have been raised 

in the prior suit.”  Lane v. Peterson, 899 F.2d 737, 741 (8th Cir 1990) (emphasis added), cert. 

denied, 498 U.S. 823 (1990).  Under federal law, the doctrine of res judicata bars relitigation of a 

                                                 
2 Plaintiff also filed another suit in Kansas District Court, Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. 

General Electric Co., et al., Case No. 03-2324-CM (Ex. C) which was also dismissed.  Many of the 
same allegations are included in this Complaint. 
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claim if:  “(1) the prior judgment was rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction; (2) the prior 

judgment was a final judgment on the merits, and (3) the same cause of action and the same parties 

or their privies were involved in both cases.”  Id.; see also Hillary v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 123 

F.3d 1041, 1043 (8th Cir. 1997), cert denied, 522 U.S. 1090 (1998); Headley v. Bacon, 828 F.2d 

1272, 1274 (8th Cir. 1987).3 

Plaintiff’s federal antitrust claims (Counts I-IV) were considered and rejected by the District 

Court in Kansas and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals. (Exs. D, E.)  As such, plaintiff’s Sherman 

Act claims are barred completely by collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.  Plaintiff’s Missouri 

antitrust claims likewise should also be barred by collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.  The 

Missouri Antitrust Act closely parallels provisions of the Sherman Act.  Defino v. Civic Center 

Corp., 718 S.W.2d 505, 510 (Mo. Ct. App. 1986).  Missouri state antitrust claims are “construed in 

harmony with ruling judicial interpretations of comparable federal antitrust statutes.”  Mo. Rev. Stat. 

§ 416.141; Fischer, et al. v. Forrest T. Jones & Co., 586 S.W.2d 310, 313 (Mo. banc 1979).  

Because the plaintiff’s Sherman Act claims were considered and rejected by the Kansas District 

Court and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, plaintiff’s identical Missouri antitrust claim–being 

one that “could have been raised in the prior suit,” see Lane, 899 F.2d at 741–is likewise barred by 

collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.  Additionally, plaintiff’s claim under Section 8 of the Clayton 

Act (Count V) is barred by collateral estoppel and/or res judicata because it “could have” been 

raised in the prior suit and, in fact, plaintiff alleged that defendants violated antitrust laws by 

participating in interlocking directorates.  (Ex. A ¶ 82.) 

                                                 
3 Section 24 of the Restatement (Second) of Judgments also provides that :  When a valid and 

final judgment rendered in an action extinguishes the plaintiff’s claim pursuant to the rules of merger 
or bar[,] . . . the claim extinguished includes all rights of the plaintiff to remedies against the 
defendant with respect to all or any part of the transaction, or series of connected transactions, out of 
which the action arose.  Thus, “a claim is barred by res judicata if it arises out of the same nucleus of 
operative facts as the prior claim.”  Lane v. Peterson, 899 F.2d at 742. 
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Plaintiff’s claims under the USA Patriot Act (Count XVI) were also considered and rejected 

by the District Court in Kansas and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals.  (Exs. D, E.)  As such, 

plaintiff’s Patriot Act claim here is barred by collateral estoppel and/or res judicata.  Additionally, 

plaintiff’s RICO claim (Count XV) should be dismissed under collateral estoppel and/or res 

judicata.  In plaintiff’s Answer to Defendants’ Reply Memorandum in Support of Motions to 

Dismiss filed in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas on April 28, 2003, 

plaintiff argued its Hobbs Act claim was a RICO claim.  (Ex. F, p. 40.)  Plaintiff posited that its 

Amended Complaint asserting violations of the Hobbs Act were sufficient to state an actionable 

RICO claim for “racketeering extortion.”  (Id. at 40-41.)  The Kansas District Court dismissed the 

Hobbs claim outright and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed.  (Exs. D, E.) 

Plaintiff’s RICO claim in the present case is based upon the same conduct, transaction and 

set of operative facts.  Plaintiff actually asserted (or “could have” asserted) its RICO claim in the 

Kansas federal case.  See Lane, 899 F.2d at 741.  Plaintiff’s argument that its Hobbs Act claim was a 

RICO claim is ample evidence that it did bring or “could have” brought this claim in the Kansas case 

and it is now barred under the doctrine of res judicata.  Alternatively, the RICO claim asserted here 

should be dismissed under the doctrine of collateral estoppel because it was considered and finally 

determined against plaintiff in the District Court of Kansas as affirmed by the Tenth Circuit. 

In dismissing the 2002 complaint, the District Court of Kansas determined that plaintiff 

failed to state a claim for relief under each of the federal antitrust acts alleged in the Complaint and 

that there was no private right of action under the USA Patriot Act. (Ex. D.)  The Tenth Circuit 

concluded that the District Court correctly decided the case and affirmed the decision for the same 

reasons stated by the District Court.  (Ex. E.)  The Missouri antitrust claim, “interlocking 
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directorate” claim and RICO claim also “could have” been brought before and are subject to 

dismissal for the same reasons.  The claims are barred by collateral estoppel and/ or res judicata. 

C. Plaintiff’s Remaining State Law Claims Should Be Dismissed For Failure to 
State a Claim under Rule 12(b)(6). 

1. Count X- Damages for “Tortuous” Interference with Contract or 
Business Expectancy 

Count X of plaintiff’s Complaint alleges that “defendants” interfered with “trust accounts 

with U.S. Bank” and some unknown putative sale or lease arrangement with “General Electric 

Transportation Co.”  (Complaint, ¶ 530.)  Tortious interference with a contract or business 

expectancy requires plaintiff to plead the following elements:  (1) a contract or valid business 

expectancy; (2) defendant’s knowledge of the contract or relationship; (3) an intentional interference 

by the defendant inducing or causing a breach of the contract or relationship; (4) absence of 

justification; and (5) damages.  Acetylene Gas Co. v. Oliver, 939 S.W.2d 404, 408 (Mo. App. E.D. 

1996).  “[N]o liability arises if the defendant had an unqualified legal right to do the act complained 

of.”  Id.  Further, “[t]he mere fact that defendant’s conduct may have had a negative effect on 

plaintiffs’ business expectancies does not, a fortiori, establish an absence of justification.”  

Community Title Co. v. Roosevelt Federal Sav. and Loan Ass’n, 796 S.W.2d 369, 373 (Mo. 1990). 

Here, beyond plaintiff’s conclusory and unsupported allegations of wrongful conduct on the 

part of defendants, there are no facts supporting this claim.  There are no facts that any defendant 

wrongfully interfered with any of plaintiff’s alleged contracts or business expectancies.  There are no 

facts indicating in any way that defendants were unjustified in declining to provide trust account 

services.  The mere fact that plaintiff claims harm because of U.S. Bank’s legitimate business 

decision to decline services to plaintiff is not enough to support liability on the part of any defendant 

in this case.  Moreover, defendants cannot be sued for interfering in their own purported contract to 

provide trust accounts.  See Wigley v. Capital Bank, 887 S.W.2d 715, 720 (Mo. Ct. App. 1994). 
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Plaintiff’s interference claims also are not cognizable under Missouri law, as the party in 

contract with the plaintiff claiming tortious interference must have committed the breach or 

termination, not the party suing for tortious interference.  See Xavier v. Bumbarner & Hubbell 

Anesthesiologists, 923 S.W.2d 428 (Mo. App. 1996); Schlictig v. Reichel, 770 S.W.2d 493 (Mo. 

App. 1989); Birdsong v. Bydalek, 953 S.W.2d 103 (Mo. App. 1997) (“the party whose performance 

[under the contract] is prevented has a remedy other than a cause of action for tortious interference 

with the performance of the contract”) (emphasis added).  The first paragraph of the applicable 

Missouri verdict director requires the existence of a contract between the plaintiff and a third party, 

which was breached or terminated by the third party.  MAI 23.11.  “The term ‘third party’ means the 

one with whom plaintiff had a contract and the one who, at defendant’s request, breached or 

terminated the contract.”  MAI 23.11, n.2 (emphasis added).  In other words, plaintiff must show that 

its “individual representative candidates” breached their agreement with plaintiff, not the other way 

around.  Birdsong clearly shows that plaintiff in this case is not the “third party” who can make a 

tortious interference claim. 

2. Count XI:  Damages for Breach of Contract 

Plaintiff’s breach of contract claim is without merit.  The elements of a breach of contract 

claim are:  (1) an agreement between parties capable of contracting; (2) mutual obligations arising 

thereunder with respect to a definite subject matter; (3) a valid consideration; (4) part performance 

by one party and prevention of further performance by the other; and (5) damages measured by the 

contract and resulting from its breach.  Scher v. Sindel, 837 S.W.2d 350, 354 (Mo. App. E.D. 1992). 

The basis for plaintiff’s breach of contract claim is that plaintiff’s representative, Samuel 

Lipari (“Lipari”) spoke with Brian Kabbes of U.S. Bank about plaintiff’s desire for escrow accounts; 

that Kabbes e-mailed Lipari a contract; that Lipari and Kabbes agreed to lower the normal fees for 

escrow agent services (Complaint at ¶ 265); that on or about October 5, 2002, Kabbes indicated that 
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paragraph 10 of the agreement would need to be changed to create a security interest in the portion 

of an escrow account upon any part of it becoming plaintiff’s property; that plaintiff made these 

changes and e-mailed the revised document back to Kabbes for review (id. at ¶ 266); that on or about 

October 8, 2002, a U.S. Bank employee told Lipari that she had been told by Kabbes that the escrow 

accounts were a “slam dunk” (id. at ¶ 267); that on or about October 9, 2002, Kabbes again 

requested a change in the escrow contract and also indicated that there would be no more changes 

(id. at ¶ 268); that Kabbes also requested corporate good standing documentation from plaintiff; and 

that Kabbes “made no statement that U.S. Bank had yet to approve MSCI’s escrow accounts and 

sought no additional information.”  (Id. at ¶ 269.) 

Plaintiff identifies various terms of the alleged oral agreement as further evidence of a 

contract.  These include the escrow form, the name and address of Kabbes as escrow agent on the 

escrow forms, the price U.S. Bank would charge, and fund investment language.  (Id. at ¶ 266, 268.)  

Clearly, plaintiff’s allegations are insufficient to state a claim for breach of contract because no 

contract, oral or otherwise, was formed.  There is no allegation of a final document signed by both 

plaintiff and U.S. Bank. 

It is hornbook law that the existence of a valid and enforceable contract is dependent upon 

agreement of the parties, or meeting of the minds, upon the terms of that contract.  Smith v. 

Hammons, 63 S.W.3d 320, 325 (Mo. App. S.D. 2002).  As the Hammons court stated: 

“Negotiations or preliminary steps towards a contract do not constitute a contract.  
The existence of a contract necessitates a ‘meeting of the minds’ which the court 
determines by looking at the intention of the parties as expressed in their words or 
acts.  Whether a contract is made and, if so, what the terms of that contract are, 
depend upon what is actually said and done and not upon the understanding or 
supposition of one of the parties.” 

Id. (quoting Gateway Exteriors, Inc. v. Suntide Homes, Inc., 882 S.W.2d 275, 279 (Mo. App. 

E.D. 1994) (emphasis supplied).  Plaintiff and U.S. Bank were negotiating a potential written 
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contract which never came to fruition.  Obviously, had there been a meeting of the minds between 

the parties, the contract the parties were negotiating would have been executed.  Plaintiff’s 

supposition that an oral contract was formed based on the negotiation of the terms of a potential 

written agreement is insufficient to support its claim.  Hammons, 63 S.W.3d at 325. 

No reasonable person reviewing  the facts as set forth in plaintiff’s Complaint could conclude 

that a contract was formed between plaintiff and U.S. Bank or any other defendant.  Nowhere in the 

Complaint does plaintiff allege that any U.S. Bank representative, including Kabbes, stated or even 

implied that the escrow accounts had been approved by U.S. Bank.  It is clear that the changes 

allegedly suggested by Kabbes and agreed to by plaintiff were indicative of parties negotiating a 

potential contract.  Any assertion that a contract was formed based on a statement by a U.S. Bank 

employee that Kabbes told her the escrow accounts were a “slam dunk” is patently unreasonable.  

Such a statement, even if made, is insufficient to establish the existence of a contract.  Additionally, 

plaintiff never heard this from Kabbes, and by its own admission, continued to negotiate with 

Kabbes regarding the content of the proposed agreement the day after this statement was allegedly 

made.  (Id. at ¶¶ 268-69.) 

Plaintiff likewise cannot rely on its claim that Kabbes did not tell Lipari that U.S. Bank had 

yet to approve the escrow accounts.  In essence, plaintiff asserts that it had a legal right to assume 

that the accounts were approved and a contract was formed unless and until it was told otherwise.  

This position is untenable.  Plaintiff’s bare assertion of a contract, based on the allegations set forth 

in the Complaint, fails to sufficiently plead a claim for breach of contract.  Scher, 837 S.W.2d at 354.  

Accordingly, Count XI should be dismissed. 

3. Count XII:  Damages for Breach of Fiduciary Duty 

Plaintiff generally alleges that defendants owed it a “fiduciary duty” but fails to provide any 

factual basis for this particular allegation.  A claim for breach of fiduciary duty has four elements:  
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(1) the existence of a fiduciary relationship between the parties, (2) a breach of that fiduciary duty, 

(3) causation, and (4) harm.  Koger v. Hartford Life Ins. Co., 28 S.W.3d 405, 411 (Mo. Ct. App. 

2000).  A fiduciary is a person having a duty to “act primarily for the benefit of another in matters 

connected with his undertaking.”  See Restatement (Second) Agency  13 cmt. a (1957); Restatement 

(Second) of Trusts § 2 (1958).  While Missouri has not adopted a precise common-law definition, a 

“fiduciary relationship” may exist when “a special confidence [is] reposed in one who in equity and 

good conscience is bound to act in good faith, and with due regard to the interests of the one 

reposing the confidence.”  Vogel v. A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc., 801 S.W.2d 746, 751 (Mo. Ct. App. 

1990).  Plaintiff cannot, however, unilaterally foist a fiduciary duty upon a defendant in the absence 

of some agreement or conduct by the defendants to accept such a responsibility.  Arnold v. Erkmann, 

934 S.W.2d 621, 630 (Mo. Ct. App. 1996).  Nor does a business relationship give rise to a fiduciary 

relationship.  Kratky v. Musil, 969 S.W.2d 371, 377 (Mo. Ct. App. 1998). 

No fiduciary relationship between plaintiff and defendants ever existed.  Accordingly, 

Count XII should be dismissed. 

4. Count XIII:  Damages for Fraud and Deceit 

Count XIII of the Complaint purports to claim damages for fraud and deceit.  Plaintiff 

generally claims that all of the “acts, practices, misrepresentations, violations and other wrongs 

complained of” set forth in 553 separate paragraphs form its fraud claim.  (Complaint ¶ 555.)  This 

claim is utterly nonsensical and insufficient as a matter of Missouri law and pleading under the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, namely Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). 

The elements of fraudulent misrepresentation are:  (1) a false, material representation; (2) the 

speaker’s knowledge of its falsity or his ignorance of its truth; (3) the speaker’s intent that it should 

be acted upon by the hearer in the manner reasonably contemplated; (4) the hearer’s ignorance of the 

falsity of the statement; (5) the hearer’s reliance on its truth, and the right to rely thereon; and 
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(6) proximate injury.  Premium Financing Specialists, Inc. v. Hullin, 90 S.W.3d 110, 115 (Mo. App. 

W.D. 2002).  There must be more than mere suspicion, surmise and speculation.  Blanke v. 

Hendrickson, 944 S.W.2d 943, 944 (Mo. Ct. App. 1997). 

Plaintiff’s fraud claim delineated in Count XIII is legally insufficient.  Not only does it fail to 

provide the explicit detail contemplated in Fed. R. Civ. P. (9)(b), it also fails to plead sufficient facts 

under Missouri law.  For example, plaintiff nowhere alleges the precise misrepresentation(s) at issue.  

Plaintiff nowhere alleged in Count XIII that it relied on any misrepresentations or was ignorant of 

the supposed falsity.  Finally, plaintiff’s claim is nonsensical because it could not have been 

damaged by any alleged misrepresentation since the escrow accounts were never offered or provided 

to plaintiff in the first place.  There was no reversal on the part of U.S. Bank with respect to these 

services.  For these reasons, Count XIII should be dismissed. 

5. Count XIV:  Damages for Prima Facie Tort 

Count XIV of the plaintiff’s complaint should be dismissed for failure to plead each one of 

the required four elements of a prima facie tort.  Lohse v. St. Louis Children’s Hospital, Inc., 646 

S.W.2d 130, 131 (Mo. Ct. App. 1983).  The specific elements of a prima facie tort claim are:  (1) an 

intentional lawful act by the defendant; (2) an intent to cause injury to the plaintiff; (3) injury to the 

plaintiff; and (4) an absence of any justification or an insufficient justification for the defendant’s 

act.  Rice v. Hodapp, 919 S.W.2d 240 (Mo. 1996) (en banc).  Failure to plead a defendant committed 

an intentional lawful act is fatal to a claim for prima facie tort.  Bradley v. Ray, 904 S.W.2d 302 

(Mo. Ct. App. 1995). 

The thrust of a prima facie tort claim is the intentional undertaking of an otherwise lawful 

act, which is done with the intent to cause injury to the plaintiff, and which is without any 

recognized justification.  Here plaintiff failed to allege action by the defendants which is both 

intentional and lawful.  In fact, plaintiff specifically alleges the “acts and activities of defendants are 
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still unlawful and fraudulent.”  (Complaint ¶ 564) (emphasis added).)  For these reasons, Count XIV 

should be dismissed. 

D. Plaintiff Failed to Properly Serve the Defendants Under the Federal Rules of 
Civil Procedure. 

Plaintiff has failed to effect proper service on any of the defendants.  Plaintiff simply mailed 

each of the defendants a summons by registered mail, return receipt requested.  (See returns of 

service, attached hereto as Ex. G.)  However, none of the receipts were signed by any of the 

individual defendants or by an authorized agent of any corporate defendant.  Id. 

A plaintiff may, among other things, notify a defendant of the commencement of the action 

and request that the defendant waive service of the summons.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(2).  If the 

defendant returns the waiver, and the plaintiff files the waiver with the court, “the action shall 

proceed . . . as if a summons and complaint had been served at the time of filing the waiver.”  Id. at 

4(d)(4).  “However, if the defendant does not waive service, service has not been effected.”  Larsen 

v. Mayo Medical Center, 218 F.3d 863, 867-68 (8th Cir. 2000) (citing Gulley v. Mayo Found., 886 

F.2d 161, 165 (8th Cir. 1989) (“[T]he provisions of [Rule 4] are to be strictly complied 

with . . . therefore, if the acknowledgement form is not returned, the formal requirements of mail 

service are not met and personal service must be obtained.” (internal quotation marks omitted)); 

Alholm v. American Steamship Co., 144 F.3d 1172, 1176 (8th Cir. 1998) (noting mail service 

ineffective when acknowledgement form not returned).  Here, plaintiff has failed to seek or to obtain 

waivers of service and has simply mailed a summons to each of the defendants.  This is plainly 

insufficient to comply with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  Because none of the defendants 

waived service, and none of the defendants has filed or served a consent to mail service, the 

requirements for service by mail were not met and this action should be dismissed.  Larsen 218 F.3d 

at 868. 
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Further, even if plaintiff were to argue that service is proper on these defendants under 

Minnesota state law, because none of the defendants signed the return receipt (or for that matter, 

returned an acknowledgment of service to plaintiff, which was never requested or offered by plaintiff 

here), plaintiff has still failed to establish proper service.  Gulley, 886 F.2d at 165-66 (holding 

service by certified mail was ineffective for two reasons:  first, because someone other than 

defendant signed the green return receipt; and second, because the defendant never returned the 

acknowledgement of service form); see also Coons v. St. Paul Companies, 486 N.W.2d 771 (Minn. 

App. 1992). 

IV. PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS REFERENCING MAGISTRATE JAMES P. O’HARA AND 
THE LAW FIRM OF “SHUGHART, THOMSON KILROY WATKINS BOULWARE, 
P.C.” SHOULD BE STRICKEN. 

Plaintiff’s claims regarding or referencing Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the law firm of 

“Shughart, Thomson Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.”, are immaterial, impertinent and scandalous 

within the meaning of Rule 12(f).  Plaintiff makes these allegations solely in an attempt to embarrass 

and vilify the Magistrate and the law firm engaged to represent these defendants.  

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f) provides “[u]pon motion made by a party before responding to a pleading . . . or 

upon the court’s own initiative at any time, the court may order stricken from any pleading any 

insufficient defense or any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter.”  The court is 

afforded broad discretion in ruling on a motion to strike.  See Nationwide Ins. Co. v. Cent. Mo. Elec. 

Co-op., 278 F.3d 742, 748 (8th Cir. 2001) (“[A] district court enjoys liberal discretion under 

Rule 12(f).”); Stanbury Law Firm v. I.R.S., 221 F.3d 1059, 1063 (8th Cir. 2000) (“Because 

Rule 12(f) is stated in the permissive, however, it has always been understood that the district court 

enjoys liberal discretion thereunder.”). 

This Court should exercise its discretion and specifically strike paragraphs 399-418, 443, 

490, 491, 512, 540, 548, 549, 578-583, 585 and 613 of plaintiff’s Complaint as these allegations are 
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immaterial to the claims, add nothing to the Complaint and were included solely for a malevolent 

purpose.  Each of the allegations asserted against Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the law firm of 

“Shughart, Thomson Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.”, is immaterial, impertinent and scandalous 

under Rule 12(f) and should therefore be stricken by this Court.  Young v. Dunlap, 223 F.R.D. 520, 

521-22 (E.D. Mo. 2004); Fletcher v. Conoco Pipe Line Co., 129 F. Supp.2d 1255, 1258 (W.D. Mo. 

2001).4 

V. CONCLUSION 

Defendants request that the Court enter its Order dismissing the plaintiff’s Complaint, to 

strike plaintiff’s allegations concerning Federal Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the law firm of 

“Shughart, Thomson Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.” under Rule 12(f), and/or to transfer plaintiff’s 

Complaint and causes of action to the United States District Court for the District of Kansas. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF #38572 
JONATHAN H. GREGOR #50443 
LOGAN W. OVERMAN #55002 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
120 W 12th Street, Suite 1700 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 

                                                 
4 It is apparent from even a cursory review of the Complaint that the law firm and Magistrate 

O’Hara had no involvement with anything touching upon plaintiff’s claim until the law firm was 
engaged to provide representation of certain defendants in the Kansas District Court case.  
Magistrate O’Hara’s first involvement with plaintiff apparently was with a subsequent suit that 
plaintiff filed.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. General Electric Co., et al., Case No. 03-2324-CM 
(Ex. C). 
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ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY 
COMPANIES, JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, 
ANDREW CESARE AND ANDREW S. 
DUFF 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing document was filed electronically 
with the above-captioned court, with notice of case activity to be generated and sent electronically 
by the Clerk of said court (with a copy to be mailed to any individuals who do not receive electronic 
notice from the Clerk) this 4th day of April, 2005, to: 
 
Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
#G33 
2961 SW Central Park 
Topeka, KS  66611 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
John K. Power, Esq. 
Husch & Eppenberger, LLC 
1700 One Kansas City Place 
1200 Main Street 
Kansas City, MO  64105-2122 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq. 
Natausha Wilson, Esq. 
Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott 
34th Floor 
50 California Street 
San Francisco, CA  94111 
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq. 
Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq. 
Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. 
2300 First City Tower 
1001 Fannin 
Houston, TX  77002 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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1688556 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05-CV-0210-CV-ODS 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendant.  ) 
 

ANSWER AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES OF 
INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER 

Individual defendant Jerry A. Grundhofer, by and through his attorneys and for his answer 

and affirmative defenses in this case, states and alleges as follows: 

Defendant has answered and responded to the Complaint to the best of his ability with 

respect to those allegations that are reasonably capable of an answer consisting of a simple admit, 

deny or denied because defendant is without sufficient knowledge or information to form a belief 

whether to admit or deny the allegations in the paragraph.  However, rather than a short and plain 

statement of the case as required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2) and 8(e)(1), this Complaint is confusing, 

argumentative and prolix.  To that extent and because of it, defendant has denied certain especially 

lengthy, complex and confusing paragraphs in toto.  In addition, all of the claims of plaintiff are 

deficient by reason of the strict pleading required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) or the causes of action fail 

to state claims upon which relief may be granted as a matter of law and fact under 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). 

1. Defendant admits only that plaintiff’s Complaint seeks the relief outlined in 

paragraph 1 of the Complaint and denies all other statements, conclusions and assertions in 

paragraph 1. 
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2. In answer to paragraphs 1-6 of the plaintiff’s Complaint, although denying the merits 

of plaintiff’s claims and causes of action, defendant admits only that the Complaint raises issues and 

asserts claims under federal statutes thus providing subject matter jurisdiction in the federal courts, 

but defendant denies all other conclusions of law and averments in paragraphs 1-6 of plaintiff’s 

Complaint. 

3. Defendant denies the conclusions of law and averments in paragraphs 7-9 of 

plaintiff’s Complaint. 

FACTS 

4. In answer to paragraphs 10-17, defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information 

to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in paragraphs 10-17 of the 

plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

5. Defendant admits the allegations in paragraph 18 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

6. In answer to paragraph 19 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits that U.S. Bank 

National Association is a national bank subject to the National Bank Act with its headquarters 

located in Minneapolis, Minnesota, but denies all other allegations in paragraph 19 of the Complaint. 

7. Defendant admits the allegations in paragraph 20 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

8. In answer to paragraph 21 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits the allegation 

that Andrew Cesare is not a citizen of Missouri and admits that he has an office at 800 Nicollet Mall, 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402, but denies the remaining allegations in paragraph 21 of the 

Complaint. 

9. Defendant admits that Piper Jaffray Companies, NYSE symbol PJC, is a company 

located at 800 Nicollet Mall in Minneapolis, Minnesota but denies the remaining allegations in 

paragraph 22 of the Complaint. 

10. Defendant admits the allegations in paragraph 23 of the Complaint. 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume XVIII  7146



 3 
1688556 

11. In answer to paragraph 24 of the Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient knowledge 

and information to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in 

paragraph 24 of the Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

12. In answer to paragraphs 25-32, defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information 

to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in paragraphs 25-32 of the 

Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

13. In answer to paragraphs 33-41 of the plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in 

paragraphs 33-41 of the Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

14. In answer to paragraphs 42-46 of the plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in 

paragraphs 42-46 of the Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

15. In answer to paragraphs 47-52 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 47-52 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

16. In answer to paragraphs 53-58 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant state they lacks 

sufficient information or knowledge in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny 

the allegations in paragraphs 53-58 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

17. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 59-68 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

18. In answer to paragraphs 69-75 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 69-75 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

19. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 76-84 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 
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20. In answer to paragraphs 85-89 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 85-89 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

21. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 90-94 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

22. In answer to paragraphs 95-100 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 95-100 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

23. In answer to paragraphs 101-108 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits that 

plaintiff previously filed a lawsuit styled Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, et al., Case 

No. 02-2539, in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas, that the Complaint sought 

a temporary restraining order and other relief, that the temporary restraining order was denied, that 

interlocutory appeal of the denial of injunctive relief was denied, that the prior action was dismissed 

by the District Court and dismissal affirmed on appeal by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, that 

Medical Supply’s counsel was ordered to pay sanctions for a frivolous appeal and that the Tenth 

Circuit refused to hear the case on rehearing.  In all other respects, defendant denies the remaining 

allegations in paragraphs 101-108 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

24. In answer to paragraphs 109-151 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 109-151 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

25. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraph 152 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

26. In answer to paragraphs 153-159 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 153-159 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 
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27. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 160 and 161 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

28. In answer to paragraphs 162-193 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 162-193 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

29. In answer to paragraph 194 of plaintiff’s Complaint, to the extent the term 

“defendant” includes this answering defendant, the allegations are denied; to the extent the term 

“defendant” includes other parties, then this defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information in 

order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in paragraph 194 of 

plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

30. In answer to paragraphs 195-210 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 195-210 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

31. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 211-214 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

32. In answer to paragraphs 215-234 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 215-234 and, therefore, denies the same. 

33. In answer to paragraph 235 of plaintiff’s Complaint, to the extent the term 

“defendant” refers to this answering defendant, the allegations are denied.  To the extent the term 

“defendant” includes other parties, then this answering defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or 

information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in 

paragraph 235 of the Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 
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34. In answer to paragraphs 236-323 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

35. In answer to paragraphs 324-329 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits that 

plaintiff sought preliminary injunctive relief which was denied, that plaintiff filed a notice of 

interlocutory appeal which was denied, that the Kansas District Court dismissed plaintiff’s prior 

action, that plaintiff’s “motion for new trial” was denied and that the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals 

dismissed the interlocutory appeal as moot, but defendant denies all other legal conclusions and 

averments in paragraphs 324-329 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

36. In answer to paragraphs 330-336 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits that Piper 

Jaffray began operating as an independent public company on and after January 1, 2004 and that 

US Bancorp announced prior to January 1, 2004 that Piper Jaffray would begin independent 

operations, but defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a 

belief whether to admit or deny the remaining allegations in paragraphs 330-336 of plaintiff’s 

Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

37. In answer to paragraphs 337-369 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 337-369 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

38. In answer to paragraphs 370-374 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 370-374 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 
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39. In answer to paragraphs 375-403 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in 

paragraphs 375-403 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

40. In answer to paragraph 404 of plaintiff’s Complaint, to the extent the Complaint 

refers to alleged actions or omissions on the part of US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, 

Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare, Piper Jaffray Companies and/or Andrew S. Duff, the 

allegations are denied; defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information in order to permit him to 

form a belief whether to admit or deny the remaining allegations in paragraph 404 of plaintiff’s 

Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

41. Defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a 

belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in paragraph 405 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, 

therefore, denies the same. 

42. In answer to paragraph 406 of plaintiff’s Complaint, to the extent defendant 

US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare, Piper Jaffray 

Companies and/or Andrew S. Duff are alleged to have acted or omitted to act, the allegations are 

denied.  In all other respects, the answering defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information in 

order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the remaining allegations in 

paragraph 406 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

43. In answer to paragraphs 407-422 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations and, therefore, denies the same. 

44. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 423-425 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume XVIII  7151



 8 
1688556 

45. In answer to paragraph 426 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits that plaintiff’s 

prior claims against this defendant, Andrew Cesare, US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, 

Piper Jaffray Companies and others were dismissed, but defendant denies all other and remaining 

allegations and claims in paragraph 426 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

46. In answer to paragraphs 427-429 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 427-429 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

47. Defendant denies the allegation in paragraph 430 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

48. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 431-434 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT I 
DAMAGES FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY AND 

RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 

49. In answer to paragraph 435 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-434 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

50. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 436-469 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT II 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY AND 

RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 

51. In answer to paragraph 470 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to plaintiff’s allegations in paragraphs 1-469 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated 

herein. 

52. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 471-473 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 
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COUNT III 
DAMAGES FOR MONOPOLIZATION 

53. In answer to paragraph 474 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-473 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

54. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 475-495 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT IV 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR MONOPOLIZATION 

55. In answer to paragraph 496 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-495 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

56. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 497-498 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT V 
DAMAGES FOR INTERLOCKING DIRECTORS 

57. In answer to paragraph 499 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-498 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

58. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 500-504 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT VI 
DAMAGES FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY AND 

RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 

59. In answer to paragraph 505 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-504 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

60. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 506-515 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT VII 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY AND 

RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 

61. In answer to paragraph 516 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-515 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

62. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 517-520 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 
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COUNT VIII 
DAMAGES FOR MONOPOLIZATION 

63. In answer to paragraph 521 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-520 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

64. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 522-525 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT IX 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR MONOPOLIZATION 

65. In answer to paragraph 526 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-525 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

66. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 527-528 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT X 
DAMAGES FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH 

CONTRACT OR BUSINESS EXPECTANCY 

67. In answer to paragraph 529 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-528 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

68. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 530-537 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT XI 
DAMAGES FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT 

69. In answer to paragraph 538 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-537 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

70. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 539-543 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT XII 
DAMAGES FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY 

71. In answer to paragraph 544 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-543 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

72. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 545-553 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 
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COUNT XIII 
DAMAGES FOR FRAUD AND DECEIT 

73. In answer to paragraph 554 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-553 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

74. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 555-562 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT XIV 
DAMAGES FOR PRIMA FACIE TORT 

75. In answer to paragraph 563 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-562 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

76. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 564-571 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT XV 
DAMAGES FOR RACKETEERING INFLUENCED 
CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS (RICO) CONDUCT 

77. In answer to paragraph 572 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-571 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

78. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 573-592 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT XVI 
DAMAGES FOR MALICIOUS FILING OF A SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY REPORT (SAR) 

UNDER THE USA PATRIOT ACT 

79. In answer to paragraph 593 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-592 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

80. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 594-612 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

TOLLING OF APPLICABLE STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS 

81. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraph 613 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

82. Defendant denies all other allegations, claims and causes of action asserted in 

plaintiff’s Complaint not otherwise admitted herein. 

83. Defendant denies the plaintiff’s allegations in its prayer for relief. 
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84. Defendant denies the allegations in plaintiff’s conclusion. 

WHEREFORE, having fully answered plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant Jerry A. Grundhofer 

prays for judgment in his favor and against plaintiff, for his costs and attorneys’ fees incurred herein 

and for such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

1. Plaintiff’s claims are barred for the reason that this Court lacks personal jurisdiction 

over this defendant. 

2. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by reason of insufficiency of service of process. 

3. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by reason of the failure to state a claim upon which relief 

may be granted. 

4. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by reason of prior orders and judgments of the Kansas 

District Court which have been affirmed by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals and, thus, constitute 

res judicata and/or collateral estoppel. 

5. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the applicable statutes of limitation. 

6. Plaintiff’s claims are barred in whole or in part by reason of lack of standing. 

7. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by reason of the failure or lacks of consideration. 

8. This Court is not the appropriate venue for the claims in light of the prior action that 

remains pending in the District of Kansas. 

9. It is denied there was any contract between plaintiff and any defendant in relation to 

the allegations in the Complaint.  In the alternative, however, any such alleged contract would be 

unenforceable to the extent it is barred by the statute of frauds. 

10. It is denied there was any contract between plaintiff and any defendant in relation to 

the allegations in the Complaint.  In the alternative, however, plaintiff’s recovery for any alleged 
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breach of contract would be barred or reduced by virtue of the failure of a condition precedent, lacks 

or failure of consideration, and/or indefinite terms of the alleged agreement. 

11. Defendant assert their right to recover attorneys’ fees from plaintiff pursuant to 

applicable Court Rules, federal statutes and Orders, including but not limited to Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 

and 28 U.S.C. § 1927. 

12. Plaintiff’s claims for fraud are deficient and barred by reason of the failure to comply 

with Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). 

13. The individual defendant were at all times acting properly and on behalf of their 

employers, who were known to plaintiff, and were therefore acting as agents of fully disclosed 

principals against whom relief cannot be sought individually. 

14. Plaintiff has failed to establish a right to any injunctive relief, and the relief requested 

by plaintiff is not in accordance with the requirements for injunctive relief. 

15. The valid business decision not to provide the alleged escrow account(s) to plaintiff 

was reasonable and is thereby protected from plaintiff’s claims. 

16. Plaintiff’s claims under the antitrust laws are barred in whole or in part by the 

Copperweld doctrine. 

17. Plaintiff’s claims are barred in whole or in part by reason of the absence of intention 

to restrain trade, to create or conduct a monopoly, or injury to competition. 

18. Plaintiff’s claims are barred in whole or in part by reason of the absence of antitrust 

injury. 

19. Plaintiff’s claims are barred because of the absence of allegation concerning relevant 

markets in which all defendant and plaintiff engage or sought to engage. 
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20. Plaintiff’s claims are barred in whole or in part by reason of the lacks of damages.  

Alternatively, plaintiff’s claims for damages are speculative and conjectural. 

21. Plaintiff’s claims are barred for the reason defendant’ actions were factually and 

legally justified and/or privileged. 

22. Plaintiff’s claims are barred in whole or in part by plaintiff’s failure to mitigate 

damages. 

23. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the equitable doctrines of waiver, estoppel and/or 

ratification. 

24. Plaintiff’s claims or any intended claims for punitive damages are barred or otherwise 

constrained by the United States and/or Kansas and/or Missouri constitutions, statutes and case law. 

25. Plaintiff’s claims for punitive damages must require strict proof and clear and 

convincing evidence which is absent from this case. 

26. Defendant reserve the right to assert additional defenses as may be revealed in 

discovery or as justice may require. 

JURY DEMAND 

Defendant demands a jury trial. 
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Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF #38572 
JONATHAN H. GREGOR #50443 
LOGAN W. OVERMAN #55002 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
 
ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
Corporate Woods 
Suite 1100, Building #32 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
(913) 451-3355 
(913) 451-3361 (FAX) 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing document was filed electronically 
with the above-captioned court, with notice of case activity to be generated and sent electronically 
by the Clerk of said court (with a copy to be mailed to any individuals who do not receive electronic 
notice from the Clerk) this 4th day of April, 2005, to: 

Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
#G33 
2961 SW Central Park 
Topeka, KS  66611 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
John K. Power, Esq. 
Husch & Eppenberger, LLC 
1700 One Kansas City Place 
1200 Main Street 
Kansas City, MO  64105-2122 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq. 
Natausha Wilson, Esq. 
Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott 
34th Floor 
50 California Street 
San Francisco, CA  94111 
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq. 
Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq. 
Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. 
2300 First City Tower 
1001 Fannin 
Houston, TX  77002 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendant 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05-CV-0210-CV-ODS 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendant.  ) 
 

ANSWER AND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES OF 
INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT ANDREW CESARE 

Individual defendant Andrew Cesare, by and through his attorneys and for his answer and 

affirmative defenses in this case, states and alleges as follows: 

Defendant has answered and responded to the Complaint to the best of his ability with 

respect to those allegations that are reasonably capable of an answer consisting of a simple admit, 

deny or denied because defendant is without sufficient knowledge or information to form a belief 

whether to admit or deny the allegations in the paragraph.  However, rather than a short and plain 

statement of the case as required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2) and 8(e)(1), this Complaint is confusing, 

argumentative and prolix.  To that extent and because of it, defendant has denied certain especially 

lengthy, complex and confusing paragraphs in toto.  In addition, all of the claims of plaintiff are 

deficient by reason of the strict pleading required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) or the causes of action fail 

to state claims upon which relief may be granted as a matter of law and fact under 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). 

1. Defendant admits only that plaintiff’s Complaint seeks the relief outlined in 

paragraph 1 of the Complaint and denies all other statements, conclusions and assertions in 

paragraph 1. 
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2. In answer to paragraphs 1-6 of the plaintiff’s Complaint, although denying the merits 

of plaintiff’s claims and causes of action, defendant admits only that the Complaint raises issues and 

asserts claims under federal statutes thus providing subject matter jurisdiction in the federal courts, 

but defendant denies all other conclusions of law and averments in paragraphs 1-6 of plaintiff’s 

Complaint. 

3. Defendant denies the conclusions of law and averments in paragraphs 7-9 of 

plaintiff’s Complaint. 

FACTS 

4. In answer to paragraphs 10-17, defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information 

to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in paragraphs 10-17 of the 

plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

5. Defendant admits the allegations in paragraph 18 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

6. In answer to paragraph 19 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits that U.S. Bank 

National Association is a national bank subject to the National Bank Act with its headquarters 

located in Minneapolis, Minnesota, but denies all other allegations in paragraph 19 of the Complaint. 

7. Defendant admits the allegations in paragraph 20 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

8. In answer to paragraph 21 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits the allegation 

that Andrew Cesare is not a citizen of Missouri and admits that he has an office at 800 Nicollet Mall, 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402, but denies the remaining allegations in paragraph 21 of the 

Complaint. 

9. Defendant admits that Piper Jaffray Companies, NYSE symbol PJC, is a company 

located at 800 Nicollet Mall in Minneapolis, Minnesota but denies the remaining allegations in 

paragraph 22 of the Complaint. 

10. Defendant admits the allegations in paragraph 23 of the Complaint. 
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11. In answer to paragraph 24 of the Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient knowledge 

and information to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in 

paragraph 24 of the Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

12. In answer to paragraphs 25-32, defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information 

to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in paragraphs 25-32 of the 

Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

13. In answer to paragraphs 33-41 of the plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in 

paragraphs 33-41 of the Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

14. In answer to paragraphs 42-46 of the plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in 

paragraphs 42-46 of the Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

15. In answer to paragraphs 47-52 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 47-52 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

16. In answer to paragraphs 53-58 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant state they lacks 

sufficient information or knowledge in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny 

the allegations in paragraphs 53-58 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

17. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 59-68 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

18. In answer to paragraphs 69-75 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 69-75 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

19. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 76-84 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 
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20. In answer to paragraphs 85-89 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 85-89 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

21. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 90-94 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

22. In answer to paragraphs 95-100 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 95-100 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

23. In answer to paragraphs 101-108 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits that 

plaintiff previously filed a lawsuit styled Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, et al., Case 

No. 02-2539, in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas, that the Complaint sought 

a temporary restraining order and other relief, that the temporary restraining order was denied, that 

interlocutory appeal of the denial of injunctive relief was denied, that the prior action was dismissed 

by the District Court and dismissal affirmed on appeal by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals, that 

Medical Supply’s counsel was ordered to pay sanctions for a frivolous appeal and that the Tenth 

Circuit refused to hear the case on rehearing.  In all other respects, defendant denies the remaining 

allegations in paragraphs 101-108 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

24. In answer to paragraphs 109-151 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 109-151 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

25. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraph 152 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

26. In answer to paragraphs 153-159 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 153-159 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 
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27. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 160 and 161 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

28. In answer to paragraphs 162-193 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 162-193 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

29. In answer to paragraph 194 of plaintiff’s Complaint, to the extent the term 

“defendant” includes this answering defendant, the allegations are denied; to the extent the term 

“defendant” includes other parties, then this defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information in 

order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in paragraph 194 of 

plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

30. In answer to paragraphs 195-210 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 195-210 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

31. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 211-214 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

32. In answer to paragraphs 215-234 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 215-234 and, therefore, denies the same. 

33. In answer to paragraph 235 of plaintiff’s Complaint, to the extent the term 

“defendant” refers to this answering defendant, the allegations are denied.  To the extent the term 

“defendant” includes other parties, then this answering defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or 

information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in 

paragraph 235 of the Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 
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34. In answer to paragraphs 236-323 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

35. In answer to paragraphs 324-329 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits that 

plaintiff sought preliminary injunctive relief which was denied, that plaintiff filed a notice of 

interlocutory appeal which was denied, that the Kansas District Court dismissed plaintiff’s prior 

action, that plaintiff’s “motion for new trial” was denied and that the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals 

dismissed the interlocutory appeal as moot, but defendant denies all other legal conclusions and 

averments in paragraphs 324-329 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

36. In answer to paragraphs 330-336 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits that Piper 

Jaffray began operating as an independent public company on and after January 1, 2004 and that 

US Bancorp announced prior to January 1, 2004 that Piper Jaffray would begin independent 

operations, but defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a 

belief whether to admit or deny the remaining allegations in paragraphs 330-336 of plaintiff’s 

Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

37. In answer to paragraphs 337-369 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 337-369 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

38. In answer to paragraphs 370-374 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 370-374 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 
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39. In answer to paragraphs 375-403 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in 

paragraphs 375-403 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

40. In answer to paragraph 404 of plaintiff’s Complaint, to the extent the Complaint 

refers to alleged actions or omissions on the part of US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, 

Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare, Piper Jaffray Companies and/or Andrew S. Duff, the 

allegations are denied; defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information in order to permit him to 

form a belief whether to admit or deny the remaining allegations in paragraph 404 of plaintiff’s 

Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

41. Defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a 

belief whether to admit or deny the allegations in paragraph 405 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, 

therefore, denies the same. 

42. In answer to paragraph 406 of plaintiff’s Complaint, to the extent defendant 

US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare, Piper Jaffray 

Companies and/or Andrew S. Duff are alleged to have acted or omitted to act, the allegations are 

denied.  In all other respects, the answering defendant lacks sufficient knowledge or information in 

order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the remaining allegations in 

paragraph 406 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

43. In answer to paragraphs 407-422 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations and, therefore, denies the same. 

44. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 423-425 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 
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45. In answer to paragraph 426 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant admits that plaintiff’s 

prior claims against this defendant, Jerry A. Grundhofer, US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National 

Association, Piper Jaffray Companies and others were dismissed, but defendant denies all other and 

remaining allegations and claims in paragraph 426 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

46. In answer to paragraphs 427-429 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant lacks sufficient 

knowledge or information in order to permit him to form a belief whether to admit or deny the 

allegations in paragraphs 427-429 of plaintiff’s Complaint and, therefore, denies the same. 

47. Defendant denies the allegation in paragraph 430 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

48. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 431-434 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT I 
DAMAGES FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY AND 

RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 

49. In answer to paragraph 435 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-434 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

50. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 436-469 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT II 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY AND 

RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 

51. In answer to paragraph 470 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to plaintiff’s allegations in paragraphs 1-469 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated 

herein. 

52. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 471-473 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 
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COUNT III 
DAMAGES FOR MONOPOLIZATION 

53. In answer to paragraph 474 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-473 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

54. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 475-495 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT IV 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR MONOPOLIZATION 

55. In answer to paragraph 496 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-495 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

56. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 497-498 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT V 
DAMAGES FOR INTERLOCKING DIRECTORS 

57. In answer to paragraph 499 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-498 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

58. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 500-504 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT VI 
DAMAGES FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY AND 

RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 

59. In answer to paragraph 505 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-504 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

60. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 506-515 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT VII 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR COMBINATION AND CONSPIRACY AND 

RESTRAINT OF TRADE OR COMMERCE 

61. In answer to paragraph 516 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-515 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

62. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 517-520 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 
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COUNT VIII 
DAMAGES FOR MONOPOLIZATION 

63. In answer to paragraph 521 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-520 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

64. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 522-525 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT IX 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR MONOPOLIZATION 

65. In answer to paragraph 526 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-525 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

66. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 527-528 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT X 
DAMAGES FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH 

CONTRACT OR BUSINESS EXPECTANCY 

67. In answer to paragraph 529 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-528 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

68. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 530-537 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT XI 
DAMAGES FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT 

69. In answer to paragraph 538 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-537 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

70. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 539-543 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT XII 
DAMAGES FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY 

71. In answer to paragraph 544 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-543 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

72. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 545-553 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 
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COUNT XIII 
DAMAGES FOR FRAUD AND DECEIT 

73. In answer to paragraph 554 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-553 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

74. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 555-562 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT XIV 
DAMAGES FOR PRIMA FACIE TORT 

75. In answer to paragraph 563 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-562 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

76. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 564-571 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT XV 
DAMAGES FOR RACKETEERING INFLUENCED 
CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS (RICO) CONDUCT 

77. In answer to paragraph 572 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-571 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

78. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 573-592 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

COUNT XVI 
DAMAGES FOR MALICIOUS FILING OF A SUSPICIOUS ACTIVITY REPORT (SAR) 

UNDER THE USA PATRIOT ACT 

79. In answer to paragraph 593 of plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant incorporates his 

responses to paragraphs 1-592 of plaintiff’s Complaint as if fully stated herein. 

80. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraphs 594-612 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

TOLLING OF APPLICABLE STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS 

81. Defendant denies the allegations in paragraph 613 of plaintiff’s Complaint. 

82. Defendant denies all other allegations, claims and causes of action asserted in 

plaintiff’s Complaint not otherwise admitted herein. 

83. Defendant denies the plaintiff’s allegations in its prayer for relief. 
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84. Defendant denies the allegations in plaintiff’s conclusion. 

WHEREFORE, having fully answered plaintiff’s Complaint, defendant Andrew Cesare 

prays for judgment in his favor and against plaintiff, for his costs and attorneys’ fees incurred herein 

and for such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

1. Plaintiff’s claims are barred for the reason that this Court lacks personal jurisdiction 

over this defendant. 

2. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by reason of insufficiency of service of process. 

3. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by reason of the failure to state a claim upon which relief 

may be granted. 

4. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by reason of prior orders and judgments of the Kansas 

District Court which have been affirmed by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals and, thus, constitute 

res judicata and/or collateral estoppel. 

5. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the applicable statutes of limitation. 

6. Plaintiff’s claims are barred in whole or in part by reason of lack of standing. 

7. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by reason of the failure or lacks of consideration. 

8. This Court is not the appropriate venue for the claims in light of the prior action that 

remains pending in the District of Kansas. 

9. It is denied there was any contract between plaintiff and any defendant in relation to 

the allegations in the Complaint.  In the alternative, however, any such alleged contract would be 

unenforceable to the extent it is barred by the statute of frauds. 

10. It is denied there was any contract between plaintiff and any defendant in relation to 

the allegations in the Complaint.  In the alternative, however, plaintiff’s recovery for any alleged 
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breach of contract would be barred or reduced by virtue of the failure of a condition precedent, lacks 

or failure of consideration, and/or indefinite terms of the alleged agreement. 

11. Defendant assert their right to recover attorneys’ fees from plaintiff pursuant to 

applicable Court Rules, federal statutes and Orders, including but not limited to Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 

and 28 U.S.C. § 1927. 

12. Plaintiff’s claims for fraud are deficient and barred by reason of the failure to comply 

with Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). 

13. The individual defendant were at all times acting properly and on behalf of their 

employers, who were known to plaintiff, and were therefore acting as agents of fully disclosed 

principals against whom relief cannot be sought individually. 

14. Plaintiff has failed to establish a right to any injunctive relief, and the relief requested 

by plaintiff is not in accordance with the requirements for injunctive relief. 

15. The valid business decision not to provide the alleged escrow account(s) to plaintiff 

was reasonable and is thereby protected from plaintiff’s claims. 

16. Plaintiff’s claims under the antitrust laws are barred in whole or in part by the 

Copperweld doctrine. 

17. Plaintiff’s claims are barred in whole or in part by reason of the absence of intention 

to restrain trade, to create or conduct a monopoly, or injury to competition. 

18. Plaintiff’s claims are barred in whole or in part by reason of the absence of antitrust 

injury. 

19. Plaintiff’s claims are barred because of the absence of allegation concerning relevant 

markets in which all defendant and plaintiff engage or sought to engage. 
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20. Plaintiff’s claims are barred in whole or in part by reason of the lacks of damages.  

Alternatively, plaintiff’s claims for damages are speculative and conjectural. 

21. Plaintiff’s claims are barred for the reason defendant’ actions were factually and 

legally justified and/or privileged. 

22. Plaintiff’s claims are barred in whole or in part by plaintiff’s failure to mitigate 

damages. 

23. Plaintiff’s claims are barred by the equitable doctrines of waiver, estoppel and/or 

ratification. 

24. Plaintiff’s claims or any intended claims for punitive damages are barred or otherwise 

constrained by the United States and/or Kansas and/or Missouri constitutions, statutes and case law. 

25. Plaintiff’s claims for punitive damages must require strict proof and clear and 

convincing evidence which is absent from this case. 

26. Defendant reserve the right to assert additional defenses as may be revealed in 

discovery or as justice may require. 

JURY DEMAND 

Defendant demands a jury trial. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF #38572 
JONATHAN H. GREGOR #50443 
LOGAN W. OVERMAN #55002 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
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ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
Corporate Woods 
Suite 1100, Building #32 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
(913) 451-3355 
(913) 451-3361 (FAX) 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT 
ANDREW CESARE 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing document was filed electronically 
with the above-captioned court, with notice of case activity to be generated and sent electronically 
by the Clerk of said court (with a copy to be mailed to any individuals who do not receive electronic 
notice from the Clerk) this 4th day of April, 2005, to: 

Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
#G33 
2961 SW Central Park 
Topeka, KS  66611 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
John K. Power, Esq. 
Husch & Eppenberger, LLC 
1700 One Kansas City Place 
1200 Main Street 
Kansas City, MO  64105-2122 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq. 
Natausha Wilson, Esq. 
Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott 
34th Floor 
50 California Street 
San Francisco, CA  94111 
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq. 
Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq. 
Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. 
2300 First City Tower 
1001 Fannin 
Houston, TX  77002 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendant 
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